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Reader’s Guide 
Autoliv Inc. is incorporated in Delaware, USA, and follows 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States 
(U.S. GAAP). This annual report also contains certain non-U.S. 
GAAP measures, see page 38 and page 49. All amounts in this 
annual report are in U.S. dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

“We”, “the Company” and “Autoliv” refer to “Autoliv Inc.” 
as defined in Note 1 “Principles of Consolidation” on page 56. 
For forward-looking information, refer to the “Safe Harbor 
Statement” on page 45. 

Data on markets and competitors are Autoliv´s estimates 
(unless otherwise indicated). The estimates are based on or-
ders awarded to us or our competitors or other information 
put out by third parties as well as plans announced by vehicle 
manufacturers and regulatory agencies.

Financial Information
Every year, Autoliv publishes an annual report and a proxy 
statement prior to the Annual General Meeting of sharehold-
ers, see page 32. 

The proxy statement provides information not only on the 
agenda for the meeting, but also on the work of the Board 
and its committees as well as on compensation paid to and 
presentation of directors and certain senior executive officers. 

For financial information, please also refer to the Form 
10-K and Form 10-Q reports and Autoliv’s other filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the New 
York Stock Exchange (NYSE). These filings (including the CEO/
CFO Section 302 Certifications, Section 16 Insider Filings, 
and the 2010 CEO Certification to the NYSE) are available at 
www.autoliv.com under Investors/Filings and at www.sec.gov. 

The annual and quarterly reports, the proxy statement and 
Autoliv’s filings with the SEC as well as the Company’s Cor-
porate Governance Guidelines, Charters, Codes of Ethics and 
other documents governing the Company can be downloaded 
from the Company’s corporate website. Hard copies of the 
above-mentioned documents can be obtained free of charge 
from the Company at the addresses on page 84. 
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2010 in Summary

Consolidated sales rose by 40% in 2010 to a 
new record high of $7.171 million and 
organic sales (non U.S. GAAP see page 38) 
rose by 31% compared to a 25% increase in 
global light vehicle production (LVP). Since 
2006 Autoliv’s sales have increased by 16% 
while global LVP has increased by 10%.

Operations generated $924 million in 
cash, $143 million more than in the 
previously best year 2007. After capital 
expenditures net of $224 million, free cash 
flow (non U.S. GAAP, see definition on 
page 79) amounted to $700 million, which 
was $233 million more than in 2007.

Operating margin improved by 11 percent-
age points to 12.1% in 2010, which was 2 
percentage points higher than the previous 
record from 1997 (on a comparable basis). 
Operating income improved by $800 million 
to $869 million which was 67% higher than 
the previous record from 2006. 

(Dollars in millions, except as indicated) 2008 2009 2010 Highest ever

Net sales $6,473 $5,121 $7,171 √
Gross profit 1,124 848 1,592 √
Operating income 306 69 869 √
Income before taxes 249 6 806 √
Net income1) 165 10 591 √
Earnings per share in $ 2.28 0.12 6.39 √
Gross margin (%) 17.4 16.6 22.2 √
Operating margin (%) 4.7 1.3 12.1 √
Cash flow from operations 614 493 924 √
Return on total equity (%) 7.3 0.5 22.3 √

1) Attributed to controlling interest.

Summary / autoliv 2010
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2010 was a record year for autoliv. Our company sur-
passed several previous records, such as:

•	 6% higher sales than 2007 

•	 31% higher earnings per share than 2006

•	 18% higher operating cash flow than 2007

•	 12% operating margin compared to 10% in 1997

These records reflect our swift restructuring efforts, which 
significantly reduced our Company’s cost base and helped 
transform our Company's global footprint to take advantage 
of the dramatic shift that global light vehicle production (LVP) 
has undergone since 2007.

Shifts in Global LVP
In 2010, the global LVP rebounded from its precipitous drop to 
an annualized run rate of only 45 million at the low point of the 
crisis and reached a record high of nearly 72 million vehicles. 

While the 2010 LVP level exceeded its 2007 pre-crisis peak, 
the geographical mix has changed dramatically, as illustrated 
by the graph below. LVP has dropped by nearly 20% in Europe, 
North America and Japan (“The Triad”) where we used to gen-
erate more than 80% of revenues. This decline was more than 
offset by the Rest of the World (RoW) where LVP has increased 
by more than 50%. The markets in China and India stand out by 
increasing LVP by 109% and 66% compared to the 2007 levels.

To take full advantage of the growth opportunities primarily 
in China, India and Thailand, we are allocating more than 60% 
in our expansion-related capital expenditures to our growth 
markets, even though these markets “only” accounted for 
approximately 20% of sales in 2010 (despite the very rapid 
sales increases in recent years). Additionally, we have made 
acquisitions to strengthen our position in Asia and with the 
local Asian vehicle manufacturers (see “Stronger than ever” 
on the next page).

As a result, Autoliv now has virtually one third of sales in 
each of our three regions Europe, North America and Asia 
including Japan. At the end of 2010, China accounted for 13% 
of sales compared to 4% in 2007. Consequently, not only has 
Autoliv's geographical sales mix become better balanced, but 
we have improved our Company's position in areas where LVP 
is expected to grow the most over the next few years. 

Company Transformation
We initiated our action program already in July 2008. We were 
therefore well positioned to expand and accelerate the program 
when the crisis fully developed after the Lehman Brothers bank-
ruptcy in September 2008. 

This enabled us to adjust headcount by nearly 10,000 or 
close to 25% already within nine months. These adjustments 

A Record Year
continued during 2009 and 2010 in high-cost countries (HCC), 
particularly for indirect personnel in overhead functions, to 
maintain and improve the cost reductions we had achieved. 
Despite these substantial headcount reductions, we launched a 
new R&D project (for small car safety) in the midst of the crisis. 

In parallel with the decrease of permanent employees in 
HCC, we expanded in low-cost countries (LCC), particularly in 
direct manufacturing personnel, to ensure that Autoliv would 
be well prepared for the rebound of these markets. In summary, 
we reduced headcount in HCC by 21% and expanded headcount 
in LCC by 26% from the 2007 levels.

As a result, Autoliv had 63% of total headcount in LCC at the 
end of 2010 compared to 52% at the end of 2007. In addition, 
20% of headcount were temporary personnel and 30% were 
indirect personnel in overhead functions compared to 16% and 
34%, respectively. This gives us more flexibility, an even better 
presence in the fastest growing markets, and a significantly 
better cost structure with a lower break-even point.

Reduced Cost Base
Following this transformation, we estimate that Autoliv can 
reach its break-even point at a sales level that is approximately 
$0.8 billion lower than since the crisis. 

This is mainly due to lower labor costs. In relation to sales, 
we have reduced these costs by nearly 4 percentage points 
(see graph). However, this not only reflects our restructur-
ing actions and strategic moves to LCC but also includes 
productivity improvements of 6% in manufacturing in every 
year during 2008–10, which is in line with our target of at 
least 5% per year. 

Another major improvement in our cost structure is the 
reduction in depreciation due to plant closures in high-cost 
countries. New manufacturing capacity required in response 
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to the increased LVP has been concentrated in LCC, where the 
costs for buildings and machinery are lower and where less 
capital-intensive manufacturing processes and automation 
can be used. 

Furthermore, the record operating margin in 2010 of 12.1% 
would not have been achieved had we not been able to reduce 
our component cost below 52% of sales again from 52.4% in 
2008. This has been a challenge due to the continuous squeeze 
between the sales price erosion on our products and increas-
ing raw material prices. We have managed to offset these 
trends primarily by localizing component sourcing to LCC, 
standardizing products and components, and by developing 
more efficient suppliers. 

“Stronger than ever”
Our improved market position and cost structure have resulted 
in a very healthy cash flow. This has led to a record strong bal-
ance sheet and to Autoliv regaining its long-term credit rating 
of “BBB+”. It has also allowed our Company to resume dividend 
payments to shareholders and to drive industry consolidation 
through several strategic transactions. 

Since the third quarter 2009, we have invested a total of $168 
million in acquisitions to accelerate Autoliv's growth and strength-
en our Company by fully integrating subsidiaries. The acquisitions 
are expected to add $570 million in consolidated sales over a 
12-month period, despite the fact that some of the acquisitions 
were minority interests in already consolidated subsidiaries. 

In conclusion, Autoliv has 
emerged as one of the winners 
from the crisis; stronger and 
more efficient than ever ”

“
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At the end of 2009, we acquired Delphi's European and North 
American assets for airbags, steering wheels and seatbelts and, 
during 2010, Delphi's remaining assets in Asia for passive safety. 

Also in 2010, we acquired the remaining shares in our Esto-
nian subsidiary Norma (which is the leading automotive safety 
supplier for the Russian market) and in our Japanese inflator 
company. Additionally, we made two smaller strategic acquisi-
tions in active safety: Visteon's automotive radar business and 
Delphi's pyrotechnic safety switch business. 

In conclusion, Autoliv has emerged as one of the winners 
from the crisis; stronger and more efficient than ever.

Quality in All Dimensions
After our record year of 2010, you may ask: What is your next step?

My answer is simple: superior quality and expansion in ac-
tive safety.

Quality has always been paramount in the automotive indus-
try, especially for safety products. Lately, the vehicle manufac-
turers have become even more quality focused, partially due 
to a few highly publicized vehicle recalls. This has significantly 
increased the number of vehicles recalled, and the trend is likely 
to continue as vehicle manufacturers introduce even stricter 
quality requirements. 

We have not been immune to this trend as we have recently 
been involved in recalls (see page 29). However, as a technol-
ogy leader we are determined to meet these challenges and 
make stricter quality requirements an even stronger competitive 
edge for our Company. Therefore, already in mid-year 2010, we 
launched a proactive quality initiative, called “Q5 - Quality in all 
dimensions” (see page 28), to further enhance our leadership 
and reemphasize the importance of quality. 

Growth in Passive Safety
We expect demand for airbags and seatbelts in passive safety 
to continue to grow, thanks to increasing global LVP, strong 
consumer demand for safer vehicles, new regulations and 
crash-test rating criteria. 

For instance, side curtain airbags for head protection will 
become mandatory in 2013 in all light vehicles sold in the U.S. 
In addition, by 2017, the side curtain airbags will be required to 
prevent occupants in the U.S. from being ejected in roll-overs, 
according to a new regulation announced at the beginning of 
2011. Furthermore, Brazil has decided to mandate frontal air-
bags in all light vehicles by 2014, and Europe is in the process 
of phasing-in a tougher EuroNCAP crash rating test program. 

These examples show that automotive safety continues to be 
a priority of governments all over the world. This bodes well for 
our company and its long-term growth prospects. For the next 
three years, we expect our main market for passive automo-
tive safety to grow at an average annual rate of approximately 
6%, based on the LVP forecast from the market institute IHS. 

Expansion in Active Safety
The next step in automotive safety is active safety systems that 
can prevent an accident or, at least, reduce the speed and the 

severity of impact. In 2010, we stepped up our investments in 
this area, primarily by increasing our R&D by more than $40 
million. These projects now represent more than 10% of our 
total gross R,D&E expense. 

We see very strong growth trends in our sales of radar, night 
vision and vision cameras, and the potential in active safety is 
significant as this new market continues to expand and migrate 
to new product lines and new technologies. Consequently, we 
are stepping up our undertakings in active safety, which is the 
principle reason for our plans to increase gross R,D&E expense 
in 2011 by almost $70 million.

Outlook 2011
Since we are approaching maximum capacity utilization in man-
ufacturing facilities in our growth markets, we recently initiated 
a three-year capital expenditure plan. This plan calls for seven 
plant extensions or new plants in China, India, Brazil, Poland 
and Thailand. As a result, in 2011, we expect to increase capital 
expenditures in the range of $300 and 350 million or around 
4% of sales compared to $236 million or 3.3% of sales in 2010.

In 2011, the market forecasting institute IHS expects LVP to 
grow globally by 5% on average, mainly due to an 8% growth 
in the Rest of the World. In Western Europe, where the safety 
content per vehicle is relatively high, IHS expects LVP to in-
crease by less than 1%. Despite the fact that this regional mix 
is unfavorable for the auto safety market, we expect Autoliv’s 
organic sales to grow faster than global LVP or at a rate of ap-
proximately 6% during 2011. This is explained, primarily, by an 
expected continued positive vehicle model mix for our Company 
and a strong order intake in prior years. 

Currency effects are expected to add 3% to revenues, pro-
vided that the mid-February exchange rates prevail, while the 
remaining annualized effect of acquisitions from 2010 should 
add 2% to the 2011 full-year sales. We therefore expect consoli-
dated sales to grow by more than 10% and achieve an operating 
margin of at least 11.5%. 

The fact that Autoliv should be able to report double-digit 
margins for two consecutive years immediately after the worst 
crisis in the history of the automotive industry is a testimony to 
our employees’ hard work and dedication to customer commit-
ments. For this I would like to extend a sincere “thank you” to all 
of them. During very difficult times, they built a solid foundation 
that now yields these excellent results. 

Yours sincerely,
Jan Carlson
Stockholm, Sweden, February 23, 2011
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Long term targets Performance in 2010 Description

Operating Cash Flow
Operating cash flow should exceed 
operating income. 

Operating cash flow is, in the long-term, the principal source for 
anticipated working capital requirements, capital expenditures, 
strategic acquisitions, and returns to shareholders. This target is 
showing the efficiency with which income is converted into cash. 

Operating Working Capital
Less than 10% of last 12-month sales.

Definition on page 38
(Non-U.S. GAAP measure)

Due to the need to optimize cash generation to create value for 
shareholders, we focus on operationally derived operating working 
capital.

Leverage Ratio
Significantly below 3.0 times. 

Interest Coverage Ratio
Significantly above 2.75 times.
Definitions on page 49
(Non-U.S. GAAP measures)

To manage the inherent risks and cyclicality in the Company’s busi-
ness, we maintain a relatively conservative financial leverage. 

Higher leverage could improve the potential for incremental 
shareholder value by seeking to grow earnings per share (EPS) 
faster than operating income. However, this has to be balanced 
against the need to ensure financial stability in the cyclical automo-
tive industry.

Labor Productivity
At least 5% per year.

Labor productivity is measured as a reduction of labor minutes per 
unit (LMPU) in percentage points. 

LMPU is used by management to monitor continuous improve-
ment activities. Improved productivity can be achieved not only at 
the production line but also by better product design and production 
equipment.

Organic Growth
Exceed growth of occupant safety market. 
Definition on page 38 
(Non-U.S. GAAP measure)

We analyze the sales performance as changes in “organic sales”, 
because nearly 80% of the Company’s sales are generated in cur-
rencies other than the reporting currency (i.e. U.S. dollars) and 
since the Company has historically made several acquisitions and 
divestitures.

Direct Material Cost Reduction
More than 3% per year

To keep and to improve current margins, direct material cost must 
be reduced in line with or by more than the sales price reductions 
in our market.
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3.5%
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Who We Are, What We Do

1953
Autoservice AB

Lennart Lindblad starts, 
together with his brother, a 

dealership and repair shop for 
motor vehicles

1956
first seatbelt

Autoservice AB starts produc-
tion of 2-point seatbelts for the 

aftermarket

1968
renamed

The Company’s name is 
changed to Autoliv AB to focus 
on saving lives (“Liv” is “lives” 

in Swedish)

1975
Acquired

Gränges Weda acquires 
Autoliv. Nearly 200 employees 
and a turnover of $9 million

1980
First subsidiary 

Acquisition of Hansa-Liv in 
Germany. The first step in the 

globalization of Autoliv

Statistically 
there were 
almost two 
seatbelts and 
1.2 airbags 
from Autoliv 
in every vehi-
cle produced 
globally”

“

according to the World Health Organization (WHO), over 
1.2 million people perish each year on the world’s roads, and 
between 20 and 50 million suffer severe injuries. If the current 
trend continues, the number of annual deaths will double by 
2030, according to WHO. 

While human suffering cannot be measured, monetary costs 
to society are estimated in the hundreds of billions of dollars 
each year for health care, rehabilitation and loss of income. 

Innovation and the focus on saving lives have been the hall-
marks for Autoliv from its inception half a century ago. Now 
our products save 25,000 lives every year and prevent ten times 
as many severe injuries. The next step to further reduce road 
traffic accidents is active safety systems that can assist the 
driver to avoid an accident or, at least, reduce the speed of 
impact, thereby substantially mitigating injuries. 

The roots of Autoliv go back to 1953 when the young entre-
preneur Lennart Lindblad started a repair shop in Vårgårda 
near Gothenburg in Sweden. In 1956, the Company produced 
its first seatbelt, and, in 2010, 121 million seatbelts and 85 

million airbags. Statistically, there were almost two seatbelts 
and 1.2 airbags from Autoliv in every vehicle produced globally 
in 2010, despite not all cars having airbags. 

Today’s Autoliv Inc. is a Fortune 500 company and the world’s 
largest automotive safety supplier with sales to all the leading 
car manufacturers in the world. We develop, market and manu-
facture airbags, seatbelts, active safety systems, night vision 
systems, safety electronics, steering wheels, anti-whiplash 
systems, pedestrian protection systems and child seats. Our 
global market share is approximately 35 percent.

Incorporated in the state of Delaware, Autoliv Inc. is the 
result of a merger in 1997 of the Swedish company, Autoliv 
AB, and the American company Morton ASP. The global head-
quarters is located in Stockholm, Sweden. 

The Company has more than 80 facilities and joint ven-
tures in 29 countries with more than 43,000 people. In addi-
tion, Autoliv has eleven technical centers, in nine countries, 
with 20 crash test tracks – more than any other automotive 
safety supplier.

Seatbelt testing 1966 Seatbelt and airbag testing 2010 
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Our Vision
To substantially reduce traffic accidents, fatalities and injuries.

Our Mission
To create, manufacture and sell state-of-the-art automotive safety systems.

Our Values
life	 we have a passion for saving lives.
customers	 we are dedicated to providing satisfaction for our customers and  
	 value for the driving public.
innovation	 we are driven for innovation and continuous improvement.
employees	 we are committed to the development of our employees’ skills,  
	 knowledge and creative potential.
ethics	 we adhere to the highest level of ethical and social behavior.
culture	 we are founded on global thinking and local actions.

Autoliv Saves Lives

1980
Electrolux enters

The domestic-appliance 
manufacturer acquires 
Gränges AB, the parent 

company of Autoliv

1994
Stock listing

Autoliv AB is introduced on the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange 

with 100% free float

1997
Global sales leader

The current company, Autoliv 
Inc., is formed from a merger 

of Autoliv AB and Morton 
Automotive Safety Products

2000/03
Acquisitions in Japan

Acquires Japan’s second 
largest steering wheel 

manufacturer and, in two steps, 
the seatbelt operations of NSK

2009/10
Consolidates industry 

Acquires Delphi’s occupant 
restraint businesses in Asia, 
North America and Europe



• Crash mitigation by       
    braking
• Crash avoidance
• Active bumpers
• Stability control

• Early sensing
• Active seatbelts
• Active structures
• Active knee bolster

• Pedestrian warning
• Lane departure  
   warning
• Collision warning
• Blind spot warning

• Night vision
• Adaptive cruise control
• Queue assist
• Cross traffic assist

• Pedestrian         
   protection
• Adaptive seatbelts
• Adaptive airbags
• Anti-whiplash

• Black-box function
   (Event data recorder)

ASSISTANCE
POINT OF 

NO RETURN, 
ONE THIRD 

OF A 
SECOND
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Active
safety
for crash prevention
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for injury mitigation
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Active Safety Systems
Using our radar and vision technologies to monitor the environment around the vehicle, 
our active safety systems can intervene before a crash by adjusting engine output,  
steering and braking, in addition to making driving easier and more comfortable. 

Thanks to passive safety systems such as seatbelts and airbags, 
vehicle safety has substantially improved. Although these systems 
are effective in mitigating the human consequences of an accident, 
they can never prevent the accident from occurring. 

With the introduction of active safety systems, many accidents 
will become avoidable or at least less severe by reducing the speed 
of impact. 

This will result in significant improvements in the protection pro-
vided by the passive safety system.

Night Vision
Night vision system displays an image of the road scene ahead 

to provide assistance to the driver. The system analyzes the scene 
content with respect to the vehicles' motion to determine if a pedes-
trian is at risk of being hit by the vehicle. It can detect pedestrians 
up to two times further away than the typical headlight range and, if 
a threat exists, the driver is alerted. 

Radar
Short and medium range radar system provides all-weather 

object detection. By scanning up to 30 meters around the vehicle, 
the system can provide an advanced warning of an imminent colli-
sion. The radar is also used for detecting objects in the blind spots 
of a vehicle and to control stop-and-go functions in queue assist 
systems. Our longer range radars are utilized for adaptive cruise 
control systems. 

Vision Systems
Vision system is continuously checking the road ahead using 

one or two forward looking cameras. This system can be used for 
such applications as speed sign recognition, lane departure warn-
ing, forward collision warning and collision mitigation by braking. 

Next ECU Generation
To monitor the environment around the vehicle and the control of 
the vehicle motion, Autoliv is developing the next step of electronic 
integration. This new Electronic Control Unit (ECU) links the envi-
ronmental sensors (radar, vision, night vision), and the actuators that 
control vehicle motion (brakes, steering, engine/transmission). The 
ECU architecture is designed to offer a range of features, including: 
inertial measurement unit data; vehicle state estimates (e.g., side 
slip, roll angle); electronic stability control, lane keeping, and forward 
collision mitigation. In addition, the central controller consolidates 
many of the redundant functions in ECUs in modern vehicles, thereby 
helping the vehicle manufacturers simplify the electronic architecture 
of the vehicle and reduce costs.

Active Seatbelts
An active seatbelt has an electrically driven pretensioner that tightens 
the belt as a precaution in hazardous situations. The belt system then 
releases some webbing if the driver manages to avoid the traffic 
hazard. This function also warns the driver by letting the pretensioner 
vibrate the seatbelt webbing.

Pedestrian Detection

Speed Sign Recognition

Stop-and-Go

Collision Mitigation

Collision Warning

Side Impact

Lane-Change Assist

Adaptive Cruise Control

Blind-Spot Detection

Road/Lane Departure

1956
seatbelt

Lennart Lindblad, the founder 
of Autoliv, develops the 

Company's first seatbelt, a 
2-point static belt

1980
airbag

Morton ASP, which became an 
Autoliv company in 1997, starts 

airbag production

1989
Buckle Pretensioner*

Mercedes introduces our 
innovation that tightens the 
seatbelt mechanically at the 

onset of a crash

1994
Side Airbag*

Volvo introduces our new 
airbag that reduces thorax 

injuries in side-impact 
collisions

1950

* World’s first

1

2

3
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1995
Load Limiter*

Renault introduces our new 
feature that limits the load on 
the occupant's chest in very 

violent crashes

1997
Head Side Airbag*

BMW introduces an inflatable 
tubular structure (ITS), 

invented by Simula and further 
developed by Autoliv

1998
Inflatable Curtain*

Mercedes and Volvo introduce 
our curtain airbag that covers 
an upper side of the vehicle in 

a side impact to protect the 
occupants' heads

1998
Anti-Whiplash Seat*

Volvo introduces our yieldable 
backrest that tilts in a con-

trolled way in a rear-end 
collision to reduce the 

occupant's forward rebound

1995
Knee Airbag*

KIA introduces our new airbag 
that reduces knee injuries

1
2

2 3

4

1
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“smart”, e.g. the power of the airbags can be tuned to the severity 
of the crash, using adaptive output airbag inflators.

Curtain airbags reduce the risk of life-threatening head 
injuries in side impacts by approximately 50% for occupants 
who are sitting on the side of the vehicle that is struck. Curtain 
airbags cover the whole upper side of the vehicle. 

Regular one-chamber side airbags reduce the risk for chest 
injuries by approximately 25%. 

With dual-chamber side airbags, both the pelvis and the 
chest areas are protected which further reduces the risk of 
serious injuries in side-impact crashes.

Rear side airbags reduce injuries for rear occupants. 

Knee airbags significantly reduce the risk for injuries to knee, 
thigh and hip. These injuries today represent 23% of the active-life 
years lost to injury in frontal crashes involving motor vehicles. 

Anti-sliding airbags are installed in the seat cushion. In 
a crash, the airbag raises the front end of the seat cushion 
to prevent the occupant from sliding under the seatbelt. This 
reduces significantly the risk for knee, thigh, and hip injuries 
for belted occupants. In addition, by keeping the occupant in an 
upright position, the protection from the frontal airbag becomes 
more efficient.

Passive Safety Systems
Autoliv has accounted for virtually all major technological breakthroughs within  
passive safety over the last 20 years. 

Seatbelt Systems
Modern seatbelts can reduce the overall risk of seri-

ous injuries in frontal crashes by as much as 60% thanks 
to two advanced seatbelt technologies: pretensioners and 
load limiters.

Retractor and buckle pretensioners tighten the belt at 
the onset of a frontal crash, using a small pyrotechnic charge. 
Slack is eliminated and the occupant is restrained as early as 
possible, thereby reducing the risk of rib fractures. 

In an accident, load limiters release some webbing in a 
controlled way to avoid the load on the occupant’s chest from 
becoming too high.

When used in combination, pretensioners, load limiters, lap 
pretensioners and frontal airbags can reduce the risk for life-
threatening head or chest injuries by 75% in frontal crashes.

Lap pretensioners further tighten the webbing to avoid 
sliding under the belt which improves lower leg protection and 
prevents abdominal injuries from a loose belt. 

Airbags and Steering Wheel
The passenger airbag for the front-seat passenger reduces 

fatalities in frontal crashes by approximately 20% (for belted 
front-seat occupants). 

Both the driver and the passenger airbags deploy in 50 mil-
liseconds, half the time of the “blink of an eye”, and can be 

2002
Adaptive Load Limiter*

BMW introduces our upgraded 
seatbelt load limiter that 

automatically adjusts the load 
on the occupant's rib cage

2005
Pedestrian Protection*

Jaguar introduces our hood 
lifter that creates clearance 

between the hood and the hard 
part underneath when the 
pedestrian's head hits the 

vehicle hood

2005
Night Vision System

BMW introduces our system 
that helps the driver see at 

night using an infrared sensor

2006
Active Seatbelts

Mercedes introduces our new 
seatbelt that tightens a few 

milliseconds before the crash 
using an electrical motor

2002
Anti-sliding Bag*

Renault introduces our seat 
cushion airbag that prevents 

the occupant from sliding and 
hitting his knees
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Modern steering wheels offer a variety of control switches 
and different designs. Some of our steering wheels have an 
integrated electrical motor that can vibrate the steering wheel 
thereby alerting the driver of a dangerous situation. To im-
prove comfort in cold climate, the steering wheel can have 
a heated rim. 

The driver airbag reduces fatalities in frontal crashes by 
approximately 25% (for belted drivers) and reduces serious 
head injuries by over 60%.

Crash Electronics
Satellite sensors are mounted in the door beam, b-pillar, 

rocker panel, and various locations at the front of the vehicle 
to provide the ECU with raw acceleration data to enable appro-
priate deployment of the airbags and seatbelt pretensioners. 

The electronic control unit (ECU) is the brain of the car’s 
safety system. It decides not only if, but also exactly when, 
the seatbelt pretensioners should be triggered and each 
airbag system should be deployed. The ECU contains crash 
sensors and a microprocessor, as well as back-up electricity 
in the event the connection to the car battery is cut off in the 
crash. The ECU is located in the middle of the vehicle where 
it is well protected during a crash. Autoliv’s latest ECU also 
contains sensors for the Electronic Stability Control System, 
as automakers estimate that they save almost 50% of the 
cost for one of these units by the integration. Autoliv's new 

technology is the first step in a fundamental redesign of 
electronic safety control architecture in vehicles (See “Next 
ECU Generation”).

Pedestrian Protection
Vulnerable pedestrians and bicyclists have been a forgotten 
group among road users. This group does not have a protec-
tive “shell” around them and are therefore more at risk. They 
represent nearly half of the annual 1.2 million road fatalities 
in the world. The main cause of fatalities among pedestri-
ans is head injuries. To protect the head, the hood needs to 
be able to act as a cushion. This can be achieved by using  
     actuators that lift the rear-end of the hood to create 
clearance above the rigid structures beneath. However, in 
many smaller vehicles the hood is too short and the head of 
a pedestrian will most likely hit the hard area between the 
hood and the windscreen or one of the A-pillars. In this case 
      outside airbags can be used to create a cushion-effect.

Pedestrian protection systems are deployed either by contact 
sensors in the bumper or by an active safety system. The latter 
systems have the advantage of being able to brake the car 
and thereby reducing the speed and the severity of impact. 

Anti Whiplash
Anti-whiplash systems are based on a yieldable backrest 

that tilts in a controlled way in a rear-end collision, thereby 
reducing the risk for neck injuries. 

2008
Pedestrian warning*

BMW introduces our second 
generation of Night Vision 

Systems which can warn the 
driver for pedestrians

2010
Locking Tongue

Several customers introduce a 
self-locking seatbelt tongue 

which prevents webbing from 
moving from the shoulder to 
the hip part of the seatbelt

2008
Active Safety Integration*

Ford introduces our airbag elec-
tronic control unit with integrated 

active safety sensors, from the 
electronic stability control 

2012

2011
mono-vision system

An unnamed customer will 
introduce Autoliv's camera 

system for driver assistance 
and active safety 
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Innovations for the Future
In our quest to reduce traffic accidents, fatalities and injuries, Autoliv continues to 
research automotive safety problems beyond the existing regulations and ratings. 

safety, together with low fuel consumption, is one of 
the strongest sales drivers for new cars. In virtually all inquiries 
about what consumers want in their next vehicle, new safety 
products rank very high or at the top of their priority lists. 

Autoliv assists vehicle manufacturers in meeting these 
evolving safety trends by staying at the forefront of technology, 
crash-testing more vehicles than any other safety company and 
working as a development partner for new vehicles. 

Research in Real Life Traffic Safety
Autoliv Research consists of a group of approximately 50 highly 
skilled researchers working in a top-down manner to improve 
safety in real life traffic situations. 

The work starts with understanding various traffic environ-
ments and the type of accidents occurring within it. Different 
accident databases are used to get a macro picture of the traffic 
situations in most countries and regions. This understanding 
is leading into micro investigations or deep studies in Autoliv's 
research laboratory to find new solutions and completely new 
safety systems.

Development and Engineering
Autoliv has approximately 4,000 engineers for product develop-
ment and application engineering. 

Autoliv has a unique capability compared to our competi-
tors by being the only automotive supplier that has dedicated 
resources to perform full-scale vehicle crash tests. This special-
ized service and expertise, when combined with our advanced 
crash simulations (CAE), allow us to optimize our products and 
other safety critical functions to the particular structure of the 
planned vehicle.

Current Investments
During 2010, gross expenditures for Research, Development 
and Application Engineering (R,D&E) amounted to $490 million 
compared to $428 million in 2009 which correspond to 6.8% of 
sales in 2010 and to 8.4% in 2009 (see graph). 

Of the amounts, $129 million in 2010 and $106 million in 
2009 were related to customer-funded engineering projects 
and crash tests. 

Net of this income, R,D&E expenditures in relation to sales 
declined in 2010 by 1.3 percentage points to 5.0%. Of the $361 
million expense in 2010, 76% was for projects and programs 
for which we have customer orders, typically related to vehicle 
models in development. The remaining 24% was not only for 
completely new innovations but also for improvements of ex-
isting products, standardization and cost reduction projects.

Future Investments
During 2011, we expect to spend close to $70 million more in 
R,D&E mainly to increase our engineering capability in Asia and 
to accelerate our efforts even further in active safety, thereby rein-
forcing our long-term commitment to innovation and technology. 

Patents
Our commitment to technological leadership is evidenced by our 
strong position in patents. In 2008 (the latest year with official 
statistics), Autoliv accounted for 7% of all new automotive safety 
filings, higher than any other safety system supplier.

Autoliv holds more than 6,000 patents covering a wide range 
of innovations and products in automotive safety and key sup-
porting technologies, an increase (partly due to acquisitions) 
from 5,000 in 2009. 
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over 1.2 million people perish every year on the world’s 
roads, and between 20 and 50 million suffer serious injuries 
according to the World Health Organization (WHO). Road traffic 
injuries especially affect younger people. Among people aged 5 
to 44 traffic accidents are one of the top three causes of death. 
While road traffic death rates in many high-income countries are 
declining, WHO’s data suggests that in most regions of the world 
this epidemic of road traffic injuries is still increasing. By 2030, 
traffic fatalities are expected to almost double to 2.4 million.

Therefore, helping to save more lives will be the most impor-
tant contribution Autoliv can make to social responsibility (SR). 

Contribution to Protecting the Environment
The environmental impact from our operations is generally 
modest, since most of our manufacturing consists of the as-
sembly of components. For instance, Life Cycle Assessments 
(LCA) show (see graph) that the CO2 emission from Autoliv 
account for 1% of the 31.4 kg emitted during the life of a driver 
airbag and that the driving of the vehicle and the raw material 
production for the airbag generate almost 100 times more 
carbon dioxide. 

As a consequence, the most important contribution we can 
make to the environment is to design and develop low-weight 
and environmentally-friendly safety systems. Even a small re-
duction in weight contributes to the environment through lower 
fuel and emission throughout the car's entire life. Helping our 
customers in their efforts to meet the stringent CO2 and CAFE 
(Corporate Average Fuel Economy) requirements is important 
for them, and thus a competitive tool for us. 

Although Autoliv's CO2 emissions are low, we have launched 
several energy saving programs, ranging from automatic light-

ing systems to heat recovery of cooling water. The total energy 
consumption (incl. electricity and heating) by all Autoliv facilities 
was 666 GWh during 2010, which corresponds to 234,000 metric 
tons of CO2 (using the Greenhouse Gas Protocol). This was an 
increase of 30% from 2009 and in line with Autoliv's organic 
sales increase in 2010. 

With our strong global presence we can minimize the envi-
ronmental impact imposed by logistics when procuring parts 
and supplying finished products to our customers. By improving 
our logistic systems we also benefit financially.

Assisting Customers and Suppliers in SR 
Since 2006, the European directive End of Life of Vehicle (ELV) 
requires that 85% of all material in new vehicle models must 
be recoverable. The level will be raised to 95% by 2015. 

Although the directive on ELV only specifies recovery levels for 
the whole vehicle and not for individual components, we make 
sure that our products meet or exceed the legal requirements. 

It is our policy that every Autoliv facility shall be certified 
according to ISO 14001 (see graph). The few remaining non-
certified plants are essentially new manufacturing facilities 
that have not yet been certified. 

All Autoliv facilities measure and continuously improve their 
relevant environmental measurables , such as energy and water 
consumption, emissions to air, transportation and the use of 
packaging materials. For energy, which is the most important 
measurable in Autoliv, we have corporate reduction targets. 

We also work closely with all of our suppliers to encourage 
them to implement an environmental management system, 
according to ISO 14001. We also require them to adhere to our 
environmental policy (see www.autoliv.com).

Investing in  
Social Responsibility
For a company creating products that save lives and reduce traffic injuries, social 
responsibility is not new. It has been our core business for more than 50 years.

95%
In 2015, 95% of all 

material in new vehicle 
models must be 

recoverable 
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we also assume social responsibility in several other 
ways, for instance, through our ethical codes, sustainable 
environmental development and our core values. Other 
examples are our support and cooperation with universi-
ties, authorities, traffic rescue organizations and insurance 
companies.

Autoliv’s Core Corporate Values:
life – we have a passion for saving lives.
customers – we are dedicated to providing satisfaction for 
our customers and value for the driving public.
innovation – we are driven for innovation and continuous 
improvement.
employees – we are committed to the development of our 
employees’ skills, knowledge and creative potential.
ethics – we adhere to the highest level of ethical and social 
behavior.
culture – we are founded on global thinking and local 
actions.

Ethical Code
We adhere to the highest level of ethical and social be-
havior. The standards and rules are set in our “Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics” which can be downloaded 
from www.autoliv.com. The code applies to all operations 
and all employees worldwide. The local Autoliv president 
in each country is responsible for communicating the code 
to the employees in that country. In addition, in late 2010, 
we introduced an e-learning program with an exam on our 
intranet. By mid-February 2011, 4,400 Autoliv associates 
had already passed the exam and testing will be rolled out 
further during the year.

Also in 2010, we produced a more reader-friendly version 
of our ethical code. This version is now being rolled out, in 
15 different languages, among our associates. 

Autoliv’s ethical code draws on universal standards such 
as the “Global Sullivan Principles of Social Responsibilities” 
and on the UN’s “Global Compact”. As a result, we: 
•	 Express our support for universal human rights and, par-

ticularly within our sphere of influence, the communities 
within which we operate and parties with whom we do 
business.

•	 Promote equal opportunity for our employees at all lev-

els of the Company with respect to issues such as color, 
race, gender, age, ethnicity, sexual orientation or reli-
gious beliefs, and do not tolerate unacceptable worker 
treatment such as the exploitation of children, physical 
punishment, female abuse, involuntary servitude, or oth-
er forms of abuse.

•	 Respect our associates’ voluntary freedom of associa-
tion. 

•	 Compensate our associates to enable them to, at least, 
meet their basic needs and provide the opportunity to 
improve their skills and capability in order to raise their 
social and economic opportunities.

•	 Provide a safe and healthy workplace, protect human 
health and the environment and promote sustainable de-
velopment.

•	 Promote fair competition, uphold the highest standard 
in business ethics and integrity and not offer, pay or ac-
cept bribes.

Our code is also an integrated part of the Autoliv Supplier 
Manual (ASM). All new and existing suppliers are required 
to sign an acknowledgement letter where they confirm 
that they will comply with the ASM requirements, includ-
ing the code.

Compliance Monitoring
Each regional president, business director and certain other 
managers are obliged to report violations of regulations 
and our codes as a requirement in their monthly letters to 
the Autoliv CEO.

In addition, our associates are encouraged to report any 
violation of law or Autoliv’s ethnical codes. It can be done 
anonymously by email or by using a special hotline number 
in each country.

A few years ago, we started a social responsibility as-
sessment of our operations in the low cost countries in Asia, 
where we are rapidly expanding. These assessments show 
that all of our plants in these markets maintain good overall 
standards and practices. The following years, we continued 
the assessment in Eastern Europe and other countries, with 
similarly good results. 

Our leading suppliers are monitored as part of our regular 
quality audit process.

We Care
Every year, our products save 25,000 lives, help prevent at least ten times as 
many severe injuries and save tens of billions of dollars for societies all over 
the world. This is the most important contribution from Autoliv to society.
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As part of our social responsibility activi-
ties, Autoliv Southern Africa started an 
AIDS program already in 2000. The pro-
gram includes both tests and education 
for our associates and their spouses. 

Our company is now fortunate to have 
one of the lowest ratios of HIV positive 
employees in the country. 

Autoliv South Africa was recently 
shortlisted for the SWHAP Achievement 
Award 2010 for Most Comprehensive 
Program and nominated for the SWHAP 
Achievement Award 2010 for Most Innova-
tive Intervention. 

The Company actively supports chil-
dren orphaned by AIDS, some of them are 
orphans of our ex-employees.
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finding the right people is paramount for a sustainable de-
velopment of a company. This has been a top priority for Autoliv 
especially in 2010 when total headcount in our company rose by 
more than 5,400 people. Finding skilled people will continue to 
be pivotal in 2011, particularly in our growth markets. 

We make concerted efforts to recruit well-educated people 
and/or provide adequate trainings in producing and developing 
life-saving products. In all plants, we have on-the-job and skills 
development trainings, where work safety is also an important 
element in addition to understanding the manufacturing process 
and the product technologies. 

We offer excellent work conditions, safe work places and 
many interesting work tasks, and Autoliv is in the forefront of 
technology, a global market leader that is saving lives; all of this 
helps to attract and retain skilled people. Another advantage in 
the recruiting process is our close relationship with all of the 
important vehicle manufacturers in the world. For potential 
employees in our tech centers, Autoliv's close relationship with 
universities and colleges is another attraction factor. 

We are committed to maintaining this environment that at-
tracts high performers and keeps them motivated. Effectively 
communicating and cascading corporate strategy is our key 
method for creating such a workplace and is critical for enrolling 
associates in our shared vision.

Motivated Employees
Even great ideas are meaningless without robust processes, 
motivated employees and talented teams in place to take them 
from concept to reality. Fortunately, Autoliv has a long track 

record of lean manufacturing and culture of continuous im-
provement which encourages all employees to be creative and 
put forward their improvement ideas. Who is better to propose 
improvements in, for instance, manufacturing than the line 
operators themselves? 

We have therefore made the number of improvement sugges-
tions per associate one of our operational key performance indi-
cators (KPI) by which our 80 facilities globally are benchmarked 
every quarter. During 2010, this KPI continued to improve as 
seen from the index chart below. In North America alone, more 
than 215,000 employee suggestions were received and 6,000 
team improvement projects were implemented during 2010 
and shared across the region, helping us reduce waste and 
improve labor efficiency at a record pace.

Employee Safety
Our very first key performance indicator is employee safety. 
The target for each plant is zero injuries, of course. In 2010, 18 
plants managed to meet this target, an improvement from 10 
plants five years ago. 

Our overall injury level globally continues to decline as 
seen in the graph below, from an already low level. Since we 
are dedicated to the business of protecting people and sav-
ing lives, we feel a unique responsibility to ensure the safety, 
health and well-being of our associates. For instance, we have 
introduced a global “first alert” system which uses our world-
wide network of safety representatives to share information 
readily among all plants should a machine or process require 
any type of corrective process as a result of a safety concern. 

Dedicated and  
Motivated Employees
Our people are the foundation of our success. To find, develop and retain people 
with the right skills and talents for the right positions is therefore a top priority.

215k
In North America 
alone, more than 
215,000 employee 
suggestions were 
received during 
2010
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With this timely notification, plants using similar equipment 
or processes can promptly analyze their own resources and 
work to prevent future risk. 

Employee Well-being
A third indicator of the well-being of Autoliv's most valuable 
asset is labor absenteeism, although this indicator also often 
reflects the welfare systems and levels of sick leave compensa-
tions in the various countries where we operate. We measure 
labor absenteeism as labor hours lost due to sickness in relation 
to total possible labor time. 

This ratio used to be relatively high due to our operations in 
Western Europe. However, we have made dedicated efforts dur-
ing a number of years. As a result, labor absenteeism has been 
cut by half from the 2006 levels as seen from the graph below. 

Employee Development
As part of our intensive global effort to train or recruit associates 
for future leadership positions, we recently launched the Autoliv 
Development Center as a supplement to our existing training 
activities and leadership selection tools. First introduced in our 
European region, this tool has been used successfully to assess 
both the current performance level of employees in specific 
functions and their potential for further growth and development. 

Participating in a variety of role-play exercises, management 
candidates are observed by senior management team members 

who offer candid, constructive feedback used to place these high 
potential employees in positions that best utilize their talents 
and enhance their potential. This tool is especially powerful in 
our succession planning and talent management processes.

Ongoing training and development enhances the knowl-
edge and skills of our associates and gives them increased job 
mobility while providing management an increasingly diverse 
pool of talented resources. These and other similar activities 
not only reinforce Autoliv’s competitiveness as an employer but 
strengthen our ability to maximize customer and shareholder 
value, helping us grow our sales. 

Employee Diversity
Due to Autoliv's global presence, the Company's workforce 
reflects the diversity of the 29 countries in which we operate. 
However, simply having diversity in our workforce is not enough. 
We work hard to create an inclusive environment where all 
people can contribute their best work regardless of age, gender, 
ethnicity or other differentiating factors. 

We place special priorities on diversity in selection of profession-
als for our training program and succession planning to achieve 
balance and competence in our workforce and management. 

The average age of our personnel is 34 years (see graph) 
and 49% are women. Seventy percent of our 43,300 associates 
are direct workers and 17% other personnel in manufacturing, 
9% are involved in R,D&E and 4% in sales and administration.
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Global Presence
With operations in 29 countries and one of the broadest cus-
tomer bases of any automotive supplier, Autoliv has the best 
global footprint in its industry. 

Australia Brazil2) Canada China2) Estonia2) France Germany Hungary2) India2)
Indone-

sia2) Italy Japan S. Korea Malaysia2) Mexico2)
Nether-

lands
Philip-
pines2) Poland2) Romania2) Russia2) S. Africa2) Spain Sweden Taiwan2) Thailand2) Tunisia2) Turkey2)

United 
Kingdom USA

Headcount3) 108 1,031 568 5,499 779 3,416 2,454 894 974 118 17 1,666 1,192 426 7,952 84 425 2,047 3,062 16 158 612 1,289 64 1,003 2,018 1,374 297 4,331
Technical Center         

Production
    Airbags                  

    Seatbelts                     

    Steering Wheels           

    Electronics      

    Active Safety    

    Other                   

Locations and Capabilities

Sales1) +12%
LVP +15%

Europe

China
Sales1) +67%
LVP +30%

1) Autoliv's sales increase in 2010 excluding currency effects. 2) Defined as Low Cost Country. 3) Includes headcount in joint ventures. 

Tech Centers
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Sales1) +71%
LVP +39%

Sales1) +52%
LVP +19%

Japan

North America



US$ (BILLIONS)
Market by Region

2010 2013
Europe
North America

Japan
RoW

5.2

+3%/yr

+7%/yr

+2%/yr

+10%/yr

4.2

3.0

5.7

Total: 18.1

Total: 21.4

7.6

3.1

5.1

5.6

US$ (BILLIONS)
Market by Product

2010 2013
Seatbelts
Frontal airbags

Side airbags Active Safety
Electronics

4.9
+5%/yr

+4%/yr

+7%/yr

+3%/yr
+40%/yr

5.1

4.4

3.3
0.4

1.1

3.5

5.4

5.7

5.7

Total: 18.1

Total: 21.4
US$ PER VEHICLE1) 
Average Safety Value

0

100

200

300

400

1009080706050403020100
North America
Japan

Europe
Global average

RoW

24 autoliv 2010 / The Market

our market - the global occupant restraint market - is driven 
by two factors: 

1. Light vehicle production (LVP), which is expected to grow all 
over the world. For the years 2011 through 2013, the average 
global growth rate is expected by IHS to be 7% per year. This 
is due to the recovery in LVP in established markets after the 
crisis and the long-term LVP growth primarily in Asia.

2. Safety content per vehicle (CPV), which is driven by the num-
ber of airbags and other safety systems in each vehicle and the 
value of these safety systems. The global average value grew 
(see graph) by 3% per year up until 2004 when virtually all of 
the increase in global LVP was in established markets in North 
America, Western Europe and Japan where average CPV now 
is $300 or more. However, since the middle of the last decade, 
the global average CPV value has remained at approximately 
$250. This reflects - in addition to price erosion - the shift in 
global LVP to more small cars and to the Rest of the World 
(RoW), where the CPV is currently around $200. However, these 
low safety-content vehicles also add to the size of our market, 
and the safety standards of vehicles in the emerging markets 
are increasing long term. 

Growth by Region
In 2010, the global occupant restraint market increased by 21% 
to $18 billion. This was a record high growth rate due to the 
sharp recovery in LVP. 

During the next three years through 2013, our market is 
expected to grow at an annual rate of 6% to $21 billion due to an 
anticipated continued recovery in global LVP and higher penetra-
tion rates for airbags and advanced seatbelts (see graph below).

The European market (where Autoliv currently generates 38% 
of sales) is expected to grow at an average annual rate of 
3%. The North American market (29% of sales) is expected 
to grow at a rate of approximately 7%, the Japanese market 
(11% of sales) at 1.5% and the RoW market (22% of sales) at 
a rate of almost 10%.

For Autoliv, this mix in global LVP growth will be negative 
since our market share in Europe and North America is higher 
(slightly above 40%) than in the RoW, where we estimate Autoliv's 
market share to be approximately 30%. 

Growth by Product
Unlike global LVP which Autoliv can not influence, we can affect 
the other growth driver of our market by continuously develop-
ing new higher value solutions. This increases long-term the 
average safety content per vehicle and has, historically, caused 
the automotive safety market to grow faster than the underlying 
LVP. A steady flow of new technologies to the market has also 
enabled Autoliv to outpace its market and take market share. 
For instance, during the last ten years, Autoliv’s consolidated 
sales have increased at an average annual rate of nearly 6% 
compared to 4% for our market and slightly more than 2% for 
light vehicle production. 

We expect this trend to continue as we have a stronger po-
sition in the fastest growing product lines of the market. The 
highest market growth rate is expected for various side-impact 
airbags (see graph). This section of the market, where we es-
timate Autoliv's market share to be around 40%, is expected 
to grow at an average rate of 7% to $5.4 billion by 2013. This 
is partially due to new regulations in the U.S. that make side 
airbags mandatory in all new vehicles beginning in September 
2013. On the other hand, the market for frontal airbags where 

Our Market
Autoliv's market is expected to grow at an annual rate of approximately 6%, and we 
have been increasing our global market share.

$250
is the current global 
average of the safety 
content per vehicle

1) Not adjusted for currency effects
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Autoliv has a market share of around 27%, is expected to grow 
at an annual rate of 4% to $5.7 billion by 2013. Consequently, 
we expect Autoliv to benefit from the fact that the demand for 
side airbags is growing faster than demand for frontal airbags. 

In seatbelts, our global market share has grown to almost 
40%, primarily by Autoliv being the technology leader with sev-
eral important innovations such as pretensioners and load limit-
ers. Our strong market position in seatbelts is also a reflection 
of our superior global footprint. Seatbelts are the primary safety 
product and also an important requirement in low-end vehicles 
for emerging markets. This gives us excellent opportunities 
to benefit from the expected growth of this segment of the 
market which is projected to grow at an annual rate of 5% to 
approximately $5.7 billion by 2013.

Passive safety electronics have grown in line with the general 
market and continue to account for close to 20% of the market. 
In this product line, Autoliv has doubled its market share to more 
than 20% in 2010 from 8% in 2000. This has been achieved both 
through acquisitions and by customers taking full advantage of 
our highest-value safety system solutions by sourcing electron-
ics and airbags from the same supplier. Our new electronic 
control unit (ECU) has also been important for strengthening 
our market position. This ECU is the first product that integrates 
active and passive safety (see pages 12-15).

The product lines where Autoliv operates in the active safety 
market, mainly radars and vision systems, are still small but 
are growing very fast; from $400 million in 2010 to an estimated 
$1.1 billion by 2013. We estimate Autoliv's current market share 
in these product lines of to be around 20%.

Sales by Customer 
Our strong global presence is contributing both to a more diver-
sified customer mix and to achieving growth above the average 
market rate. 

This is evidenced by, for instance, Autoliv’s growing sales 
in South Korea, Thailand and the BRIC countries. It is also 
evidenced by the fact that Asian vehicle manufacturers now 
account for 35% of Autoliv’s sales globally compared to 19% 
ten years ago, while Ford, General Motors and Chrysler (“the 
D3”) now account for 26% of our global sales compared to 38% 
in 2000. This is also due to a change in global market share 
among the vehicle manufacturers. 

As a technology leader, premium vehicles are especially im-
portant for us, both in terms of sales per vehicle and as a way to 
introduce new technologies in the market. This is evidenced by 
Volvo, BMW and Daimler that have introduced many of Autoliv’s 
“world-first products”. Volvo, BMW and Daimler now account 
for 0.5%, 2.0% and 2.1% of the global vehicle production but 
for 3%, 5% and 4%, respectively, of our sales. 

Change in Competition 
The growth in emerging markets and the slowdown of growth 
in Western Europe and North America are also changing the 
competitive landscape in our industry. Generally, Autoliv’s 
major competitors are TRW and Takata, each of which ac-
counts for around one fifth of the global automotive occupant 
restraint market, while Autoliv accounts for more than one 
third of this market.

TRW is an American company, listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange, with strong market positions especially in North 
America and Europe. 

Takata is a family dominated company with 25% of its shares 
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Takata is especially strong 
in North America and its domestic market in Japan. 

However, in Japan, South Korea and China there are a num-
ber of local manufacturers that often have close ties with the 
domestic vehicle manufacturers in these countries. 

Toyota, for instance, has in-house suppliers for seatbelts, 
airbags and steering wheels that receive the majority of the 
Toyota business in Japan for these products. Consequently, 
these safety product suppliers are often the toughest competi-
tors in these markets. 

During 2010, the consolidation of our industry continued as 
Delphi exited the occupant passive safety market. Virtually all 
of Delphi’s market share was resourced by the vehicle manu-
facturers to Autoliv. 
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our main targets for cost efficiency are to:
•	 Reduce direct material costs at the same rate as our mar-

ket prices decline, i.e. by at least 3% annually.

•	 Consolidate 90% of purchased value to our long-term strate-
gic suppliers and more than 50% to low-cost countries (LCC). 

•	 Improve labor productivity by at least 5% per year.

Reduce Impact of Raw Material Prices
Approximately half of our revenues are spent on direct materi-
als (DM) from external suppliers (see graph). The raw material 
content in these components currently represents 48% of the 
direct material cost, while the other 52% represents the value 
added by our supply base (for more details on dependence on 
raw materials and component costs, see page 46). 

The raw material value portion of our sales has increased 
from 19% in 2006 to 25% in 2010, primarily due to increasing 
raw material prices. This ratio is expected to remain on a high 
level due to the shift in our purchasing mix.

By shifting sourcing of components to LCC, we reduce the 
labor portion in our component costs, but the raw material 
portion of the costs is unaffected by these shifts since raw ma-
terial prices are global. Our strategy to consolidate purchasing 
volumes to fewer suppliers has a similar effect on this ratio 
since this change affects the value-added portion of component 
costs but not the raw material portion. 

The most efficient cost-reduction method is replacing exist-
ing designs and components with new, standardized and more 
cost-efficient ones. We particularly focus on reducing weight 
and complexity in our designs as a method to reduce cost.

Supplier Consolidation
Another tool aimed at reducing direct material cost is our strat-
egy to consolidate purchases to fewer suppliers in order to give 
them higher volumes, thereby helping them reduce costs and, 
as a result, their prices to us. 

In 2005, when this strategy was adopted, 35% of our com-
ponent sourcing was with the long-term strategic suppliers. 
During the following years, this ratio increased to 77% at the 
end of 2009, but decreased to 69% during 2010 (see graph). This 
decline was due to the addition of new suppliers as a conse-
quence of several acquisitions. However, the underlying trend 
is still positive and we expect to reach our strategic target of 
90% within five years. 

Sourcing in Low-Cost Countries 
We are also actively increasing our level of component sourcing 
in LCC. During 2010, sourcing in these countries rose as a por-
tion of total direct material costs by 2 percentage points to 45% 
(see graph on next page), despite a lowering effect from recent 
acquisitions. When this program was initiated in 2004, this ratio 
was less than 15%. Our target which is 50% is expected to be 
reached by the end of 2012. 

Through the above-mentioned strategies we have met our 
direct material cost reduction target of at least 3% every year, 
except in 2005 and in 2008 when, in particular, steel prices sky-
rocketed. Also during 2010, we had headwinds from higher raw 
material prices but we still managed to meet our target and 
achieved a net savings rate of 3.5%. Excluding the price effect 
from raw materials, the savings exceeded 4%, well above our 
target of at least 3%. 

Efficient Global  
Manufacturing & Purchasing
Through our effective total cost management in manufacturing and purchasing we 
create customer and shareholder value.
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Labor Productivity Improvements 
The second most important type of cost is wages, salaries and 
other labor costs. In 2010, these costs corresponded to 21.8% 
of sales, which was a reduction from 25.4% in 2007, the last 
comparable year unaffected by the financial crisis (see graph 
on previous page). 

This reduction has been achieved by restructuring of opera-
tions, expansion in LCC and move of production to LCC, and by 
continuous productivity improvements. 

Due to the crisis and the drop in light vehicle production, we 
had to reduce headcount by 4,200 or 21% in high-cost country 
(HCC) from the 2007 level. During the same three years, we 
have increased headcount by 5,600 or 26% in LCC. 

As a result, 22,000 or 72% of our direct workers were in LCC 
at the end of 2010. Our average headcount cost in LCC is only 
17% of the average headcount cost in HCC. These trends are the 
main reasons for the reduced labor cost in relation to sales. In 
addition, by moving and building capacity in emerging markets 

in Eastern Europe and Asia, Autoliv becomes well-positioned 
to take advantage of growth opportunities in these markets. 

We measure productivity improvements in manufacturing in 
labor minutes per produced unit (LMPU). During the last three 
years, we achieved LMPU reductions of approximately 6% each 
year (see graph below). Consequently, Autoliv managed to reach 
its productivity improvement target of at least 5% per year both 
when LVP dropped sharply during the crisis and in 2010 when 
there was a strong sales increase in LCC. 

Since we use less automation and more labor-intensive 
manufacturing processes in LCC, shifts of production to LCC 
can negatively impact our global average LMPU, although the 
productivity in individual LCC may actually improve. 

Through automation of our manufacturing processes, we 
can achieve productivity improvements in HCC and thereby 
continue to support our customers with manufacturing close 
to their assembly plants in North America, Western Europe 
and Japan. 

REDUCTION IN LMPU
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During 2010, Autoliv received numerous awards from customers and various organizations. One example is the Lean Manufacturing Award that was given to Autoliv Sweden in Vårgårda for its effective imple-
mentation of the lean manufacturing principles. These principles of continuous improvement have long been at the core of the Autoliv Production System (APS), providing a compass for future product, process 
and safety improvements in the pursuit for enterprise excellence. 
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our products never get a second chance. Quality is a key 
to our financial performance, since quality excellence is critical 
for winning new orders, preventing recalls and maintaining low 
scrap rates. In addition, quality improvements further enhance 
our image among customers, employees and authorities.

Therefore, we are fully committed to providing quality prod-
ucts and services to all our customers. 

This pursuit of excellence is a continuous improvement 
process, driven by our ability to anticipate and respond to the 
challenges of a rapidly changing automotive industry.

New Step in Proactive Quality Culture 
Although quality has always been paramount in the automotive 
industry, especially for safety products, vehicle manufacturers 
have become even more quality-focused with even less toler-
ance for deviations. This intensified quality-focus is partially 
due to a sudden increase in the number of vehicle recalls due 
to a variety of reasons (not just safety) coupled with a few highly 
publicized vehicle recalls. In 2010, more than 20 million vehicles 
were recalled in the U.S. alone. 

This trend is likely to continue as vehicle manufacturers 
introduce even stricter quality requirements. 

In response to this trend and to improve our own quality, we 
launched in the summer of 2010 the next step in our strategy 
of shaping a proactive quality culture of zero defects. It is called 
“Q5” because it addresses quality in five dimensions: products, 
customers, growth, behavior and suppliers. 

The goal of Q5 is to firmly tie together quality with value within 
all our processes, for all our employees, thereby leading to the 
best value for all our customers. 

We believe this will advance our leadership position even 
further in automotive safety. When we get our customers’ ac-
knowledgement and confirmation that our products and services 
are superior to anything else on the market, we know we are 
on our way toward reaching our goal. 

Quality Excellence
We can never lose sight of why we work for our company: to save lives! This is why 
we can never compromise on quality or safety.

Autoliv’s Product Development Sys-
tem (APDS) ensures that all new 
products pass five mandatory check-
points: 1) project planning, 2) concept 
definition, 3) product and process de-
velopment, 4) product and process 
validation, and 5) product launch. In 
this way, we proactively prevent prob-
lems and ensure we deliver only the 
best designs to the market.

Autoliv’s Supplier Manual (ASM) fo-
cuses on preventing bad parts from 
being produced by our suppliers, 
and helps eliminate bad intermedi-
ate products as early as possible in 
our assembly lines. 

How to Achieve Zero Defects

Product Development Supplier Manual

Flawless Products and Deliveries
In our pursuit of excellence we have developed a chain of four 
“defense lines” against quality issues. These defense lines are 
systems that should ensure 1) robust product designs, 2) flawless 
components from suppliers and our own component companies, 
and 3) on-time deliveries of flawless products to our customers. 
The fourth “defense line” is systems for verifying that our products 
conform with specifications and an advanced traceability system 
in the event of a recall (see illustration below). 

In our product conformity verifications we register all devia-
tions and include them in our quality measure, which is “parts 
per million” (PPM). 

Our quality target used to be a customer reject rate of not 
more than10 PPM. To illustrate how tough this target is, it could 
be compared to not having even one rainy day in 257 years. 
However, in accordance with our zero defect principle and our 

”

“ Aim at total 
quality in  
everything  
we do
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Through the Autoliv Production Sys-
tem (APS), all our employees are 
working according to the continuous 
improvement philosophy. Our asso-
ciates are also trained to react to 
anomalies and to understand the 
critical connection between them-
selves and our lifesaving products. 

Through the Autoliv Quality System 
(AQS) we verify flawless quality by 
using mistake-proofing methods 
such as Poka- Yoke, in-line inspec-
tions, and cameras and sensors to 
prevent us from delivering bad prod-
ucts. We also maintain an advanced 
product traceability system.

Production System Mistake Proofing

ZERO  
DEFECTS

customers' increased focus on quality, we have now tightened 
that target to no defects at all. 

When quality deviations occur, they very rarely affect the protec-
tion provided by our products. Virtually all deviations are, instead, 
due to other requirements, such as flawless labeling, precise 
delivery of the right parts at the right moment, as well as correct 
color nuance and surface texture on steering wheels and other 
products where the look and feel is important to the car buyer.

Our Quality Performance
For the last ten years, we have successfully reduced our PPM 
levels year-over-year. In the last five years, the reduction has 
been a sixfold decrease in our customer reject index (see graph). 
In 2010 alone, the reduction was 20% compared to the 2009 level. 

However, in 2010, we also experienced some quality issues, 
leading to GM recalling approximately 130,000 cars. Fortunately, 
there were no reports of injuries due to these products, but 
there was a risk that the products would not operate fully as 
intended. The cost for the recalls has already been accounted 
for in 2010. However, GM has informed us that they will award us 
new business only when specific conditions have been met (see 
also page 47). We are committed to meeting these specifications 
as quickly as possible, and expect to expand our investment in 
quality during 2011 twice as fast as our sales growth. 

Quality Improvements in the Supply Base
In our pursuit of zero defects, it is critical to prevent non-con-

forming components from entering our manufacturing plants. 
This is one of the most important “lines of defense” against 
quality issues. We therefore work very closely with our suppliers, 
and train them to meet our demanding quality requirements.

All requirements, policies and procedures for the collabora-
tion between us and our suppliers are specified in the Autoliv 
Supplier Manual (ASM). Suppliers are required to sign and ac-
cept the ASM. This is a requirement in the qualification of new 
suppliers. 

The ASM has a strong focus on quality, ranging from the 
supplier pre-qualification requirements, through supplier de-
velopment and component quality assurance, to regular sup-
plier status reviews. It also encourages suppliers to maintain 
continuous improvement programs.

Suppliers are trained to comply with the ASM and all suppli-
ers are rated in terms of quality and delivery performance on 
a monthly basis. The focus on quality in managing our supply 
base is necessary not only to ensure flawless parts but also to 
improve efficiency and low cost in our operations.

ISO Certifications
We have the policy that all of our facilities should be certified 
according to the automotive quality standard ISO/TS 16949. 
We also require our suppliers to be certified according to this 
standard or a similar quality management standard.

At the end of 2010, all of Autoliv’s manufacturing facilities 
were certified to ISO/TS 16949.
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Value-Creating Cash Flow
By creating customer satisfaction, maintaining tight cost control and developing new products, we 
generate cash for long-term growth, financial stability and competitive returns to shareholders.

autoliv has always had a strong focus on cash 
flow and cash flow generation.

On average, operations have generated $674 
million in cash per year during the last five years 
(see graph). The highest level was $924 million 
in 2010 and the lowest level $493 million in 2009. 
Consequently, even in the challenging 2009 when 
sales dropped by 21%, the Company recorded a 
substantial positive cash flow. Operating cash flow 
has always exceeded capital expenditures, even 
during the latest recession.

Capital Efficiency Improvements 
Autoliv’s strong cash flow reflects both the Com-
pany's earnings performance and improvements 
in capital efficiency. 

From a peak of $724 million at the end of 2006 
(see graph), we have released $336 million from 
inventories and other working capital items, de-
spite $1 billion higher sales in 2010.

As a result of the improved working capital ef-
ficiency, operating working capital at the end of 
2010 corresponded to 5.4% of sales, well in line 
with our policy of not more than 10%. Although, 
the 2010 (and 2009) level was exceptionally low 
due to restructuring reserves, we expect to meet 
this target also for the next few years. 

In addition, we have reduced funds tied up in 
property, plant and equipment (PPE) by 19% or 
$234 million from a peak of $1,260 million at the 
end of 2007 (see graph), despite acquisitions which 
have added $37 million. 

These improvements in operating working capi-
tal and PPE were especially significant in 2009 
and 2010 when we substantially stepped up our 
restructuring efforts. The improvements are the 
results of plant consolidations and a number of 
other activities such as outsourcing, expansion in 
low-cost countries (where less capital-intensive 
manufacturing processes can be utilized), and 
simplification of manufacturing processes by 
product redesign. 

Furthermore, goodwill and other intangibles 
have remained relatively unchanged despite ac-
quisitions. This stability is due to the fact that 
we abstained from making major acquisitions 
before the crisis in 2008 when companies were 
more expensive. It is also due to the fact that our 
subsequent acquisitions, since the third quarter 
in 2008, have only added $49 million in goodwill 
and intangibles, compared to total goodwill and 
intangibles of around $1.7 billion. 

As a result, we have reduced the average an-
nual capital employed by 11% from a peak in 2007 
of $3.5 billion to $3.1 billion in 2010. Despite this, 
sales were 6% higher in 2010 than in 2007. There-
fore, Autoliv's capital turn-over rate has improved 
by more than 19% to 2.3 times from less than 2 
times before the crisis (see graph).

We expect sales - as well as earnings - to con-
tinue to grow faster than capital employed, thereby 
continuing to generate a strong cash flow. 
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Our Cash Flow Model
When analyzing how to best use our operating 
cash flow, the Autoliv Board uses the model de-
picted above to create shareholder value. The 
model takes all important variables into account 
such as the cost of marginal borrowing, the return 
on marginal investments and the price of Autoliv 
shares. When evaluating the various uses of cash, 
the Company weighs these decisions against the 

ning in the first quarter 2009, and Standard and 
Poor's downgraded the Company three notches 
to BBB- within four months from November 2008. 
Therefore, we focused even more on cash gen-
eration and the top-priorities for the use of cash 
were to reduce debt and to participate in and drive 
consolidation of our industry. 

In 2010, $536 million of generated cash was 
therefore used for debt reduction and $551 million 
in 2009. From a peak in net debt at $1.3 billion in 
the midst of the crisis, the Company reduced its 
net debt to only $127 million at year-end 2010. 

During the first quarter 2010, we returned to 
compliance with our debt policies and on Decem-
ber 31, 2010, the leverage ratio and the interest 
coverage ratios were 0.1 times and 14.1 times, re-
spectively. In July 2010 we also regained our BBB+ 
rating.This provides flexibility to make acquisitions 
and the potential to raise returns to shareholders, 
while providing a solid financial foundation in the 
cyclical automotive business. 

Investing in Operations
To create long-term value for shareholders, cash 
flow from operations should only be used to fi-
nance investments in operations until the point 
when the return on investment no longer exceeds 
the cost of capital. In Autoliv's case, return on 
capital employed has usually (i.e. except during 
the crisis in 2008–09) exceeded 12%, which is the 
Company’s estimated cost of capital before tax (in 
2010, the return was 28%).

Consequently, in 2010, $220 million of cash 
flow was re-invested in the operation in the form 
of capital expenditures. This was an 82% increase 
from 2009, and we expect a further increase in 
2011 to $300–350 million to maintain and expand 
our business. 

In 2009, capital expenditures were below the 
long-term trend. This was not only a result of 
the crisis which reduced the long-term need for 
manufacturing capacity in high-cost countries, 
but it also reflects Autoliv's capacity build-up in 
2004–07 in China and our other growth markets. 
This enabled the Company to strengthen its lead-
ership position when those markets rebounded. 
However, the capacity in these growth markets 
has already become fully utilized. This will lead to 
a further increase in capital expenditures in 2011. 

Acquisitions
In order to further accelerate the Company's 
growth and drive industry consolidation, we used 
$141 million of the year's cash flow for acquisi-
tions of new companies or the remaining shares 
in consolidated subsidiaries. This was a significant 

need for flexibility due to the cyclical nature of the 
automotive industry. 

Debt Policy 
Autoliv's policy is to have a leverage ratio signifi-
cantly below 3.0 and an interest coverage ratio 
significantly above 2.75 (for definitions, see page 
79). We also want Autoliv to have a long-term credit 
rating that is “strong investment grade”. 

Due to the financial crisis and substantially 
increased restructuring reserves, Autoliv could 
not maintain compliance with the policies begin-

increase from $41 million in 2009.Focus was on 
acquisitions in Asia and in the fast growing seg-
ment of active safety and safety electronics. 

Shareholder Returns
Once the Company had met its debt policy, Autoliv 
could resume declaring dividends to shareholders, 
and $58 million of the 2010 cash flow was returned 
to shareholders. The first dividend, which was paid 
in the third quarter, was 30 cents per share. The 
next dividend in the fourth quarter was raised to 
35 cents per share, a 17% increase. 

Autoliv declared a dividends of 41 cents per share 
in the two quarters preceeding the crisis, corre-
sponding to an annualized pay-out of $115 million. 
Historically, the dividend typically represented a yield 
of 2-3% in relation to the Autoliv share price. 

Share Buybacks
Until the financial crisis broke out in September 
2008, Autoliv purchased its own shares but has 
not yet re-activated its existing repurchase man-
date. Repurchases of shares could create more 
value for shareholders than dividends, if the share 
price appreciates long-term, as in Autoliv's case. 
The Company's 13.8 million treasury shares have 
been repurchased at an average cost of $42.93 
per share, compared to the closing price in 2010 
of $78.94, an appreciation of 84%. 

Repurchased shares could also be used to 
quickly enhance a company's financial position. 
Autoliv took advantage of this opportunity in March 
2009 when the Company enhanced its equity base 
by using treasury shares. This capital raise also 
allowed Autoliv to acquire assets from financially 
distressed competitors, receive a credit com-
mitment on favorable terms from the European 
Investment Bank and defend and improve the 
Company's Standard & Poor's credit rating. 

Dividend Policy
Since Autoliv uses both dividend payments and 
share buybacks to create shareholder value, the 
Company has no set dividend policy. Instead, the 
Board of Directors regularly analyze which method 
is most efficient, at each time, to create share-
holder value. Management believes that such 
recurrent analyses have the potential to gener-
ate more value for Autoliv’s shareholders than a 
pre-defined dividend policy.

Share Price Performance
As a result of these value creating strategies, 
the Autoliv stock has outperformed most of its 
automotive industry peers on both the New York 
and Stockholm stock exchanges (see next page).
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Share Performance and  
Shareholder Information
The Autoliv stock increased during 2010 by close to 80% to an all-time record high.

Share Performance
In 2010, Autoliv stock recorded an all-time high, 
both on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and 
on the NASDAQ OMX Exchange in Stockholm. 

New York
On the primary market for the Autoliv securities, 
i.e. the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), Autoliv’s 
stock increased by 78% during 2010, nearly twice 
the increase of the S&P 1500 Auto Components 
Index, to close at almost $80. During the same 
period the S&P 500 index rose by just 11%.

From the beginning of 2006 to the end of 2010, 
the Autoliv share price increased by 66%, while the 
S&P 500 Index remained virtually unchanged. The 
S&P 1500 Auto Components index increased by 
21% during the same period. 

In New York, the average daily trading volume 
in Autoliv shares was 387,102 in 2010 compared 
to 424,223 in 2009. 

Stockholm
In Stockholm, the price of Autoliv Swedish De-
pository Receipts (SDR) increased by 70% to 533 
SEK during 2010 compared to a 23% increase in 
the OMX All Share Index. Compared to the OMX 
Automotive Index that was commenced at the end 
of 2006, Autoliv’s SDR has increased in line with 
its peers in Sweden. 

In Stockholm, the average daily trading volume 
increased by 40% during 2010 to 604,533 from 
435,667 in 2009. 

In 2010, the Autoliv SDR climbed 11 places to 
become the 20th most traded security in Stock-
holm. Of the total exchange trading, the Autoliv 
stock accounted for 1.6% compared to 0.7% during 
2009. In Stockholm, Autoliv’s SDRs are traded on 
the stock exchange’s list for large market capi-
talization companies.

Number of Shares
The numbers of shares outstanding increased 
during 2010 to 89.0 million from 85.1 million. 

In 2010, Autoliv accepted the accelerated ex-
change of 36% of the Company's equity units, 
originally issued in March 2009, into 3.1 million 
shares and cash. The number of shares outstand-
ing will be further increased on April 30, 2012 from 

the exchange of the remaining equity units. This 
will increase the number of shares outstanding 
with 5.7 to 6.8 million. The exact number of shares 
will depend on the average stock price shortly 
before April 30, 2012 (see Note 13). 

Stock options, if exercised, and granted Re-
stricted Stock Units (RSUs) could increase the 
number of shares outstanding by 1,155,966 and 
360,928, respectively. This in combination with the 
exchange of equity units outstanding are likely to 
increase the total number of shares by 8% to 96.2 
million (see Note 15).

In November 2007, the Board of Directors 
authorized a fourth Share Repurchase Program 
for up to 7.5 million of the Company’s shares. On 
December 31, 2010, 3.2 million shares remained 
of this mandate for repurchase. On December 
31, 2010, the Company had 13.8 million treasury 
shares, including 6.8 million which are reserved 
for the equity unit offering.

Number of Shareholders
Autoliv estimates that the total number of ben-
eficial Autoliv owners on December 31, 2010 to 
approximately 60,000 and that approximately 51% 
of the Autoliv securities were held in the U.S. and 
approximately 35% in Sweden. Most of the remain-
ing Autoliv securities were held in the U.K., Central 
Europe and Canada.

On December 31, 2010, Autoliv’s U.S. stock 
registrar had more than 2,600 holders of Autoliv 
stock, and according to our soliciting agent, there 
were nearly 40,000 beneficial holders that held 
Autoliv shares in a “street name” through a bank, 
broker or other nominee.

According to the depository bank in Sweden, 
there were 15,000 record holders of the Autoliv 
SDRs and according to the Swedish soliciting 
agent nearly 3,000 “street names” of the SDRs. 
Many of these holders are nominees for other, 
non-Swedish nominees.

The largest shareholders known to the Com-
pany are shown in the table on the next page.

Stock Incentive Plan
Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan 
adopted by the Shareholders and as further 
amended, awards have been made to selected 

executive officers of the Company and other key 
employees in the form of stock options and re-
stricted stock units (RSUs). 

All options are granted for ten-year terms, have 
an exercise price equal to the fair market value 
of the share at the date of the grant, and become 
exercisable after one year of continued employ-
ment following the grant date. 

Each RSU represents a promise to transfer one 
of the Company’s shares to the employee after 
three years of service following the date of grant 
or upon retirement (see Note 15).

Dividends
If declared by the Board, quarterly dividends are 
paid on the first Thursday in the last month of 
each quarter. 

The record date has historically been one 
month earlier and the ex date (when the stock 
trades without the right to the dividend) is typically 
two days before the record date. 

Quarterly dividends are declared separately 
by the Board, announced in press releases and 
published on Autoliv’s corporate website. 

Annual General Meeting
Autoliv’s next Annual General Meeting of Stock-
holders will be held on Tuesday, May 10, 2011, at 
The Four Seasons Hotel, 120 East Delaware Place, 
Chicago, Illinois, 60611 USA.

Stockholders are urged to vote on the Internet 
whether or not they plan to attend the meeting. 

Public Information Disclosure
We report significant events to shareholders, ana-
lysts, media and interested members of the public 
in a timely and transparent manner and give all 
constituencies the information simultaneously. 
All relevant public information is reported objec-
tively. Information given by Investor Relations is 
authorized by management. 

Financial Calendar
April 20, 2011	 Q1 Report
May 10, 2011	 Stockholders AGM
July 21, 2011	 Q2 Report
October 25, 2011	 Q3 Report
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share price and dividends

New York (US$) Stockholm (SEK) Dividend Dividend
Period High Low Close High Low Close declared paid

Q1 2010 $54.07 $40.35 $51.53 391.50 297.00 373.50 – –
Q2 2010 58.34 43.61 47.85 419.50 350.00 378.90 $0.30 –
Q3 2010 66.19 46.35 65.33 444.00 358.00 443.00 $0.35 $0.30
Q4 2010 $81.96 $64.26 $78.94 560.00 434.50 533.00 $0.40 $0.35

Q1 2009 $23.52 $12.01 $18.57 188.00 113.25 148.75 – $0.21
Q2 2009 32.40 18.04 28.77 247.50 149.00 218.50 – –
Q3 2009 37.19 26.19 33.60 265.50 209.00 234.50 – –
Q4 2009 $44.48 $31.03 $43.36 321.00 219.00 318.50 – –

key stock price data
New York Price ($) Date

Opening $44.27 Jan 4, 2010
Year high 81.96 Dec 21, 2010
Year low 40.35 Jan 28, 2010
Closing 78.94 Dec 31, 2010
All-time high 81.96 Dec 21, 2010
All-time low $12.01 Mar 6, 2009

Stockholm Price (SEK) Date

Opening 314.00 Jan 4, 2010
Year high 560.00 Dec 21, 2010
Year low 297.00 Jan 20, 2010
Closing 533.00 Dec 30, 2010
All-time high 560.00 Dec 21, 2010
All-time low 113.25 Mar 9, 2009

analysts

abg sundal collier handelsbanken 
Erik Pettersson Hampus Engellau

ålandsbanken j p morgan 
Fredrik Nilhov Himanshu Patel

bank of america key bank
Thomas Besson Brett Hoselton

r.w. baird monnes,crespi, hardt&co 
David Leiker Nick Pantazis

buckingham research morgan stanley 
Joseph Amaturo Eduardo Spina

carnegie nordea
Kenneth Toll Johan Trocmé

cheuvreux nomura 
Bruno Lapierre Alexis Albert

credit suisse öhman 
Nihal Shah Björn Enarson

danske bank penser
Carl Holmquist Johan Dahl

deutsche bank sidoti & company 
Rod Lache Adam Brooks

enskilda securities société générale 
Anders Trapp Philippe Barrier

evli standard & poor’s 
Magnus Axén Marnie Cohen 

gabelli & co swedbank 
Brian Sponheimer Niclas Höglund

goldman sachs ubs warburg 
Stefan Burgstaller Olof Cederholm

the largest shareholders1)

% No. of Shares Holder Name

6.9 6,170,000
Alecta Pension  

Insurance Mutual 
4.9 4,320,587 LSV Asset Management
4.8 4,272,339 AMF Pensionsforsakring AB
3.8 3,343,592 Swedbank Robur Fonder AB

3.2 2,873,403
Fidelity Management  

& Research Co.

1.0 900,215
Management/Directors 

 as a group2,3)

100.0 88,963,415 Total December 31, 2010

1) Known to the Company, out of approximately 60,000 sharehold-
ers. 2) As of February 22, 2011. 3) Includes 458,230 shares 
issuable upon exercise of options that are exercisable within 60 
days.
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LVP and market shifts
The most important growth driver for Autoliv’s sales is LVP. 

During the first eight months of 2008, global LVP was on its way to set a new 
record high of more than 70 million vehicles, which would have resulted in an in-
crease of 2% from the 2007 level. Even as late as April, the market institutes raised 
their expectations, to more than 71 million vehicles. However, during the early 
summer months of 2008, there were signs of weakening demand, both in China 
and North America, and subsequently during September and October, global LVP 
started to plummet following the turmoil caused by the Lehman Brothers default. 
Therefore, the outcome for the full year was a 4% LVP decline instead of the 3% 
increase expected in April. 

The decline accelerated in the first quarter 2009, when global LVP dropped by 
37% compared to the same quarter in 2008 and reached a trough at an annual-
ized run rate of only 45 million vehicles. The market challenges were exacerbat-
ed by the fact that General Motors and Chrysler were both expected to be forced 
into bankruptcies. 

However, this worst-case-scenario was narrowly avoided as GM and Chrysler 
were permitted to file for pre-arranged bankruptcies which allowed both of them 
to emerge from bankruptcy at an accelerated pace during the second quarter of 
2009. In addition, the U.S. and Canadian governments introduced supplier sup-
port programs for GM’s and Chrysler’s suppliers. In many countries (including the 
U.S.) governmental scrapping incentive programs were also introduced. These 
actions, in combination with very light monetary policies in virtually all countries, 
helped curtail the sharp drop in vehicle sales and subsequently stimulated a re-
covery of vehicle demand in the fall of 2009. As a result, the 2009 global LVP 
reached 57 million vehicles, a 13% decline from 2008 compared to the decline 
forecasted in April 2009 of 20% for the year. The improvements continued steadi-
ly into 2010 as vehicle manufacturers increased their LVP schedules, in nearly ev-
ery monthly revision, and eventually global LVP reached 71.6 million vehicles, the 
same run rate as before the crisis. 

Although the total LVP level in 2010 was the same as the run rate before the cri-
sis, there were significant differences in the LVP mix. Specifically, one fifth of Au-
toliv’s market had shifted, because LVP had dropped by nearly 20% (i.e. 8 million 
vehicles) in Europe, North America and Japan where the Company used to gen-
erate more than 80% of its revenues before the crisis. In contrast, LVP had sky-
rocketed in China, India and our other growth markets. This expansion in these 
markets was so strong (almost 11 million more vehicles) that it more than offset 
the LVP decline in the other markets. The markets in China and India stood out 
by increasing LVP in 2010 by 30% and 31%, respectively; by 48% and 17% in 2009; 
and by 6% and 11% in 2008.

Another important difference is the market share shifts among vehicle man-
ufacturers. While these changes started long before the crisis, the turbulence in 
2008 and 2009 accelerated the trends. Before the crisis, General Motors, Ford and 
Chrysler had a combined global LVP market share in 2007 of 23%. In 2008, their 
share declined to 21% and hit a low of 18% in 2009. In 2010, their market share 
recovered slightly to 19%. In contrast, the Japanese, South Korean and other Asian 
vehicle manufacturers increased their global LVP share to 53% in 2010, from 52% 
in 2009, 48% in 2008 and 47% in 2007. 

Autoliv better balanced
Autoliv managed to proactively adapt to, and take advantage of, these dramatic 
market changes. This was mainly due to the following reasons: 1) early introduc-
tion and fast execution of our Action Program (see below), 2) timely investments 
in emerging markets before these markets took off after the crisis, and 3) strate-
gic acquisitions. We have, for many years, strengthened Autoliv’s position global-
ly with the Japanese, South Korean and other Asian vehicle manufacturers. We 
have also made substantial investments in China, South Korea, India and Thai-
land. As a result of these actions and the market changes during the crisis, our 
Rest of the World region, which is mainly emerging markets, has grown to account 

Important Trends
Autoliv, Inc. (“the Company”) provides advanced technology products for the automotive market. In the three-year 
period 2008–2010 (the time period required by the SEC to be reviewed in this analysis), a number of factors have 
influenced the Company’s operations. The most notable factors have been:

•	 Significant swings in global light vehicle production (LVP) and shifts in the market 

•	 Action programs and on-going restructuring activities

•	 Financial market turmoil

            2010             20091)            20081)

Years ended Dec. 31 (Dollars in million, except eps) Reported % change Reported % change Reported % change

Global light vehicle production (in thousands) 71,582 25 57,194 (13) 66,090 (4)
Consolidated net sales $7,171 40 $5,121 (21) $6,473 (4)
Gross profit2) $1,592 88 $848 (25) $1,124 (16)
Gross margin, % 22.2 5.6 16.6 (0.8) 17.4 (2.3)
Operating income $869 1,159 $69 (78) $306 (39)
Operating margin, % 12.1 10.8 1.3 (3.4) 4.7 (2.7)
Net income attributable to controlling interest $591 5,810 $10 (94) $165 (43)
Net margin, % 8.2 8.0 0.2 (2.3) 2.5 (1.8)
Earnings per share, EPS $6.39 5,225 $0.12 (95) $2.28 (38)
Return on total equity, % 22.3 21.8 0.5 (6.8) 7.3 (4.7)

1) Severance and restructuring costs were unusually high in 2009 and 2008, when they reduced operating income by $133 and $80 million, and net income by $96 and $55 million, respectively. This 
corresponds to 2.6%, and 1.2% on operating margins, and 1.9% and 0.8% on net margins. The impact on earnings per share (EPS) was $1.14 and $0.76, while return on equity was reduced by 4.1% and 
2.3%. In 2010, severance and restructuring costs declined to levels which are consistent with historical levels before the crisis. See also the table below “Effect on key ratios of restructuring costs” and 
Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 2) Affected by fixed asset impairments of $1 million in 2010, $5 million in 2009 and $8 million in 2008. 
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for 22% of Autoliv’s sales in 2010 compared to 11% before the crisis in 2007. Ad-
ditionally, North America has now grown to 29% and Japan to 11% compared to 
25% and 9%, respectively, before the crisis. Chinese sales have risen to 11% of to-
tal sales in 2010 from 4% in 2007. In contrast, Autoliv’s high dependence on the 
European market has shrunk from 54% in 2007 to 38% in 2010. Consequently, Au-
toliv now has a much more balanced sales mix with sales from Asia, Europe and 
the Americas being essentially similar in size. This improved position in Asia is 
very important since the LVP in Asia is expected to continue to grow the most dur-
ing the next several years. 

Also as a result of our actions and the overall market changes during the 
crisis, Asian customers have grown to account globally for 35% of our sales in 
2010 from 29% in 2009, 29% in 2008, and 27% in 2007 before the crisis. Hyun-
dai/KIA has grown to become our fifth largest customer with 7% of sales com-
pared to the tenth largest customer with 4% of sales before the crisis. Conse-
quently, Autoliv’s overall customer mix has also become better balanced and 
reflects an improved position with the fastest growing vehicle manufacturers. 
For additional information on Autoliv’s dependence on certain customers and 
vehicle models, see page 47. 

Safety Content per Vehicle 
The shift in global LVP from the Triad (i.e. Europe, North America and Japan) to 
the other markets has also affected the other major growth driver for Autoliv’s 
market, i.e. the average safety content per vehicle. Up until 2004, this growth driv-
er used to increase by an average of 3% per year when LVP and vehicle sales were 
highly concentrated in the Triad. During that period, global LVP used to grow at a 
rate of 2% per year. However, for the last six years, the global average safety con-
tent per vehicle has remained almost unchanged at around $250. 

This stagnation reflects the fact that the average value is primarily deter-
mined by the balance between two conflicting trends. On one hand, the intro-
duction of new safety technologies, regulations and various rating programs of 
crash performance that increases the safety content per vehicle. On the other 
hand, the trend that the fastest growth in global LVP is in smaller vehicles with 
less safety content per vehicle. In addition, there is a continued negative effect 
from pricing pressure from vehicle manufacturers.

In 2010, global production of premium cars and light trucks was 11% less 
than in 2007 despite the fact the overall global LVP increased by 4%. This drop 
was particularly pronounced in Western Europe and North America where many 
of the premium vehicles have safety content values of more than $500. On the 
other hand, LVP grew in China and India where the average safety values per 
vehicle are less than $200 and around $60, respectively, thereby creating a di-
lutive effect on the global average number. 

However, these low safety-content vehicles also add to the size of the glob-
al automotive safety market. In addition, the safety standards of vehicles are im-
proving in the new markets with virtually every new model introduction. This is 
partly due to new regulations and crash test rating programs. For instance, Chi-
na introduced a rating program for crash performance of new vehicles in 2006, 
and Latin America introduced a similar program in 2010. NHTSA upgraded the 
U.S. crash-test rating programs in 2010 and in Europe, the Euro NCAP program 
is in the process of being upgraded. Brazil has decided to mandate frontal air-
bags in all new vehicles sold as of 2014 and India is considering introducing a 
crash-test rating program for new vehicles. All these trends should help miti-
gate the above-mentioned current dilutive mix effect from vehicles with low safe-
ty content and should enable the automotive safety market to grow almost in 
line with global LVP. 

Autoliv is also committed to capitalize on the overall market trend towards 
smaller and lighter vehicles with research and development projects aimed at 
increasing the safety of smaller cars. 

Investing for the future
This “small car safety” program was initiated in the midst of the financial crisis to 
enable Autoliv to enhance the Company’s leadership position and emerge from 
the crisis stronger than before. The program has helped Autoliv receive new or-

ders when customers, after the crisis, started again to award business. The ad-
ditional cost for this program was $17 million in 2009 and $14 million in 2010. 

During and after the crisis, we have also stepped up our R&D undertakings 
in active safety. In 2010, our R,D&E expense, net increased by 12% or $38 mil-
lion, of which $22 million was due to our stepped-up efforts in active safety. In-
vestments in active safety is also the principle reason for our plans to increase 
gross R,D&E expense in 2011 by almost $70 million. 

During and after the crisis, we have also invested in Autoliv’s future by mak-
ing several acquisitions, mainly for four reasons. We acquired the automotive 
radar business of both Tyco and Visteon (see page 42) to improve our technolo-
gy base in active safety. We acquired Delphi’s North American and European as-
sets for Occupant Protection Systems (OPS) to consolidate our industry. We ac-
quired the remaining shares of two of our partially owned subsidiaries to 
strengthen our Company: our Estonian subsidiary Norma (which is the leading 
safety supplier to the Russian market) and of our Japanese inflator company. 
Finally, we acquired Delphi’s OPS assets in Asia, which significantly strength-
ened our position in the expanding Asian market, particularly in South Korea 
and with Hyundai/Kia.

Restructuring
In response to the signs of weakening vehicle demand in the early summer of 2008, 
we announced in July 2008 an action program (“The Action Program”) that stepped 
up our restructuring efforts significantly. It led to a three-fold increase in restruc-
turing costs in 2008 to $80 million (1.2% of net sales) and a further increase in 2009 
to $133 million (2.6% of sales), while restructuring costs fell back in 2010 to $21 
million (0.3% of sales) which is consistent with historical levels prior to the crisis. 

In 2010, cash payments for severance compensations to employees amount-
ed to $66 million, while remaining reserves for future employee-related restruc-
turing payments amounted to $48 million at the end of the year. Of the 2009 re-
structuring costs, $50 million was paid in that year for severance compensation 
to employees and $5 million was for impairment costs. Of the 2008 restructur-
ing cost, $31 million was paid for severance compensations to employees and 
$8 million was for asset impairment write-offs. 

The Action Program and other restructuring actions generated year-over-
year cost savings of approximately $70 million in 2010 and $135 million in 2009. 
The margin improvements hereto represented 1.0% of net sales in 2010 and 
2.6% of net sales in 2009. In 2008, the margin improvement effect from the pro-
gram was insignificant. See also Note 10 to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included herein for further information on our restructuring activities and The 
Action Program. 

The effects on certain key ratios from restructuring costs are provided in the 
table on the next page.

The Action Program and other restructuring activities reduced headcount 
by nearly 10,000 people or close to 25% within nine months following the an-
nouncement of the program in July 2008. After these nine months, we saw sta-
bilization in global LVP during the second quarter 2009 and, in the third quar-
ter, a gradual LVP-recovery started. In response, we increased the levels of 
temporary manufacturing personnel and headcount in low-cost countries (LCC), 
while we continued to reduce the numbers of permanent employees, indirect 
personnel in overhead functions and headcount in high-cost countries (HCC). 
Consequently, at the end of 2010, Autoliv had 63% of total headcount in LCC 
compared to 52% at the start of the three-year period, 30% of headcount was 
indirect personnel in overhead functions compared to 34% at the beginning of 
2008, and the level of temporary personnel was 20% compared to 16% at the 
beginning of 2008. These headcount shifts have given us more flexibility in our 
cyclical business, an even better presence in the growth markets of our indus-
try, and a significantly lower break-even point. 

Cost Structure 
As a result of our transformation of Autoliv during the crisis, we estimate that the 
Company’s net sales break-even point is approximately $0.8 billion lower than be-
fore the crisis.
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kets became increasingly tighter and light vehicle demand dropped significantly. 
In response, we took several pre-cautionary actions to preserve cash and strength-
en Autoliv’s financial position. This was in addition to the Action Program an-
nounced in July 2008. After the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers in September 
2008, we raised the equivalent of $250 million in new long-term credit facilities 
and notes, and suspended repurchasing our shares. We also decided, in Decem-
ber 2008, to reduce the Company’s quarterly dividend for the first quarter 2009 by 
nearly 50% and, in February 2009, to suspend further dividend payments. Further-
more, we reduced Autoliv’s capital expenditures, tightened working capital con-
trol and, in March 2009, raised $377 million through the sale of treasury shares 
and equity units (see page 44). The day after the equity offering, Standard and 
Poor’s changed its outlook for Autoliv from negative to stable in the midst of the 
financial crisis and, in November 2009, Standard and Poor’s raised its long-term 
credit rating for Autoliv from BBB- to BBB with a stable outlook. This was the first 
rating upgrade of an investment-grade company in the automotive industry after 
the financial turmoil began with the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy. In July 2010, 
Standard and Poor’s further upgraded Autoliv to “BBB+ with a stable outlook”. 
The Company has thus restored its credit rating in line with its objective of main-
taining a strong investment-grade rating.

Through the crisis (and throughout the Company’s entire history), Autoliv 
generated positive operating cash flows in all quarters except in the first quar-
ter 2009 when sales dropped by nearly 50% compared to the same quarter 2008. 
Although the Company recorded a negative cash flow of $9 million in that quar-
ter, cash flow from operations for the full year 2009 amounted to $493 million 
and further improved in 2010 to a record high of $924 million. As a result, net 
debt (non-US GAAP measure, see page 38) was reduced by 45% or $533 million 
during 2009 to $662 million at the end of the year and by 81% or $535 million 
during 2010 to $127 million at December 31. 

At the end of 2010, Autoliv not only had a record low net debt but also had a 
larger amount available from long-term borrowing facilities than ever before. 
This provides the Company with the flexibility to make strategic acquisitions in 
addition to providing a solid financial foundation in the cyclical automotive busi-
ness while returning funds to shareholders. 

Primarily due to substantially increased restructuring provisions during 2009, 
Autoliv was not compliant with its internal debt limitation policy (see pages 48-
49) between the first quarter and last quarter of 2009. As the Company returned 
to compliance with its policies in the first quarter of 2010, we decided, in May 
2010, to resume dividend payments and, in August and December, to increase 
dividend payments by a total of 33%. Dividend payments were resumed at 30 
cents per share for the third quarter 2010 and then raised by 17% to 35 cents 
for the fourth quarter and subsequently raised by 14% to 40 cents to be paid in 
the first quarter 2011. The total dividend paid will then be 16% higher than the 
highest dividend amount paid before the crisis.

This improvement is mainly due to labor cost reductions and lower depreciation 
(see below). Total labor costs have been reduced to correspond to 21.8% of sales 
in 2010 from 25.4% before the crisis (and from 26.0% in 2008 and 26.2% in 2009). 
These improvements reflect both our expansion in LCC and restructuring actions 
which have reduced, in particular, headcount in HCC and indirect personnel in 
overheads. The improvements also reflect productivity enhancements and moves 
of production to low-cost countries. The productivity improvements in manufac-
turing are estimated to have been 6% per year during the period 2008-2010. It is 
worth noting that Autoliv’s productivity improvement target, which is at least 5% 
per year, was achieved even in 2009 despite the sharp drop in production volumes. 

The reduction in depreciation stems from plant closures in high-cost coun-
tries. New manufacturing capacity required in response to the increased LVP 
has been concentrated in LCC, where the cost for buildings and machinery are 
lower and where less capital-intensive manufacturing processes and more au-
tomation can be used. This shift in Autoliv’s manufacturing structure has had a 
favorable effect on the Company’s ratio of fixed assets to sales (see page 30). 

In 2008, Autoliv was forced to absorb nearly $60 million in higher costs in the 
supply chain due to increasing raw material prices. These prices then fell back 
in 2009 to approximately the same levels as in 2007, resulting in cost savings of 
nearly $60 million in 2009. Commodity costs increased again in 2010, resulting 
in close to $20 million of extra costs. In spite of only a modest increase in raw 
material costs during the full three-year period, the impact has been exacer-
bated by the continuous sales price erosion in our industry. Therefore, the com-
bined effects have caused the cost for raw materials to increase to 24.9% of 
sales in 2010 from 22.0% in 2008 and 20.4% before the crisis. However, despite 
this negative impact from raw material prices, we have managed to reduce Au-
toliv’s direct material costs (of which raw materials is the most important cost 
component) below 52% of sales again as in 2007 from 52.4% in 2008 and 51.8% 
in 2009. This is due to an increased level of component sourcing in LCC, produc-
tivity improvements in the supply chain, supplier consolidations, standardiza-
tion of components and other sourcing improvement activities as well as rede-
sign of products in order to reduce weight and raw material content of our 
products.

Response to the Financial Turmoil 
Beginning in the summer of 2007, credit markets started to deteriorate. In re-
sponse, in November 2007, Autoliv executed its largest and longest debt place-
ment ever to further reduce its refinancing risk. This $400 million U.S. private 
placement with the longest tranche maturing in 2019 (see Note 12), helped us 
when the financial crisis hit the market less than one year later and the com-
mercial paper market dried up. 

However, between November 2008 and February 2009, Standard and Poor’s 
downgraded Autoliv’s credit rating three notches from A- to BBB- as the credit mar-

Effect on key ratios of restructuring costs                  Reported                             Effect of restructuring costs
(Dollars in million, except eps) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Gross profit $1,592 $848 $1,124 $(1)1) $(5)1) $(8)1)

Operating income $869 $69 $306 $(21) $(133) $(80)
Income before income taxes $806 $6 $249 $(21) $(133) $(80)
Net income $595 $13 $172 $(16) $(96) $(55)
Earnings per share $6.39 $0.12 $2.28 $(0.17) $(1.14) $(0.76)
Net cash provided by operating activities $924 $493 $614 $(66) $(85) $(31)
Gross margin, % 22.2 16.6 17.4 (0.0) (0.1) (0.1)
Operating margin, % 12.1 1.3 4.7 (0.3) (2.6) (1.3)

1) Impairments of fixed assets.
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In this Annual Report we sometimes refer to non-U.S. GAAP measures that we 
and securities analysts use in measuring Autoliv’s performance. 

We believe that these measures assist investors in analyzing trends in the 
Company’s business for the reasons given below. Investors should not consid-
er these non-U.S. GAAP measures as substitutes, but rather as additions to fi-
nancial reporting measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

These non-U.S. GAAP measures have been identified, as applicable, in each 
section of this Annual Report with tabular presentations on this page and page 
49, reconciling them to U.S. GAAP.

It should be noted that these measures, as defined, may not be comparable 
to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

Organic Sales
We analyze the Company’s sales trends and performance as changes in “organic 
sales growth”, because the Company currently generates nearly 80% of net sales 
in currencies other than the reporting currency (i.e. U.S. dollars) and currency rates 
have proven to be very volatile. Another reason for using organic sales is to reflect 
the fact that the Company has made several acquisitions and divestitures. 

Organic sales presents the increase or decrease in the overall U.S. dollar 
net sales on a comparable basis, allowing separate discussions of the impact 
of acquisitions/divestitures and exchange rates. 

The tabular reconciliation below presents changes in “organic sales growth” 
as reconciled to the change in total U.S. GAAP net sales. 

               Europe                N. America                 Japan                RoW                Total
2010 vs. 2009 % $ % $ % $ % $ % $

Organic change 11.0 $278.9 54.6 $650.0 51.7 $257.9 41.9 $375.5 30.5 $1,562.3
Currency effects (3.5) (88.4) 1.6 19.5 6.7 33.6 5.1 46.2 0.2 10.9
Acquisitions/divestitures 0.7 16.4 16.3 194.0 – – 29.7 266.3 9.3 476.7
Reported change 8.2 $206.9 72.5 $863.5 58.4 $291.5 76.7 $688.0 40.0 $2,049.9

 
               Europe                N. America                 Japan                RoW                Total

2009 vs. 2008 % $ % $ % $ % $ % $

Organic change (20.8) $(713.5) (18.1) $(273.7) (42.3) $(313.2) 20.2 $158.6 (17.6) $(1,141.8)
Currency effects (6.0) (208.7) (3.9) (58.4) 9.8 72.5 (6.0) (46.8) (3.8) (241.4)
Acquisitions/divestitures 0.5 17.6 0.9 13.1 – – – – 0.5 30.7
Reported change (26.3) $(904.6) (21.1) $(319.0) (32.5) $(240.7) 14.2 $111.8 (20.9) $(1,352.5)

Reconciliation of “Operating working capital” to U.S. GAAP measure
(Dollars in millions)

December 31 2010 2009 2008

Total current assets $2,688.6 $2,179.6 $2,086.3
Total current liabilities (1,834.5) (1,693.5) (1,380.7)
Working capital 854.1 486.1 705.6
Cash and cash equivalents (587.7) (472.7) (488.6)
Short-term debt 87.1 318.6 270.0
Derivative asset and liability, current (0.7) 3.4 15.9
Dividends payable 35.6 – 14.8
Operating working capital $388.4 $335.4 $517.7

Reconciliation of “Net debt” to U.S. GAAP measure
(Dollars in millions)

December 31 2010 2009 2008

Short-term debt $87.1 $318.6 $270.0
Long-term debt 637.7 820.7 1,401.1
Total debt 724.8 1,139.3 1,671.1
Cash and cash equivalents (587.7) (472.7) (488.6)
Debt-related derivatives (10.0) (4.5) 12.8
Net debt $127.1 $662.1 $1,195.3

Operating Working Capital
Due to the need to optimize cash generation to create val-
ue for shareholders, management focuses on operating 
working capital as defined in the table to the left. 

The reconciling items used to derive this measure 
are, by contrast, managed as part of our overall man-
agement of cash and debt, but they are not part of the 
responsibilities of day-to-day operations’ management. 

Net Debt
As part of efficiently managing the Company’s overall cost 
of funds, we routinely enter into “debt-related derivatives” 
(DRD) as part of our debt management. The most notable 
DRD were entered into in connection with the 2007 U.S. 
Private Placements. 

Creditors and credit rating agencies use net debt ad-
justed for DRD in their analyses of the Company’s debt 
and therefore we provide this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

By adjusting for DRD, the total financial liability of net 
debt is disclosed without grossing it up with currency or 
interest fair market values that are offset by DRD report-
ed in other balance sheet captions. 

Components in Sales Increase/Decrease (Dollars in millions)

Non-U.S. GAAP Performance Measures
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Outlook for 2011
According to IHS (formerly CSM), global LVP is expected to grow by nearly 6% 
during the first quarter of 2011 and at an average annual rate of around 5% dur-
ing the full year 2011. 

However, LVP in the important West European market is expected to increase 
by less than 2% in the first quarter and by less than 1% for the full year, while most 
of the global LVP growth is expected to be generated in China (up 10% for the full 
year) and other markets where the average safety content per vehicle is much 
less than in Europe. 

In North America, LVP should continue to recover and is expected to increase 
by 15% in the first quarter and at an annual average rate of slightly more than 8% 
for the full year, while full year LVP in Japan is expected to decline by 4% mainly 
due to the expiration of governmental vehicle incentives at the end of September 
2010. 

All of these predictions for the LVP market are based on forecasts from the 
market institute IHS. 

Based on call-offs from our customers for the first quarter and primarily on IHS’s 
forecast for the full year, Autoliv’s organic sales (non-U.S. GAAP, see page 38) are 
expected to grow by more than 10% during the first quarter and by 6% during the 
full year 2011. Sales are also expected to increase by 6 percentage points in the 
first quarter as result of the year-over-year effect from the Delphi OPS acquisi-
tion in Asia which was completed on March 31, 2010, and by 2% for the full year. 
Currency effects are expected to have a positive impact of 2% in the first quarter 
and 3% for the full year, provided that the mid-February exchange rates prevail. 
Consequently, consolidated sales are expected to grow by around 20% for the first 
quarter and by more than 10% for the full year 2011. 

An operating margin of at least 11.5% is expected for both the first quarter 
2011 and the full year. This indication includes almost $70 million higher R,D&E 
expenses, mainly for projects in active safety, and higher raw material costs of 
close to $60 million, based on current estimates. The projected effective tax rate 
is estimated to be around 29% for 2011.

In 1997, Autoliv AB (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv, Inc.) acquired Marling 
Industries plc (“Marling”). At that time, Marling was involved in a litigation relat-
ing to the sale in 1992 of a French subsidiary. The plaintiff sought damages of €40 
million (approximately $53 million) claiming that Marling and another entity then 
part of the Marling group, had failed to disclose certain facts in connection with 
the 1992 sale and that such failure was the proximate cause of losses in the amount 
of the damages sought. In May 2006, a French court ruled that Marling (now named 
Autoliv Holding Limited) and the other entity had failed to disclose certain facts in 
connection with the 1992 sale and appointed an expert to assess the losses. Au-
toliv appealed the May 2006 decision. During the fourth quarter of 2010, settle-
ment discussions resulted in Autoliv agreeing to pay an immaterial amount in ex-
change for a release from all liability in this matter. 

In August 2010, Takata-Petri AG (“Takata-Petri”) filed a complaint against Au-
toliv, ASP (“ASP”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv, alleging that ASP supplied 
defective inflators to Takata-Petri and sought damages in the amount of €18.5 
million (approximately $24 million). Takata-Petri had used the inflators in a driv-
er airbag module designed and sold by Takata-Petri to a vehicle manufacturer 
(“OEM”). The OEM installed Takata-Petri’s airbag module in a vehicle that the OEM 
subsequently recalled due to the vehicle’s failure to meet all relevant specifica-
tions. ASP rejected the claim. During the fourth quarter of 2010, Takata withdrew 
its claim.   

In 2009, Autoliv initiated a “voluntary closure due to economical reasons” of its 
Normandy Precision Components (NPC) plant located in France. Employment con-
tracts of fourteen “protected employees” (i.e., union representatives) may under 
French law be terminated only with the approval of the authorities. Such approval 
has been refused for six of the fourteen protected employees, and those six em-
ployees are seeking continued employment and other benefits for (at least) the du-
ration of their tenure as union representatives, which may be several years. In par-

allel, most of the other former NPC-employees filed a claim in a French court in 
September 2010, alleging damages for “unfair dismissal” in an aggregate amount 
of €11 million (approximately $15 million). While we intend to vigorously defend 
against these actions, the outcome of this legal dispute is difficult to predict and 
any reserves may not be sufficient to cover any associated expense, since French 
labor law is complex and grants significant discretionary authority to French courts. 

On April 19, 2010, SEVA Technologies SA (“SEVA”) initiated actions against sev-
eral employees and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Autoliv, Inc.  In the actions, SEVA 
alleges that following preliminary discussions with SEVA starting in 2006, Autoliv’s 
subsidiaries misappropriated SEVA’s confidential information disclosed to such 
subsidiaries under a non-disclosure agreement and used such information to ob-
tain a patent. SEVA is principally seeking to have SEVA declared the owner of the 
patent and certain former SEVA employees declared the inventors of the patent. 
SEVA has also indicated that it may seek damages of €22 million (approximately 
$29 million). Autoliv rejected the claims, intends to vigorously defend itself against 
the same and has made no provisions for any expenses relating thereto.

On March 31, 2009, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) field examination team 
examining the Company’s 2003-2005 U.S. income tax returns issued an examina-
tion report in which the examination team proposed to increase the Company’s 
U.S. taxable income due to alleged incorrect transfer pricing. The Company, after 
consultation with its tax counsel, filed a protest to the examination report with the 
Appeals Office of the IRS. The Appeals Office, in a letter dated June 1, 2010, in-
formed the Company that it had concluded that the IRS should withdraw all of the 
adjustments that would have increased the Company’s taxable income due to al-
leged incorrect transfer pricing. The Appeals Office determination is subject to 
certain further reviews. The Company is neither able to estimate when these re-
views will be completed nor assure their satisfactory outcome. See Note 4 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information.

Significant Litigation 
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Component of Change in Net Sales in 2010 Airbag Products1) Seatbelt Products2) Total

Organic change 34.1% 24.0% 30.5%
Currency effects 0.1% 0.5% 0.2%
Acquisitions/divestitures 11.5% 5.2% 9.3%
Reported change 45.7% 29.7% 40.0%
1) Includes active safety systems, passive safety electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators; 2) Includes seat components

Net Sales
Net sales for 2010 increased by 40% or $2,050 million to $7,171 million, primarily 
due to a 31% or $1,562 million increase in organic sales (non-U.S. GAAP measure, 
see page 38) and a 9% or $477 million effect from acquisitions (see page 42). Cur-
rency effects of $11 million had an insignificant effect on the overall sales growth. 

Organic sales rose 6 percentage points (p.p.) more than the 25% LVP increase, 
mainly due to China where organic sales grew more than twice as fast as LVP. The 
strong performance was also due to our operations in Japan and North America 
where production recoveries were particularly strong for premium vehicles with 
high safety content whose production dropped the most during the crisis. 

Organic sales increased by 64% in the first quarter from the depressed levels 
in the same quarter in 2009. In the second quarter, organic sales recovered by 
40%, by 23% in the third quarter and by 12% in the fourth quarter. 

Organic sales of airbag products rose by 34% compared to a 22% increase in 
LVP in the Triad, which is the primary market for airbags. Autoliv’s strong perfor-
mance primarily reflects the Company’s strong position in side-impact airbags 
whose sales are growing faster than the sales of frontal airbags. 

Organic sales of seatbelt products increased by 24%, virtually in line with LVP 
growth. This reflects strong sales of active seatbelts and other high value-added 
belts, new business primarily with Asian vehicle manufacturers and Autoliv’s strong 
position in the expanding Chinese market. 

In Europe, which accounted for more than 35% of net sales, organic sales in-
creased by 11%, which was virtually in line with the recovery in the important West 
European market where LVP rose by 12%. 

In North America, which accounted for approximately 30% of net sales, or-
ganic sales rose by 55%. This was 16 p.p. more than the increase in North Amer-
ican LVP, which was mainly due to new business with Ford, Chrysler and GM.

In Japan, which accounted for more than one tenth of net sales, organic sales 
rose by 52% which was 33 p.p. more than the increase in Japanese LVP. This pri-
marily reflects the strong recoveries for premium vehicles. 

In the Rest of the World (RoW), which generated slightly less than 25% of net 
sales, organic sales grew by 42%. This was 15 p.p. higher than the growth in the 
region’s LVP, primarily due to Autoliv’s successes in the Chinese markets.

Gross Profit
Gross profit increased by 88% or $744 million to $1,592 million and gross margin 
to 22.2% from 16.6% in 2009, primarily due to higher sales and saving effects from 
our restructuring activities. This, in combination with savings in component costs, off-
set the inherent sales price erosion in the automotive industry. The net savings in com-
ponent costs are estimated to amount to 3.5% for 2010, despite a nearly $20 million 
negative effect from higher raw material prices. 

Gross margin reached 22.3% in the first quarter, 22.9% in the second quarter, 
21.5% in the third and 22.2% in the fourth quarter compared to 8.7%, 15.6%, 18.0% 
and 20.4%, respectively, in the same quarters in 2009. 

Operating Income
Operating income improved by $800 million to $869 million and operating margin 
to 12.1% from 1.3% in 2009. This was mainly due to the gross profit improvement, 
$112 million lower restructuring charges, and year-over-year marginal improving 

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Versus 2009

cost savings in 2010 due to restructuring efforts commenced in 2008. In 2010, re-
structuring charges amounted to $21 million which had a 0.3 percentage point 
negative margin effect compared to $133 million and 2.6 percentage points in 2009. 

These positive income effects were partially offset by $39 million higher Re-
search, Development and Engineering (R,D&E) expense, net and by $27 million 
higher Selling, General & Administrative (S,G&A) expense. Higher R,D&E expense 
reflects a strong order intake and higher expense for new active safety projects 
and new safety projects for small cars, which were initiated as a part of The Ac-
tion Program in 2008. Higher S,G&A partially reflects the effect of acquisitions. 
However, in relation to sales, R,D&E expense, net declined to 5.0% from 6.3% in 
2009 and S,G&A expense declined to 4.6% from 5.9%.

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net decreased by 18% or $11 million to $51 million compared 
to 2009. Average net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 38) decreased by 
54% or $500 million to $433 million during 2010. 

Net debt at the end of 2010 was reduced by $535 million to $127 million, de-
spite $94 million higher capital expenditures, net, and $141 million for acquisi-
tions and purchases of shares in subsidiaries (see page 42). The net debt reduc-
tion was primarily due to operational cash flow of $924 million and a $46 million 
effect from an accelerated exchange of equity units in the second quarter (see 
page 44). This exchange had a negative income effect of $12 million due to a re-
lated extinguishment of debt. 

The weighted annual average interest rate, net increased to 11.8% from 6.7% in 
2009. This reflects the fact that the strong cash flow reduced short-term debt with low 
interest rates much more than long-term debt. It also reflects the fact that the return 
on the cash on deposit is significantly lower than the average borrowing cost and the 
fact that the highest interest rate for some of the remaining debt is 15% (see Note 12). 

Income Taxes
Income before taxes increased by $800 million to $806 million primarily due to 
higher operating income. 

Income tax expense was $210 million, net of discrete tax items of $18 million, 
resulting in an effective tax rate of 26.1%. For 2009, income taxes were a benefit 
of $7 million. During 2010, a substantial amount of previously unrecognized for-
eign tax credits were utilized in connection with internal dividends paid to the U.S.

See Note 4 to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. 

Net Income and Earnings per Share
Net income attributable to the controlling interest improved by $581 million to 
$591 million, resulting in a net income margin of 8.2% compared to 0.2% in 2009. 

Earnings per share assuming dilution improved by $6.27 to $6.39 due to high-
er net income, partially offset by more shares outstanding. The weighted average 
number of shares outstanding assuming dilution increased by 9% to 92.4 million 
primarily as a result of the sale of treasury shares in March 2009, the exchange 
of 2.3 million equity units in 2010 (see Note 13) and a dilutive effect from the re-
maining equity units (see Note 20). The higher number of shares outstanding had 
a 60 cent negative effect on earnings per share. 
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Component of Change in Net Sales in 2009 Airbag Products1) Seatbelt Products2) Total

Organic change (17.9)% (17.2)% (17.6)%
Currency effects (2.9)% (5.0)% (3.8)%
Acquisitions/divestitures 0.7% 0.0% 0.5%
Reported change (20.1)% (22.2)% (20.9)%
1) Includes safety electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators; 2) Includes seat components

Operating Income
Operating income decreased by $238 million to $69 million and operating mar-
gin declined to 1.3% from 4.7% in 2008. In 2009, restructuring costs reduced op-
erating income and margin by $133 million or 2.6 percentage points, respec-
tively, compared to $80 million and 1.3 percentage points in 2008. The decline 
in operating income and margin also reflect the 21% lower sales level. 

These negative effects were partially offset by the Company’s costs savings 
initiatives which are estimated to have improved operating margin by 2.6 per-
centage points in 2009. Selling, general and administrative expense was reduced 
by 15% or $54 million and R,D&E expense, net by 12% or $45 million despite 
$17 million in additional expense for new safety projects for small cars, started 
as a part of The 2008 Action Program. 

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net increased by 4% or $2 million to $62 million despite a 23% 
lower average net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 38) than during 2008. 

Interest expense, net increased primarily as a result of the new debt issued 
in the first quarter 2009 (see page 44) but also because of precautionary bor-
rowing in 2008 in response to the financial crisis. The cash from these borrow-
ing facilities was primarily invested in Swedish and U.S. government notes which 
carried interest rates that were significantly lower than the borrowing cost. As 
a result, the weighted annual average interest rate, net increased to 6.7% in 
2009 from 5.0% in 2008.

Average net debt decreased by $280 million to $933 million during 2009 from 
$1,213 million during the previous year. 

Net debt at the end of 2009 was reduced by $553 million to $662 million from 
$1,195 million at December 31, 2008. This was thanks to strong operational cash 
flow, sharply reduced capital expenditure levels, efficient management of work-
ing capital and the sales of treasury shares (see page 44). 

Income Taxes
Income before taxes decreased by $243 million to $6 million from $249 million 
in 2008. 

Income tax was a benefit of $7 million (net of a cost of $7 million from dis-
crete tax items) compared to a tax expense of $76 million in 2008 at an effec-
tive tax rate of 31%. See Note 4 to Consolidated Financial Statements includ-
ed herein. 

Net Income and Earnings per Share
Net income attributable to the controlling interest dropped by $155 million. How-
ever, net income was still positive at $10 million despite the sales drop of $1.4 
billion and restructuring charges of $133 million. Net margin amounted to 0.2%. 

In 2008, net income amounted to $165 million and net margin to 2.5%. 
Earnings per share assuming dilution amounted to $0.12 compared to $2.28 

in 2008. In 2009, severance and restructuring costs reduced earnings per share 
by $1.14 and more shares outstanding by $0.02. 

The weighted average number of shares outstanding increased by 17% to 
84.5 million primarily as a result of the sale in the first quarter of treasury shares 
and equity units (see page 44).

Net Sales 
Net sales for 2009 decreased by 21% or $1,353 million to $5,121 million due to 
a 18% or $1,142 million decline in organic sales (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see 
page 38) and a 4% or $241 million negative currency effect. This was partially 
offset by acquisitions (see page 42) which added $31 million or 0.5% to net sales. 

The organic sales decline of 18% was 5 percentage points (p.p.) more than 
the decline in global LVP of 13%. This was due to the sharp decline of 26% in 
LVP in the Triad (i.e. North America, Europe and Japan) where Autoliv gener-
ates more than 80% of sales. 

Organic sales decreased by 40% in the first quarter compared to the same 
period in 2008, by 28% in the second quarter, by 12% in the third but increased 
by 26% in the fourth quarter primarily due to a favorable comparison in relation 
to the fourth quarter 2008. 

Organic sales of airbag products declined by 18%, mainly due to the 26% drop 
in LVP in the triad which is the primary market for airbags. However, in the Rest 
of the World region, airbag sales continued to grow, however from a low level. 

Organic sales of seatbelt products fell by 17%, which was 4 percentage points 
more than the decline in global LVP. This reflects the sharp LVP drops in North 
America of 32% and Western Europe of 19%, exacerbated by the fact that seat-
belts for these markets are more sophisticated with a higher value than a glob-
al-average seatbelt. These negative effects were partially offset by new busi-
ness, mainly in the booming Chinese market. 

In Europe, where Autoliv generates almost half of net sales, organic sales 
declined by 21%, in line with the 21% decline in European LVP. 

In North America, which accounts for almost one quarter of net sales, or-
ganic sales declined by 18%. This was 14 percentage points less than the 32% 
drop in North American LVP, primarily due to new business for Ford’s F-Series; 
Chevrolet’s Traverse and Equinox; and Toyota’s Rav4 and Venza.

In Japan, which accounts for less than one tenth of net sales, organic sales 
fell by 42%. This was due to a general decline in Japanese LVP of 30%, exacer-
bated by an even sharper drop for vehicles with high safety content for export 
markets in North America and Western Europe.

In the Rest of the World (RoW), which generates one sixth of net sales, or-
ganic sales grew by 20% compared to a 13% increase in the region’s LVP. Auto-
liv’s strong performance reflects new launches in primarily China and India 
where LVP grew by 48% and 17%, respectively. This favorable effect was partial-
ly offset by an 8% decline in LVP in the important South Korean market.

Gross Profit
In 2009, gross profit decreased by 25% or $276 million to $848 million and gross 
margin to 16.6% from 17.4% in 2008. 

This was primarily due to $1.4 billion lower sales resulting from the sharp 
LVP declines, especially at the beginning of the year. This caused gross margin 
to drop to 8.7% in the first quarter. 

Gross margin subsequently improved to 15.6% in the second quarter, to 
18.0% in the third and to 20.4% in the fourth quarter 2009. This sequential im-
provement reflects both a recovery in LVP during the year and our restructur-
ing efforts as well as, to a lesser extent, lower year-over-year prices for raw 
materials. 

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Versus 2008
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Liquidity, Resources and Financial Position
Cash from Operations
Cash flow from operations, together with available financial resources and cred-
it facilities are expected to be adequate to fund Autoliv’s anticipated working 
capital requirements, capital expenditures, potential acquisitions and future div-
idend payments.

Cash provided by operating activities was $924 million in 2010, $493 million 
in 2009 and $614 million in 2008. 

While management of cash and debt is important to the overall business, it 
is not part of the operational managements’ day-to-day responsibilities. We 
therefore focus on operationally derived working capital and have set the target 
that this key ratio should not exceed 10% of the last 12-month net sales. 

At December 31, 2010, operating working capital (non-U.S. GAAP measure 
see page 38) stood at $388 million corresponding to 5.4% of net sales compared 
to $335 million corresponding to 6.5% of net sales at December 31, 2009, and 
$518 million or 8.0% at December 31, 2008. At December 31, this ratio was re-
duced by 0.7 percentage points from provisions for restructuring charges in 2010, 
by 2.0 points in 2009 and by 0.9 points in 2008. 

Our 2010 year-end operating working capital ratio was favorably impacted 
by the sale of receivables and discounting of notes of in total $65 million (see 
“Treasury Activities” on page 44), and by $93 million in 2009.

Days receivables outstanding (see page 79 for definition) decreased to 69 at 
December 31, 2010 from 75 days one year earlier. At December 31, 2008, days 
receivable outstanding was unusually low at 49 days due to the significant sales 
drop in December that year. Factoring agreements did not have any material ef-
fect on days receivables outstanding for 2010, 2009 or 2008. 

Days inventory outstanding (definition on page 79) decreased to 32 days at 
December 31, 2010 from 40 days at December 31, 2009 and from 39 days at De-
cember 31, 2008. In 2009, inventories were increased due to the acquisition of 
Delphi North America and Europe (see “Acquisitions and Other Business Com-
binations”).

Capital Expenditures
Cash generated by operating activities continued to be adequate to cover capi-
tal expenditures for property, plant and equipment.

Capital expenditures, gross were $236 million in 2010, $140 million in 2009 
and $293 million in 2008, corresponding to 3.3% of net sales in 2010, 2.7% in 
2009 and 4.5% in 2008. 

In 2010, capital expenditures, net of $224 million were $58 million less than 
depreciation and amortization of $282 million. In 2009, they were $184 million 
less and in 2008 $68 million less than depreciation and amortization of $314 
million and $347 million, respectively. 

These differences are due to three reasons: First, our decision to reduce 
manufacturing capacity in response to lower LVP-levels caused by the crisis. 
Second, most of the depreciation stems from capital expenditures in high-cost 
countries, while current capital expenditures are to a higher degree focused in 
our growth markets where construction costs and cost for machinery are gen-
erally lower. Third, in low-cost countries (LCC) it is possible to use less automa-
tion, which reduces capital expenditures for manufacturing lines even more. 

Capital expenditures for 2011 are expected to be in the range of $300-350 
million, in line with our long-term expectation of approximately 4% of sales.

Acquisitions and Other Business Combinations
The total cost (net of cash acquired) of business combinations and acquisitions 
of subsidiary shares amounted to $141 million in 2010, $41 million in 2009 and 
$49 million in 2008. In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for 2010 on 
page 54, $77 million of these costs are reported in “Acquisition of businesses, 
net of cash acquired” while $64 million that relate to acquiring remaining shares 
in the subsidiaries AS Norma and Autoliv Nichiyu Co. Ltd. (see below) are re-

ported in “Acquisition of subsidiary shares from non-controlling interest”. For 
the prior years, the acquisitions of non-controlling interests were not material. 

Historically, the Company has made several acquisitions. However, due to 
high market prices of targeted assets and companies, Autoliv made few acqui-
sitions in the years before the financial crisis and only on a very selective basis. 
Subsequently, we made acquisitions as a means of participating in a consolida-
tion of the automotive safety industry. Generally, we focus on two primary growth 
areas around our core business with the greatest potentials: Asia and active 
safety systems. 

As part of the much-needed consolidation of our industry, Delphi Corpora-
tion announced in the spring of 2009 that it wanted to exit the passive safety sys-
tems market. As a result, in December 2009, several Delphi customers in North 
America and Europe re-sourced contracts to Autoliv, and we concurrently ac-
quired certain assets to deliver Delphi-designed airbags, seatbelts and steer-
ing wheels specified in these contracts. These re-sourced contracts generated 
sales of more than $200 million during 2010. 

At the end of March 2010, most of Delphi’s airbag and seatbelt customers in 
Asia also re-sourced their contracts to Autoliv and we acquired the related as-
sets from Delphi. This acquisition generated more than $250 million of sales 
during the remaining nine months of 2010. Finally, in August 2010, Autoliv ac-
quired Delphi’s 51% interest in the Chinese seatbelt joint venture Beijing Del-
phi Safety Product Co. Ltd (BDS). This company has annual sales of approxi-
mately $30 million. 

The costs for the acquisitions of Delphi’s OPS assets in Asia (including BDS) 
amounted to $73 million, and to $107 million for all Delphi OPS assets (includ-
ing the 2009 acquisitions). In total, these acquisitions from Delphi are expected 
to add annual sales of approximately $570 million for the 12-month period end-
ing March 31, 2011. 

In 2010, Autoliv also made several other acquisitions. In January, the Com-
pany acquired the remaining 40% of the shares in its Japanese inflator subsid-
iary Autoliv Nichiyu Co. Ltd for $7 million. Since this entity was already consol-
idated, the acquisition did not affect Autoliv’s consolidated sales.

Also in the first quarter 2010, the automotive radar business of Visteon was 
acquired. This acquisition generated sales of $2 million. 

In the second quarter, Autoliv acquired the remaining 49% of the shares in 
AS Norma in Estonia for $50 million. Norma is the leading automotive safety 
company in the Russian market, and had annual sales of $56 million in 2010. 
However, since Norma was already a consolidated entity, the acquisition did not 
affect Autoliv’s consolidated sales.

In the third quarter 2010, Autoliv acquired Delphi’s Pyrotechnic Safety Switch 
(PSS) business, which has annualized sales of $8 million.

In 2009, in addition to the acquisitions from Delphi, Autoliv also acquired the 
remaining 30% of the shares in the Chinese seatbelt company NHA for $11 mil-
lion. Since this entity was already consolidated, the acquisition did not affect 
consolidated sales

In September 2008, Autoliv acquired the automotive radar sensors business 
of Tyco Electronics. This acquisition for $42 million added $30 million to Auto-
liv’s consolidated sales in 2009 and $7 million in 2008.

Financing Activities 
Cash used in financing activities amounted to $529 million during 2010, includ-
ing $64 million used to purchase shares of our subsidiaries (see above). Cash 
and cash equivalents increased by $115 million to $588 million at December 31, 
2010 from $473 million at December 31, 2009, while gross debt decreased by 
$414 million to $725 million at December 31, 2010.

Net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 38) decreased by $535 million to 
$127 million during 2010 and net-debt-to-capitalization ratio (for definition, see 
page 79) decreased to 4% at December 31, 2010 from 21% at December 31, 2009. 
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Income Taxes 
The Company has reserves for taxes that may become payable in future periods 
as a result of tax audits. 

At any given time, the Company is undergoing tax audits in several tax juris-
dictions and covering multiple years. Ultimate outcomes are uncertain but could, 
in future periods, have a significant impact on the Company’s cash flows. See 
discussions of income taxes under “Accounting Policies” on page 50 and also 
Note 4 to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. 

Pension Arrangements 
The Company has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering most 
U.S. employees, although the Company has frozen participation in the U.S. plans 
to exclude employees hired after December 31, 2003. 

The Company’s non-U.S. employees are also covered by pension arrange-
ments. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further infor-
mation about retirement plans.

At December 31, 2010, the Company’s recognized liability (i.e. the actual 
funded status) for its U.S. plans was $54 million, an increase of $2 million from 
2009. The U.S. plans had a net unamortized actuarial loss of $52 million record-
ed in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated State-
ment of Equity at December 31, 2010, compared to $54 million one year earli-
er. The amortization of this loss is not expected to have any material impact for 
any of the 9-year estimated remaining service lives of the plan participants. 

Pension expense associated with these plans was $8 million in 2010, $14 
million in 2009 and $4 million in 2008, and is expected to be $8 million in 2011. 
The Company contributed $6 million to its U.S. defined benefit plan in 2010 and 
$7 million in 2009. 

The Company expects to contribute $6 million to its U.S. Plan in 2011 and is 
currently projecting a yearly funding at the same level in the years thereafter. 

Dividends
Before the global financial crisis, the Company paid quarterly dividends of 39 
cents per share in the first and second quarters of 2008, and 41 cents in the 
third and fourth quarters of 2008. To preserve cash, the dividend paid was re-
duced to 21 cents per share in the first quarter 2009 and suspended as of the 
second quarter. Thanks to the Company’s fast recovery, efficient cash manage-
ment and strong balance sheet, Autoliv could resume dividend payments to 
shareholders already in the third quarter 2010 and raise the dividend paid in 
the fourth quarter by 17% to 35 cents per share from 30 cents in the third. Sub-
sequently, the dividend was raised by 14% to 40 cents per share to be paid in 
the first quarter 2011. 

Total cash dividends paid were $58 million in 2010, $15 million in 2009 and 
$115 million in 2008. Additionally, during 2008, the Company returned $174 mil-
lion to shareholders through repurchases of shares. 

Equity
During 2010, total equity increased by 21% or $503 million to $2,939 million as 
a result of net income of $595 million, a $57 million effect from the equity unit 
exchange (see Note 13) and a $35 million effect from the issuance of shares and 
other effects related to stock compensation. Equity was reduced by $93 million 
due to dividends declared, by $53 million due to changes in non-controlling in-
terests, by $30 million due to negative currency effects and by $8 million due to 
changes in pension liabilities. 

During 2009, equity increased by 12% or $262 million to $2,436 million as a 
result of the sale of treasury shares and mandatory purchase contracts (see 
page 44) for $237 million, net. Equity was also favorably impacted by $18 mil-
lion from currency effects, by $13 million due to net income, by $2 million from 
changes in pension liabilities, and by $6 million due to the issuance of shares 

and other effects related to stock compensation. Equity was reduced by $11 mil-
lion due to acquiring non-controlling interests and by $3 million due to dividends 
to non-controlling interests.

Impact of Inflation 
Except for raw materials, inflation has generally not had a significant impact on 
the Company’s financial position or results of operations. However, increases in 
the prices of raw materials in the supply chain had a negative impact of close 
to $20 million in 2010 and close to $60 million in 2008. In 2009, lower raw ma-
terial prices had a favorable impact of approximately $60 million. For 2011, we 
currently expect a negative impact of close to $60 million from higher raw ma-
terial prices.

Changes in most raw material prices affect the Company with a time lag, 
which is usually three to six months for most materials (See Component Costs 
on page 46).

Personnel
During the past three years, total headcount (permanent employees and tem-
porary personnel) has swung from a peak before the crisis of 43,400 in April 
2008 to a low point of close to 33,400 in the second quarter 2009 and then re-
turned to 43,300 at the end of 2010, primarily in response to the LVP recovery. 

Although the total headcount level at the end on 2010 was almost exactly the 
same as in April 2008, the headcount mix is different. At the end of 2010, 63% of 
total headcount were in low-cost countries (LCC) compared to 52% at the begin-
ning of 2008. Furthermore, 70% of total headcount were direct workers in manu-
facturing compared to 66% at the beginning of the three-year period, while 20% 
of total headcount at December 31, 2010 were temporaries compared to 16% at 
January 1, 2008 (with 9% at December 31, 2008). As a result, the Company now 
has a better presence in the highest growth markets than before the crisis, more 
labor flexibility and a lower break-even point.

At December 31, total headcount amounted to 43,300 in 2010, 37,900 in 2009 
and 37,300 in 2008. 

During 2010, when total headcount increased by 5,400, “The Delphi Asia Ac-
quisitions” added 800 of the increase. During 2009, when headcount increased 
by 600, headcount excluding acquisitions declined by 1,100. During 2008, acqui-
sitions added 115 while total headcount declined by 4,600. Excluding acquisi-
tions and divestitures, headcount declined by 11% in 2008 and by 3% in 2009 
compared a 10% decline in organic sales in 2008 and an 18% decline in organ-
ic sales in 2009. In 2010, headcount excluding the effect of acquisitions and di-
vestitures rose by 12% compared to the 2010 organic sales increase of 31%. 

Compensation to Directors and executive officers is reported, as is custom-
ary for U.S. public companies, in Autoliv’s proxy statement, which will be avail-
able to shareholders in the last week of March.
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Treasury Activities

Credit Facilities
Despite the financial crisis in 2008 and 2009, Autoliv did not have to issue any sig-
nificant long-term debt when credit margins had risen sharply. This was the re-
sult of prudent and cost-efficient refinancing activities in prior years, the Compa-
ny’s resilient cash flow generation and a $377 million equity raise in March 2009. 

Not until December 2009, did Autoliv negotiate any new long-term debt agree-
ments, and this agreement was only signed as a back-up facility. It was an 
18-month loan commitment from the European Investment Bank (EIB) for €225 
million ($300 million equivalent). In addition, as credit markets continued to im-
prove during 2010, the terms of this agreement were renegotiated. Now loans un-
der the commitment will carry interest rates of EIB’s cost of funds plus 1.2%, 
which is a 30% reduction from the original terms. EIB loans will have maturities 
of up to ten years and will not be subject to financial covenants. No loans were 
outstanding under this commitment at December 31, 2010. EIB’s commitment 
will expire in June 2011, if Autoliv has not utilized it at that time. See Note 12 to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information.

In June 2010, Autoliv signed a new revolving credit facility (RCF) of SEK 2 bil-
lion ($294 million equivalent) with a life of seven years and another RCF of €155 
million ($205 million equivalent) with a term of five years. Both facilities have a 
draw margin of 1.4% on the applicable LIBOR or IBOR when utilized. 

In addition, in 2010, Autoliv conducted a number of accelerated equity units 
exchange transactions (see below) which reduced debt by $54 million.

As a result of these actions, Autoliv’s unutilized long-term credit facilities have 
increased during 2010 to $1.9 billion from $1.4 billion, while net debt has been re-
duced to $127 million at December 31, 2010. As of the same date, the Company 
had utilized and unutilized long-term credit facilities totalling $2.5 billion. Avail-
able long-term credit facilities are now almost twenty times of net debt, which is 
a record high for Autoliv.

The weighted average interest rate on the $725 million of interest-bearing debt 
outstanding at December 31, 2010 was 6.0% compared to 4.9% one year earlier. 
The increase in interest rate relates to the fact that principally only long-term 
fixed-rate debts remain outstanding, as nearly all floating-rate debt has been re-
paid thanks to the strong cash flow during 2010. 

During 2009 and 2010, the Company sold receivables and discounted notes 
related to selected customers. Although the primary purpose of these transac-
tions is to save interest expense, these factoring arrangements also have the ef-
fect of reducing net debt and accounts receivable since the Company uses the 
cash received to repay debt. At December 31, 2010, the Company had received $65 
million without recourse for sold receivables and discounted notes with a discount 
of $2 million during the year, compared to $93 million in 2009 with a discount of 
$1 million recorded in Other financial items, net.

Between November 2008 and February 2009, Standard and Poor’s downgrad-
ed Autoliv three notches from A- to BBB-. In November 2009, the Company was 
upgraded to BBB, which made Autoliv the first company in the automotive indus-
try to receive a rating upgrade since the start of the credit crisis. 

In July 2010, Autoliv was further upgraded to BBB+ with a stable outlook. Con-
sequently, Autoliv has restored its credit rating in line with its objective of main-
taining a strong investment grade rating.

Equity and Equity Units
In March 2009, we decided to strengthen Autoliv’s equity base for three main 
reasons. 

First, we wanted to be in a position to participate in a very likely consolidation 
of our industry resulting from the financial crisis. Second, we wanted to defend 
the Company’s credit rating following the rating downgrades mentioned above. 
Finally, we wanted the Company to have a strong negotiating position with the Eu-
ropean Investment Bank (EIB). Autoliv therefore sold 14,687,500 treasury shares 

at $16.00, and 6,600,000 equity units at $25.00 which generated net proceeds of 
$377 million. 

The number of shares that will be issued as a result of the equity units will 
depend on the price of the Autoliv stock shortly before April 30, 2012, which is 
the date for the execution of the mandatory purchase contract of each unit (see 
“Number of Shares” below). The number of shares resulting from the equity 
units will also be adjusted based on the level of dividends declared until April 
30, 2012. Furthermore, in early 2012, the notes related to the equity units will 
be re-priced. Originally, the face value of the debt related to these notes amount-
ed to $165 million, and the number of shares that would have been issued as a 
result of the equity units was 8.6 to 10.3 million. However, some holders of the 
equity units contacted us in the spring of 2010 wanting to exchange their units 
for cash and common stock and accept a discount compared to the original 
terms of the agreement. In May and June of 2010, we therefore conducted var-
ious accelerated exchange transactions of in total 36% of the equity units. The 
price represented a 22% discount compared to the agreed cash coupon. This 
reduced debt by $54 million and increased equity by $57 million due to the is-
suance of 3,058,735 Autoliv shares (from the Company’s treasury shares). As a 
result, the face value of the debt related to the equity units was reduced from 
originally $165 million to $106 million. The Company also recorded a debt ex-
tinguishment cost of $12 million related to the transaction, but the transaction 
will save $16 million in interest expense through April 2012. 

At December 31, 2010, there were 4,250,920 equity units still outstanding. 
For dilution effects from these units, see “Number of Shares” below. For an ad-
ditional description of our equity units, see Note 13 to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included herein.

Number of Shares 
At December 31, 2010, there were 89.0 million shares outstanding (net of 13.8 mil-
lion treasury shares), a 5% increase from 85.1 million one year earlier.

Due to the equity units outstanding, the number of shares outstanding will 
increase on April 30, 2012 by 5.7 million if the Autoliv share price is $19.20 or 
higher and by 6.8 million if the price is $16.00 or less, adjusted for future divi-
dend payments. 

The number of shares outstanding is also expected to increase by 1.5 mil-
lion when all Restricted Stock Units (RSU) vest and all stock options to key em-
ployees are exercised, see Note 15 to Consolidated Financial Statements includ-
ed herein. For these increases of outstanding shares, at least 5.7 million of the 
Company’s 13.8 million treasury shares will be used.

For calculating earnings per share assuming dilution Autoliv follows the Trea-
sury Stock Method. As a result, the dilutive effect from the equity units varies with 
the price of the Autoliv share, as long as the share price is more than the highest 
settlement price of $19.20 and the Company is profitable. Consequently, for 2010 
when the Company was profitable and the average share price for the year was 
$57.00, the number of shares for calculating earnings per share was increased 
by 4.5 million due to this effect from the equity units. 

The Board has authorized a share repurchase program. At December 31, 
2010, 3.2 million shares remained of this mandate for repurchases. Purchases 
can be made from time to time as market and business conditions warrant in 
open market, negotiated or block transactions. There is no expiration date for 
the mandate in order to provide management flexibility in the Company’s share 
repurchases. In 2008, when cash flow from operations declined by $167 million 
to $614 million, we reduced the returns to shareholders through share buy-
backs by $206 million to $174 million and we did not repurchase any shares af-
ter the Lehman Brothers collapse on September 15, 2008. The average cost for 
the 3,709,460 shares acquired during 2008 was $46.77 and the average cost for 
all repurchased shares is $42.93.
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Contractual obligations include lease and purchase obligations that are enforce-
able and legally binding on the Company. Non-controlling interests, post-retire-
ment benefits and restructuring obligations are not included in this table. The ma-
jor employee obligations as a result of restructuring are disclosed in Note 10 to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. 

Debt obligations including DRD: For material contractual provisions, see Note 
12. The debt obligations include capital lease obligations, which mainly relate to 
property and plants in Europe, as well as the impact of revaluation to fair value of 
Debt-Related Derivatives (DRD).

Fixed-interest obligations including DRD: These obligations include interest 
on debt and credit agreements relating to periods after December 31, 2010, as 
adjusted by DRD, excluding fees on the revolving credit facility and interest on 
debts with no defined amortization plan. 

Operating lease obligations: The Company leases certain offices, manufac-
turing and research buildings, machinery, automobiles and data processing and 
other equipment. Such operating leases, some of which are non-cancelable and 
include renewals, expire at various dates, see Note 17 to Consolidated Financial 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 
Aggregate Contractual Obligations1)

Payments due by Period
 (Dollars in millions) Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years

Debt obligations including DRD2) $715 $87 $246 $217 $165
Fixed-interest obligations including DRD2) 105 37 36 20 12
Operating lease obligations 115 27 42 22 24
Unconditional purchase obligations – – – – –
Other non-current liabilities reflected on the balance sheet 16 – 4 2 10
Total $951 $151 $328 $261 $211

1) Excludes contingent liabilities arising from litigation, arbitration, income taxes or regulatory actions. 2) Debt-Related Derivatives, see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Statements included herein. 
Unconditional purchase obligations: There are no unconditional purchase ob-

ligations other than short-term obligations related to inventory, services, tooling, 
and property, plant and equipment purchased in the ordinary course of business.

Purchase agreements with suppliers entered into in the ordinary course of 
business do not generally include fixed quantities. Quantities and delivery dates 
are established in “call off plans” accessible electronically for all customers 
and suppliers involved. Communicated “call off plans” for production material 
from suppliers are normally reflected in equivalent commitments from Auto-
liv customers.

Other non-current liabilities reflected on the balance sheet: These liabilities 
consist mainly of local governmental loans.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or 
are reasonably likely to have, a material current or future effect on its financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows.

This Annual Report contains statements that are not historical facts but rather 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga-
tion Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are those that address 
activities, events or developments that Autoliv, Inc. or its management believes or 
anticipates may occur in the future, including statements relating to industry trends, 
business opportunities, sales contracts, sales backlog, and on-going commercial 
arrangements and discussions, as well as any statements about future operating 
performance or financial results.

In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words 
such as “estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “plans,” “intends,” “be-
lieves,” “might,” “will,” “should,” or the negative of these terms and other compa-
rable terminology, although not all forward-looking statements are so identified. 

All such forward-looking statements, including without limitation, manage-
ment’s examination of historical operating trends and data, are based upon our 
current expectations, various assumptions or data available from third parties and 
apply only as of the date of this report. Our expectations and assumptions are ex-
pressed in good faith and we believe there is a reasonable basis for them. Howev-
er, there can be no assurance that such forward-looking statements will materi-
alize or prove to be correct as these assumptions are inherently subject to the 
risks and uncertainties and contingencies which are difficult or impossible to pre-
dict and are beyond our control. 

Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, the 
outcome could differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking state-
ments for a variety of reasons, including without limitation, changes in and the suc-

cessful execution of our restructuring activities and cost reduction initiatives dis-
cussed herein and the market reaction thereto, changes in general industry and 
market conditions, increased competition, higher raw material costs, fuel and en-
ergy costs, changes in consumer and customer preferences for end products, cus-
tomer losses, changes in regulatory conditions, customer bankruptcies, consoli-
dations or restructuring, divestiture of customer brands, the economic outlook for 
the Company’s markets, fluctuation of foreign currencies, fluctuation in vehicle pro-
duction schedules for which the Company is a supplier, market acceptance of our 
new products, costs or difficulties related to the integration of any new or acquired 
business and technologies, continued uncertainty in program awards and perfor-
mance, the financial results of companies in which Autoliv has made technology 
investments or joint-venture arrangements, pricing negotiations with customers, 
our ability to be awarded new contracts, increased costs, supply issues, product li-
ability, warranty and recall claims and other litigation and customer reactions there-
to, possible adverse results of pending or future litigation or infringement claims, 
tax assessments by governmental authorities, legislative or regulatory changes, 
political conditions, dependence on customers and suppliers, as well as the risks 
identified in Item 1A “Risks Factors” in our 10-K filed with the SEC. Except for the 
Company’s ongoing obligation to disclose information under the U.S. federal secu-
rities laws, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly any forward-
looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events. 

For any forward-looking statements contained in this or any other document, 
we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements con-
tained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

“Safe Harbor Statement”
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Operational Risks
Light Vehicle Production
Since nearly 30% of Autoliv’s costs are relatively fixed, short-term earnings are 
highly dependent on capacity utilization in the Company’s plants and are, there-
fore, sales dependent. 

Global LVP is an indicator of the Company’s sales development. Ultimately, 
however, sales are determined by the production levels for the individual vehicle 
models for which Autoliv is a supplier (see Dependence on Customers). The Com-
pany’s sales are split over several hundred contracts covering at least as many 
vehicle platforms or models which generally moderates the effect of changes in 
vehicle demand of individual countries and regions. The risk has also been miti-
gated by Autoliv’s rapid expansion in the Rest of the World region, which has re-
duced the Company’s former high dependence on Europe from more than 50% of 
sales to an almost equal split of sales between Europe, Asia (including Japan) and 
the Americas. 

It is also the Company’s strategy to reduce this risk by using a high number of 
temporary employees instead of permanent employees. During 2008-2010, the 
level of temporary workers in relation to total headcount varied between 8% (in 
April 2009) and 22% (during the first three quarters of 2010). 

However, when there is a dramatic reduction in the level of production of the 
vehicle models supplied by the Company as occurred during the fall of 2008 and 
the beginning of 2009, it takes time to reduce the level of permanent employees 
and even longer time to reduce fixed production capacity. As a result, our sales 
and margin could drop significantly and materially impact earnings and cash flow, 
as seen in 2009. 

Pricing Pressure
Pricing pressure from customers is an inherent part of the automotive compo-
nents business. The extent of pricing reductions varies from year to year, and takes 
the form of reductions in direct sales prices as well as discounted reimburse-
ments for engineering work. 

In response, Autoliv is continuously engaged in efforts to reduce costs and in 
providing customers added value by developing new products. 

The various cost-reduction programs are, to a considerable extent, interrelat-
ed. This interrelationship makes it difficult to isolate the impact of any single pro-
gram on costs, and management does not generally attempt to do so, except for 
the action program in 2008 and certain restructuring programs in 2009 and 2010. 
Instead, we monitor key measures such as costs in relation to margins and geo-
graphical employee mix. But generally, the speed by which these cost-reduction 
programs generate results will, to a large extent, determine the future profitabil-
ity of the Company. 

Component Costs 
Since the cost of direct materials is approximately 52% of net sales, changes in these 
component costs and raw material prices could have a major impact on margins. 

Although the Company does not generally buy raw materials but rather manufac-
tured components (such as stamped steel parts and cut-and-sewn airbag cush-
ions), raw material price changes in Autoliv’s supply chain could have a major im-
pact since approximately 48% of the Company’s component costs (corresponding 
to 25% of net sales) are comprised of raw materials and the remaining 52% are 
value added by the supply chain. Currently, 36% of the raw material cost (or 9% 
of net sales) is based on steel prices; 30% on oil prices (i.e. nylon, polyester and 
engineering plastics (7% of net sales)); 18% on electronic components, such as 
circuit boards (4% of net sales); and 7% on zinc, aluminum and other non-ferrous 
metals (2% of net sales). 

Except for magnesium and small quantities of steel and plastic resins which 
the Company typically buys directly from their producers, changes in most raw 
material prices affect the Company with a time lag. This lag used to be six to 
twelve months but now more often is three to six months. For non-ferrous in-
dustrial metals like aluminum and zinc, we have quarterly and sometimes month-
ly price adjustments.

The Company’s strategy is to offset price increases on cost of materials by 
taking several actions such as re-design of products to reduce material content 
(as well as weight), material standardization, consolidating volumes to fewer sup-
pliers and moving components sourcing to low-cost countries. Occasionally, we 
also buy quantities in advance and support our component suppliers when they 
want to do so. 

However, should these actions not be sufficient to offset component price in-
creases, our earnings could be materially impacted.

Product Warranty and Recalls 
The Company is exposed to various claims for damages and compensation, if our 
products fail to perform as expected. Such claims can be made, and result in costs 
and other losses to the Company, even where the relevant product is eventually 
found to have functioned properly. Where a product (actually or allegedly) fails to 
perform as expected, we may face warranty and recall claims. Where such actu-
al or alleged failure results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or proper-
ty damage, we may in addition face product-liability and other claims. The Com-
pany may experience material warranty, recall or product-liability claims or 
losses in the future, and the Company may incur significant cost to defend against 
such claims. The Company may also be required to participate in a recall involv-
ing its products. Each vehicle manufacturer has its own practices regarding prod-
uct recalls and other product-liability actions relating to its suppliers. As suppli-
ers become more integrally involved in the vehicle design process and assume 
more vehicle assembly functions, vehicle manufacturers are increasingly looking 
to their suppliers for contribution when faced with recalls and product-liability 
claims. In addition, with global platforms and procedures, vehicle manufacturers 
are increasingly evaluating our quality performance on a global basis; any one or 
more quality, warranty or other recall issue(s) (also the ones affecting few units 
and/ or having a small financial impact) may cause a vehicle manufacturer to im-
plement measures which may have a severe impact on the Company’s operations, 

Risks and Risk Management 
The Company is exposed to several categories of risks. They can broadly be categorized as operational risks, 
strategic risks and financial risks. Some of the major risks in each category are described below. There are also 
other risks that could have a material effect on the Company’s results and financial position and the description 
below is not complete but should be read in conjunction with the discussion of risks in our 10-K filed with the SEC, 
which contains a description of our material risks. 

As described below, the Company has taken several mitigating actions, applied many strategies, adopted poli-
cies, and introduced control and reporting systems to reduce and mitigate these risks. In addition, the Company 
from time to time identifies and evaluates emerging or changed risks to the Company in order to ensure that iden-
tified risk and related risk management are updated in this fast moving environment.
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such as a temporary or prolonged suspension of new orders. Also, as our prod-
ucts increasingly use global designs and are based on or utilize the same or sim-
ilar parts, components or solutions, the risk that any given failure or defect will 
result in Autoliv incurring significant cost is increasing.

A warranty, recall or a product-liability claim brought against the Company in 
excess of the Company’s insurance may have a material adverse effect on its busi-
ness. Vehicle manufacturers are also increasingly requiring their external suppli-
ers to guarantee or warrant their products and bear the costs of repair and re-
placement of such products under new vehicle warranties. A vehicle 
manufacturer may attempt to hold the Company responsible for some or all of 
the repair or replacement costs of defective products under new vehicle warran-
ties when the product supplied did not perform as represented. Accordingly, the 
future costs of warranty claims by the Company’s customers may be material. We 
believe our established reserves are adequate to cover potential warranty settle-
ments typically seen in our business. 

The Company’s warranty reserves are based upon management’s best esti-
mates of amounts necessary to settle future and existing claims. Management 
regularly evaluates the appropriateness of these reserves, and adjusts them when 
they believe it is appropriate to do so. However, the final amounts determined to 
be due could differ materially from the Company’s recorded estimates. 

The Company’s strategy is to follow a stringent procedure when developing 
new products and technologies and to apply a proactive “zero-defect” quality pol-
icy (see page 28). In addition, the Company carries product-liability and product-
recall insurance at levels that management believes are generally sufficient to 
cover the risks. However, such insurance may not always be available in appro-
priate amounts or in all markets. Management’s decision regarding what insur-
ance to procure is also impacted by the cost for such insurance. As a result, the 
Company may face material losses in excess of the insurance coverage procured. 
A substantial recall or liability in excess of coverage levels could therefore have a 
material adverse effect on the Company.

Environmental
While the Company’s businesses from time to time are subject to environmental 
investigations, there are no material environmental-related cases pending against 
the Company. In addition, Autoliv does not incur (or expect to incur) any material 
costs or capital expenditures associated with maintaining facilities compliant with 
U.S. or non-U.S. environmental requirements. Since most of the Company’s man-
ufacturing processes consist of the assembly of components, the environmental 
impact from the Company’s plants is generally modest. 

To reduce environmental risk, the Company has implemented an environmen-
tal management system (see page 17) and has adopted an environmental policy 
(see corporate website www.autoliv.com) that requires, for instance, that all plants 
should be ISO-14001 certified. 

However, environmental requirements are complex, change and have tended 
to become more stringent over time. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that 
these requirements will not change or become more stringent in the future, or 
that we will at all times be in compliance with all such requirements and regula-
tions, despite our intention to be. The Company may also find itself subject, pos-
sibly due to changes in legislation, to environmental liabilities based on the activ-
ities of its predecessor entities or of businesses acquired. Such liability could be 
based on activities which are not at all related to the Company’s current activities.

Strategic Risks
Regulations
In addition to vehicle production, the Company’s market is driven by the safety 
content per vehicle, which is affected by new regulations and new crash-test rat-
ing programs, in addition to consumer demand for new safety technologies. 

The most important regulation is the U.S. federal law that, since 1997, requires 
frontal airbags for both the driver and the front-seat passenger in all new vehi-
cles sold in the U.S. Seatbelt installation laws exist in all vehicle-producing coun-
tries. Many countries also have strict enforcement laws on the wearing of seat-

belts. The U.S. has adopted new regulations for side-impact protection to be 
phased-in during a three-year period beginning in 2010. China introduced a crash-
test rating program in 2006, and Latin America introduced a similar program in 
2010. Europe started to phase in a new more stringent Euro NCAP rating system 
in 2009, and the equivalent crash-test rating program in the U.S. was upgraded 
in 2010. There are also other plans for improved automotive safety, both in these 
countries and many countries that could affect the Company’s market.

However, there can be no assurance that changes in regulations will not ad-
versely affect the demand for the Company’s products or, at least, result in a slow-
er increase in the demand for them. 

Dependence on Customers 
The five largest vehicle manufacturers account for 50% of global light vehicle pro-
duction and the ten largest manufacturers for 75%. 

As a result of this highly consolidated market, the Company is dependent on 
a relatively small number of customers with strong purchasing power. 

In 2010, the Company’s five largest customers accounted for 53% of revenues 
and the ten largest customers for 79% of revenues. For a specification of the larg-
est customers, see Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 76. 

The largest contract accounted for approximately 2% of sales in 2010. This 
contract expires in 2013.

Although business with every major customer is split into several contracts 
(usually one contract per vehicle platform) and although the customer base has 
become more balanced and diversified as a result of Autoliv’s rapid expansion in 
China and other rapidly-growing markets, the loss of all business from a major 
customer (whether by a cancellation of existing contracts or not awarding us new 
business), the consolidation of one or more major customers or a bankruptcy of 
a major customer could have a material adverse effect on the Company. For ex-
ample, following recalls involving 130,000 vehicles for which Autoliv was a suppli-
er, GM has informed the Company that they will award us new business only when 
specific conditions have been met. Although this will likely not have an immedi-
ate material impact on our business or results of operations, Autoliv is commit-
ted to meeting these conditions as quickly as possible. Failure to meet these cri-
teria could have a gradually increasing negative impact on us starting in 2014 
when the first existing contract expires, provided that the capacity that becomes 
available could not be utilized for other customers.

Customer Payment Risk 
Another risk related to our customers is the risk that one or more customers will 
be unable to pay invoices that become due. 

We seek to limit Autoliv’s customer payment risks by invoicing major custom-
ers through their local subsidiaries in each country, even for global contracts. We 
thus try to avoid having the receivables with a multinational customer group ex-
posed to the risk that a bankruptcy or similar event in one country puts all receiv-
ables with the customer group at risk. In each country, we also monitor invoices 
becoming overdue. 

Even so, if a major customer would be unable to fulfill its payment obligations, 
it is likely that the Company will be forced to record a substantial loss. 

Dependence on Suppliers 
Autoliv, at each stage of production, relies on internal or external suppliers in or-
der to meet its delivery commitments. In some cases, customers require that the 
suppliers are qualified and approved by them. Autoliv’s supplier consolidation pro-
gram seeks to reduce costs but increases our dependence on the remaining sup-
pliers. As a result, the Company is dependent, in several instances, on a single 
supplier for a specific component.

Consequently, there is a risk that disruptions in the supply chain could lead to 
the Company not being able to meet its delivery commitments and, as a conse-
quence, to extra costs. This risk increases as suppliers are being squeezed be-
tween high raw material prices and the continuous pricing pressure in the auto-
motive industry. This risk also increases when our internal and external suppliers 
are to a higher degree located in countries which have a higher political risk. 
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In addition, the net exposure is limited to less than one quarter of net sales and 
is made up of 39 different currency pairs with exposures in excess of $1 million 
each. Consequently, the income statement effects related to transaction expo-
sures are generally modest. As a result, Autoliv does not hedge these flows. 

2. Translation Exposure in the Income Statement
Another effect of exchange rate fluctuations arises when the income statements 
of non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars. Outside the U.S., the 
Company’s most significant currency is the Euro. We estimate that 37% of the 
Company’s net sales will be denominated in Euro or other European currencies 
during 2011, while a quarter of net sales is estimated to be denominated in U.S. 
dollars. The Company estimates that a one-percent increase in the value of the 
U.S. dollar versus the European currencies will decrease reported U.S. dollar an-
nual net sales in 2011 by $25 million or by less than 0.3%. Reported operating in-
come for 2011 will also decline by approximately 0.2% or by about $2 million. The 
fact that both sales and operating income is impacted at almost the same rate is 
due to the fact that most of the Company’s production is local. Accordingly, most 
revenues and costs are matched in the same currencies.

The Company’s policy is not to hedge this type of translation exposure since 
there is no cash flow effect to hedge.

3. Translation Exposure in the Balance Sheet
A translation exposure also arises when the balance sheets of non-U.S. subsid-
iaries are translated into U.S. dollars. The policy of the Company is to finance ma-
jor subsidiaries in the country’s local currency and to minimize the amounts held 
by subsidiaries in foreign currency accounts. 

Consequently, changes in currency rates relating to funding and foreign cur-
rency accounts normally have a small impact on the Company’s income.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that interest rate changes will affect the Com-
pany’s borrowing costs. Autoliv’s interest rate risk policy states that an increase 
in floating interest rates of one percentage point should not increase the annual 
net interest expense by more than $10 million in the following year and not by 
more than $15 million in the second year. 

The Company estimates that a one-percentage point interest rate increase would 
have an effect of less than $0.5 million on net interest expense in both 2011 and 
2012. This is based on the debt structure at the end of 2010 when the gross fixed-
rate debt was larger than the net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 38).

The fixed interest rate debt is achieved both by issuing fixed rate notes and 
through interest rate swaps. The most notable debt carrying fixed interest rates 
is $340 million of the $400 million private placement issued in 2007 (see Note 12).

The entire 2007 U.S. Private Placement was issued carrying fixed interest rates. 
Initially, $200 million of this placement was swapped into floating interest rates 
to benefit from a potential future decrease in interest rates. As fixed U.S. dollar 
rates decreased in 2008, $140 million of the $200 million swaps were cancelled 
resulting in a cash-flow gain and therefore lower fixed rate debt was achieved 
when considering the amortization of this gain. 

Refinancing Risk
Refinancing risk or borrowing risk refers to the risk that it could become difficult 
to refinance outstanding debt. 

The severe financial turmoil beginning in September 2008 increased this risk 
for all debt-financed companies, but the risk has since decreased continuously 
during 2009 and 2010 in line with falling credit margins and Autoliv’s credit rating 
improvements. 

To manage this risk and to draw on the experience of the financial crisis, Au-
toliv amended, in 2010, its refinancing risk policy. It now requires the Company 
to maintain long-term facilities with an average maturity of at least three years 
(drawn or undrawn) corresponding to 150% of total net debt (non-U.S. GAAP mea-
sure, see page 38). Previously, 100% of total net debt should be covered. At year-
end 2010, this ratio was 1,980%, based on total net debt of 127 million compared 

The Company’s strategy is to reduce these supplier risks by seeking to maintain 
an optimal number of suppliers in all significant component technologies, by stan-
dardization and by developing alternative suppliers around the world. 

However, for various reasons including costs involved in maintaining alterna-
tive suppliers, this is not always possible. As a result, difficulties with a single sup-
plier could impact more than one customer and product, and thus materially im-
pact our earnings.

New Competition
The market for occupant restraint systems has undergone a significant consoli-
dation during the past fifteen years and Autoliv has strengthened its position in 
this passive safety market. 

However, in the future, the best growth opportunities may be in passive safe-
ty electronics and active safety systems markets, which include and are likely to 
include other and often larger companies than Autoliv’s traditional competitors. 
Additionally, there is no guarantee our customers will adopt our new products or 
technologies.

Autoliv is reducing the risk of this trend by utilizing its leadership in passive safe-
ty to develop a strong position in active and especially integrated safety (see pages 
12-15).

Patents and Proprietary Technology 
The Company’s strategy is to protect its innovations with patents and to vigorous-
ly protect and defend its patents, trademarks and know-how against infringement 
and unauthorized use. At the end of 2010, the Company held more than 6,000 pat-
ents. The patents expire on various dates during the period 2011 to 2030. The ex-
piration of any single patent is not expected to have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s financial results.

Although the Company believes that its products and technology do not in-
fringe upon the proprietary rights of others, there can be no assurance that third 
parties will not assert infringement claims against the Company in the future. 
Also, there can be no assurance that any patent now owned by the Company will 
afford protection against competitors that develop similar technology. 

Financial Risks 
The Company is exposed to financial risks through its international operations 
and debt-financed activities. Most of the financial risks are caused by variations 
in the Company’s cash flow generation resulting from, among other things, chang-
es in exchange rates and interest rate levels, as well as from refinancing risk and 
credit risk.

In order to reduce the financial risks and to take advantage of economies of 
scale, the Company has a central treasury department supporting operations and 
management. The treasury department handles external financial transactions 
and functions as the Company’s in-house bank for its subsidiaries. 

The Board of Directors monitors compliance with the financial policy on an 
on-going basis. 

Currency Risks 
1. Transaction Exposure
Transaction exposure arises because the cost of a product originates in one cur-
rency and the product is sold in another currency. 

The Company’s gross transaction exposure forecasted for 2011 is approxi-
mately $1.8 billion. A part of the flows have counter-flows in the same currency 
pair, which reduces the net exposure to approximately $1.3 billion per year. In the 
three largest net exposures, Autoliv expects to sell U.S. dollars against Mexican 
Peso for the equivalent of $180 million, Euros against Swedish Krona for $140 
million and Chinese Renminbi against Euros for $130 million. Together these cur-
rencies will account for more than one third of the Company’s net exposure. 

Since the Company can only effectively hedge these flows in the short term, 
periodic hedging would only reduce the impact of fluctuations temporarily. Over 
time, periodic hedging would postpone but not reduce the impact of fluctuations. 
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Reconciliations to U.S. GAAP
Interest coverage ratio
Full year 2010

Leverage ratio
December 31, 2010

Operating income $869.2 Net debt3) $127.1
Amortization of intangibles1) 18.0 Pension liabilities 136.0

Less: Debt portion of equity units (100.2)
Operating profit per the Policy $887.2 Debt per the Policy $162.9

Income before income taxes $805.5
Interest expense net2) $63.1 Plus: Interest expense net2) 63.1

Depreciation and amortization of intangibles1) 281.7
Interest coverage ratio 14.1 EBITDA per the Policy $1,150.3

Leverage ratio 0.1
1) Including impairment write-offs, if any. 2) Interest expense, net is interest expense including cost for extinguishment of debt less interest income. 3) Net debt is short- and long-term debt and 
debt-related derivatives (see Note 12) less cash and cash equivalents.

to long-term debt and facilities of $2.5 billion. The ratio was a record high for the 
Company. 

Of the long-term committed facilities, $1.9 billion was unutilized at Decem-
ber 31, 2010. No significant financing is subject to financial covenants (i.e. perfor-
mance-related restrictions).

Debt Limitation Policy
To manage the inherent risks and cyclicality in the Company’s business, the Com-
pany maintains a relatively conservative financial leverage. 

The Company’s policy is to always maintain a leverage ratio significantly be-
low three and an interest coverage ratio significantly above 2.75. These ratios stood 
at 0.1 and 14 times, respectively, at December 31, 2010. During the financial cri-
sis, the Company was not compliant with these policies but regained compliance 
at the end of 2009 with its leverage policy and at March 31, 2010, with its interest 
rate coverage policy. 

For details on leverage ratio and interest-coverage, refer to the tables below 
which reconcile these two non-U.S. GAAP measures to U.S. GAAP measures. 

In addition to these ratios, it is the objective of Autoliv to have a strong invest-
ment grade rating. We have met this objective during all periods since the Com-
pany was initially rated in 2000 except for between February 2009 and July 2010 
when the Company had a long-term credit rating below BBB+ from Standard and 
Poor’s due to the drop in LVP and substantially increased restructuring reserves 
as a result of the financial crisis (see also Treasury Activities on page 44).

Credit Risk in Financial Markets
Credit risk refers to the risk of a financial counterparty being unable to fulfill an 
agreed obligation. This risk was increased for almost all companies as a result of 
the deterioration of the credit quality of many banks during 2008 and 2009. 

In the Company’s financial operations, this risk arises when cash is deposit-
ed with banks and when entering into forward exchange agreements, swap con-
tracts or other financial instruments. 

The policy of the Company is to work with banks that have a high credit rating 
and that participate in the Company’s financing.

In order to further reduce credit risk, deposits and financial instruments can 
only be entered into with a limited number of banks up to a calculated risk amount 
of $75 million per bank. In addition, deposits can be made in U.S. and Swedish 
government short-term notes and certain AAA-rated money market funds as ap-
proved by the Company’s Board. At year-end 2010, the Company was compliant 
with this policy and held $417 million in AAA-rated money market funds. 

Impairment risk 
This risk refers to the risk that the Company will be obliged to write down a ma-
terial amount of its goodwill of approximately $1.6 billion. This risk is assessed, 
at least, annually in the fourth quarter each year when the Company performs an 
impairment test. The impairment testing is based on three reporting units: 1) Air-
bag & Seatbelt Systems to which virtually all of the goodwill is related, 2) Active 
Safety Electronics with $8 million in goodwill and 3) Seat Sub-Systems where all 
remaining goodwill was written off in 2001. 

The discounted cash flow method is used for determining the fair market val-
ue of these reporting units. The Company also compares the market value of its 
equity to the value derived from the discounted cash flow method. However, due to 
the combined effects of the cyclicality in the automotive industry and the volatility 
of stock markets, this method is only used as a supplement. The Company has 
concluded that presently none of its reporting units are “at risk” of failing the good-
will impairment test. See also discussion under Impairment of Goodwill and Long-
lived Assets in Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein.

Not even during the unprecedented challenges for the global automotive in-
dustry in 2009 and 2008 was the Company required to record a goodwill impair-
ment charge. However, there can be no assurance that goodwill will not be im-
paired due to future significant drops in light vehicle production, or due to our 
technologies or products becoming obsolete or for any other reason. We could 
also acquire companies where goodwill could turn out to be less resilient to de-
teriorations in external conditions. 
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New Accounting Pronouncements
The Company has evaluated all applicable recently issued accounting guidance. 
None of these recently issued pronouncements have had, or are expected to 
have, a significant impact on the Company’s future Consolidated Financial State-
ments.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. 

Senior management has discussed the development and selection of criti-
cal accounting estimates and disclosures with the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors. The application of accounting policies necessarily requires judg-
ments and the use of estimates by a company’s management. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates. 

Management considers it important to assure that all appropriate costs are 
recognized on a timely basis. In cases where capitalization of costs is required 
(e.g., certain pre-production costs), stringent realization criteria are applied be-
fore capitalization is permitted. The depreciable lives of fixed assets are intend-
ed to reflect their true economic life, taking into account such factors as prod-
uct life cycles and expected changes in technology. Assets are periodically 
reviewed for realizability and appropriate valuation allowances are established 
when evidence of impairment exists. Impairment of long-lived assets has gen-
erally not been significant.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when there is evidence of a sales agreement, delivery 
of goods has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and the col-
lectability of revenue is reasonably assured. The Company records revenue from 
the sale of manufactured products upon shipment to customers and transfer of 
title and risk of loss under standard commercial terms. 

Accruals are made for retroactive price adjustments if probable and can be 
reasonably estimated. Net sales exclude taxes assessed by a governmental au-
thority that are directly imposed on revenue-producing transactions between 
the Company and its customers.

Bad Debt and Inventory Reserves
The Company has reserves for bad debts as well as for excess and obsolete in-
ventories. 

The Company has guidelines for calculating provisions for bad debts based 
on the age of receivables. In addition, the accounts receivable are evaluated on 
a specific identification basis. In determining the amount of a bad debt reserve, 
management uses its judgment to consider factors such as the prior experience 
with the customer, the experience with other enterprises in the same industry, 
the customer’s ability to pay and/or an appraisal of current economic conditions. 

Inventories are evaluated based on individual or, in some cases, groups of in-
ventory items. Reserves are established to reduce the value of inventories to the 
lower of cost or market, with market generally defined as net realizable value for 
finished goods and replacement cost for raw materials and work-in-process. Ex-
cess inventories are quantities of items that exceed anticipated sales or usage 
for a reasonable period. The Company has guidelines for calculating provisions 
for excess inventories based on the number of months of inventories on hand 
compared to anticipated sales or usage. Management uses its judgment to fore-
cast sales or usage and to determine what constitutes a reasonable period. 

There can be no assurance that the amount ultimately realized for receiv-
ables and inventories will not be materially different than that assumed in the 
calculation of the reserves.

Goodwill Impairment
The Company performs an annual impairment review of goodwill in the fourth 

quarter of each year following the Company’s annual forecasting process. The 
estimated fair market value of goodwill is determined by the discounted cash 
flow method. The Company discounts projected operating cash flows using its 
weighted average cost of capital.

To supplement this analysis, the Company compares the market value of its 
equity, calculated by reference to the quoted market prices of its shares, with 
the book value of its equity. There were no goodwill impairments in 2008-2010. 
See “Impairment of Goodwill” in Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included herein.

Restructuring provisions
The Company defines restructuring expense to include costs directly associated 
with rightsizing, exit or disposal activities. Estimates of restructuring charges 
are based on information available at the time such charges are recorded. In gen-
eral, management anticipates that restructuring activities will be completed with-
in a time frame such that significant changes to the exit plan are not likely. 

Due to inherent uncertainty involved in estimating restructuring expenses, ac-
tual amounts paid for such activities may differ from amounts initially estimated.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
The Company has defined benefit pension plans covering most U.S. employees 
and some non-U.S. employees most of which are in high-cost countries. See 
Note 18 to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. 

The Company, in consultation with its actuarial advisors, determines certain 
key assumptions to be used in calculating the projected benefit obligation and 
annual pension expense. For the U.S. plans, the assumptions used for calculat-
ing the 2010 pension expense were a discount rate of 5.8%, expected rate of in-
crease in compensation levels of 4.0%, and an expected long-term rate of re-
turn on plan assets of 7.5%. 

The assumptions used in calculating the U.S. benefit obligations disclosed 
as of December 31, 2010 were a discount rate of 5.05% and an expected rate of 
increase in compensation levels of 3.8%. The discount rate is set based on the 
yields on long-term high-grade corporate bonds and is determined by reference 
to financial markets on the measurement date. 

The expected rate of increase in compensation levels and long-term return 
on plan assets are determined based on a number of factors and must take into 
account long-term expectations. The Company assumes a long-term rate of re-
turn on U.S. plan assets of 7.5% for calculating the 2010 expense as in 2009. At 
December 31, 2010, almost 66% of the U.S. plan assets were invested in equi-
ties, which is in line with the target of 65%. 

A 1% decrease in the long-term rate of return on plan assets would result 
in an increase in the 2010 U.S. benefit cost of $1 million. A 1% decrease in the 
discount rate would have increased the 2010 U.S. benefit cost by $8 million and 
would have increased the December 31, 2010 benefit obligation by $43 million. 
A 1% increase in the expected rate of increase in compensation levels would 
have increased 2010 benefit cost by $2 million and would have increased the 
December 31, 2010 benefit obligation by $10 million. 

Income Taxes 
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision for in-
come taxes. In the ordinary course of a global business, there are many trans-
actions for which the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. Many of these uncer-
tainties arise as a consequence of inter-company transactions and arrangements. 

Although the Company believes that its tax return positions are supportable, 
no assurance can be given that the final outcome of these matters will not be 
materially different than that which is reflected in the historical income tax pro-
visions and accruals. Such differences could have a material effect on the in-
come tax provisions or benefits in the periods in which such determinations are 
made. See Note 4 to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. 

Accounting Policies



51

Management’s Report on Internal Control  
over Financial Reporting
Management of the company is responsible for establishing and maintaining ad-
equate internal control over financial reporting. 

Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a process de-
signed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and prin-
cipal financial officers and effected by the company’s board of directors, 
management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for ex-
ternal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and 
includes those policies and procedures that:

 
•	 pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and 

fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
•	 provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 

to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of manage-
ment and directors of the company; and 

•	 reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthor-
ized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may 
not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effective-
ness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inade-
quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Autoliv’s internal control over fi-
nancial reporting as of December 31, 2010. In making this assessment, we used 
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread-
way Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. 

Based on our assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2010, the Com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting is effective.

The Company’s independent auditors – Ernst & Young AB, an independent reg-
istered public accounting firm – have issued an audit report on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which is included here-
in, see page 78.

There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over fi-
nancial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under 
the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 that have mate-
rially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting.

Contingent Liabilities 
Various claims, lawsuits and proceedings are pending or threatened against the 
Company or its subsidiaries, covering a range of matters that arise in the ordi-
nary course of its business activities with respect to commercial, product liabil-
ity or other matters. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in-
cluded herein. 

The Company diligently defends itself in such matters and, in addition, carries 
insurance coverage to the extent reasonably available against insurable risks. 

The Company records liabilities for claims, lawsuits and proceedings when 
they are identified and it is possible to reasonably estimate the cost. 

The Company believes, based on currently available information, that the 
resolution of outstanding matters, after taking into account recorded liabilities 
and available insurance coverage, should not have a material effect on the Com-
pany’s financial position or results of operations. 

However, due to the inherent uncertainty associated with such matters, there 
can be no assurance that the final outcomes of these matters will not be mate-
rially different than currently estimated.

Management’s Report / autoliv 2010
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                        Years ended December 31

(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share data) 2010 2009 2008

Net sales Note 19 $7,170.6 $5,120.7 $6,473.2
Cost of sales (5,578.5) (4,272.8) (5,349.0)
Gross profit 1,592.1 847.9 1,124.2

Selling, general and administrative expenses  (327.2) (299.8) (354.3)
Research, development and engineering expenses, net (361.3) (322.4) (367.2)
Amortization of intangibles Note 9 (18.0) (23.1) (23.6)
Other income (expense), net Notes 10, 16 (16.4) (133.7) (72.6)
Operating income 869.2 68.9 306.5

Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax 5.5 3.8 3.9
Interest income Note 12 3.4 5.9 12.8
Interest expense Note 12 (54.3) (68.2) (72.9)
Loss on extinguishment of debt Notes 12, 13 (12.3) – –
Other financial items, net (6.0) (4.9) (1.6)
Income before income taxes 805.5 5.5 248.7

Income tax (expense) benefit Note 4 (210.0) 7.1 (76.3)
Net income $595.5 $12.6 $172.4

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 4.9 2.6 7.7
Net income attributable to controlling interest $590.6 $10.0 $164.7

Earnings per common share
   - basic $6.77 $0.12 $2.29
   - assuming dilution $6.39 $0.12 $2.28

Weighted average number of shares
   - basic 87.3 81.5 71.8
   - assuming dilution 92.4 84.5 72.1

Cash dividend per share - declared 1.05 – 1.42

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
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                        At December 31

(Dollars and shares in millions) 2010 2009

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $587.7 $472.7
Receivables, net Note 5 1,367.6 1,053.1
Inventories, net Note 6 561.7 489.0
Income tax receivables Note 4 26.4 30.0
Prepaid expenses 47.7 44.9
Other current assets 97.5 89.9
Total current assets 2,688.6 2,179.6

Property, plant and equipment, net Note 8 1,025.8 1,041.8
Investments and other non-current assets Note 7 228.1 235.5
Goodwill Note 9 1,612.3 1,614.4
Intangible assets, net Note 9 109.7 114.3
Total assets $5,664.5 $5,185.6

Liabilities and equity
Short-term debt Note 12 $87.1 $318.6
Accounts payable 1,003.1 771.7
Accrued expenses Notes 10, 11 484.5 440.4
Other current liabilities 168.0 112.6
Income tax payable Note 4 91.8 50.2
Total current liabilities 1,834.5 1,693.5

Long-term debt Note 12 637.7 820.7
Pension liability Note 18 136.0 109.2
Other non-current liabilities Note 18 117.1 126.2
Total non-current liabilities 890.8 1,056.1

Commitments and contingencies Notes 16, 17
Common stock1) 102.8 102.8
Additional paid-in capital 1,472.8 1,559.0
Retained earnings 1,910.1 1,412.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income 36.4 74.3
Treasury stock (13.8 and 17.7 shares) (594.8) (760.7)
Total parent shareholders’ equity 2,927.3 2,388.2

Non-controlling interests 11.9 47.8
Total equity Note 13 2,939.2 2,436.0

Total liabilities and equity $5,664.5 $5,185.6

1) Number of shares: 350 million authorized, 102.8 million issued for both years, and 89.0 and 85.1 million outstanding, net of treasury shares, for 2010 and 2009, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

                        Years ended December 31

(Dollars in millions) 2010 2009 2008

Operating activities
Net income $595.5 $12.6 $172.4
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net 
   cash provided by operating activities:
      Depreciation and amortization 281.7 314.3 346.9
      Deferred income taxes 17.8 (62.5) (12.2)
      Loss on extinguishment of debt Notes 12, 13 12.3 – –
      Undistributed earnings from affiliated companies, net of dividends 5.1 (3.3) (3.6)
      Net change in:
            Receivables and other assets, gross (227.8) (175.0) 352.9
            Inventories gross (50.4) 134.2 (66.1)
            Accounts payable and accrued expenses 230.4 235.1 (206.4)
            Income taxes 37.3 12.9 (7.1)
      Other, net 22.5 24.3 36.8
Net cash provided by operating activities 924.4 492.6 613.6

Investing activities
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (236.4) (139.7) (293.4)
Expenditures for intangible assets – – (0.6)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 12.0 9.3 14.9
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired Note 14 (77.4) (36.3) (42.5)
Other 4.6 9.4 0.6
Net cash used in investing activities (297.2) (157.3) (321.0)

Financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in short-term debt (278.6) 17.1 (22.5)
Issuance of long-term debt 19.8 595.4 737.4
Repayments and other changes in long-term debt (170.8) (1,203.8) (322.5)
Cash paid for extinguishment of debt (8.3) – –
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – (3.1) (3.3)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests 1.2 – –
Acquisition of subsidiary shares from non-controlling interest (63.7) (4.6) (6.8)
Dividends paid (57.7) (14.8) (115.2)
Shares repurchased – – (173.5)
Common stock and purchase contract issue, net – 236.9 –
Common stock options exercised Note 15 29.2 0.8 4.9  
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (528.9) (376.1) 98.5
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 16.7 24.9 (56.3)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 115.0 (15.9) 334.8

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 472.7 488.6 153.8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $587.7 $472.7 $488.6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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1) See Note 13 for further details – includes tax effects where applicable. 2) See Notes 1 and 15 for further details – includes tax effects.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(Dollars and shares  
in millions)

Number of 
shares

Common 
stock

Additional 
paid in 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other comp

rehensive  
income (loss)

Treasury 
stock

Total parent 
sharehold-
ers’ equity

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity1)

Balance at December 31, 2007 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,339.3 $187.5 $(1,234.8) $2,349.1 $52.2 $2,401.3

Comprehensive Income:
    Net income 164.7 164.7 7.7 172.4
    Net change in cash flow hedges 0.0 0.0 0.0
    Foreign currency translation (100.7) (100.7) 0.6 (100.1)
    Pension liability (32.5) (32.5) (32.5)
Total Comprehensive Income 39.8
Common stock incentives2) 10.6 10.6 10.6
Cash dividends declared (101.2) (101.2) (101.2)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 
    interests on subsidiary shares (3.5) (3.5)
Repurchased treasury shares (173.5) (173.5) (173.5)
Investment in subsidiary by 
    non-controlling interests 0.3 0.3
Balance at December 31, 2008 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,402.8 $54.3 $(1,397.7) $2,116.5 $57.3 $2,173.8

Comprehensive Income:
    Net income 10.0 10.0 2.6 12.6
    Net change in cash flow hedges (0.3) (0.3) (0.3)
    Foreign currency translation 18.0 18.0 0.6 18.6
    Pension liability 2.3 2.3 2.3
Total Comprehensive Income 33.2
Common stock incentives2) 6.3 6.3 6.3
Dividends paid to non-controlling 
    interests on subsidiary shares (3.1) (3.1)
Common stock issuance, net (409.5) 630.7 221.2 221.2
Fair value purchase contract, net 15.7 15.7 15.7
Purchase of subsidiary  shares 
    from non-controlling interests (1.5) (1.5) (9.6) (11.1)
Balance at December 31, 2009 102.8 $102.8 $1,559.0 $1,412.8 $74.3 $(760.7) $2,388.2 $47.8 $2,436.0

Comprehensive Income:
    Net income 590.6 590.6 4.9 595.5
    Net change in cash flow hedges 0.2 0.2 0.2
    Foreign currency translation (30.3) (30.3) 0.3 (30.0)
    Pension liability (7.8) (7.8) (7.8)
Total Comprehensive Income 557.9
Common stock incentives2) 34.6 34.6 34.6
Cash dividends declared (93.3) (93.3) (93.3)
Common stock issuance, net (74.2) 131.3 57.1 57.1
Investment in subsidiary by
    non-controlling interests 1.2 1.2
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 4.2 4.2
Purchase of subsidiary shares 
    from non-controlling interests (12.0) (12.0) (46.5) (58.5)
Balance at December 31, 2010 102.8 $102.8 $1,472.8 $1,910.1 $36.4 $(594.8) $2,927.3 $11.9 $2,939.2

Consolidated Statements of Total Equity

Consolidated Statements of Total Equity / autoliv 2010
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Nature of Operations
Through its operating subsidiaries, Autoliv is a global automotive safety supplier 
with sales to all the leading car manufacturers. 

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and include Autoliv, Inc. and all 
companies over which Autoliv, Inc. directly or indirectly exercises control, which 
generally means that the Company owns more than 50% of the voting rights. From 
January 1, 2010, consolidation is also required when the Company has both the 
power to direct the activities of a variable interest entity (VIE) and the obligation 
to absorb losses or receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the 
VIE. Prior to January 1, 2010, consolidation of a VIE was required when the Com-
pany was subject to a majority of the risk of loss from or was entitled to receive a 
majority of the residual returns from the VIE.

All intercompany accounts and transactions within the Company have been 
eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in affiliated companies in which the Company exercises signifi-
cant influence over the operations and financial policies, but does not control, are 
reported using to the equity method of accounting. Generally, the Company owns 
between 20 and 50 percent of such investments.

Business Combinations
Transactions in which the Company obtains control of a business are from Janu-
ary 1, 2009 accounted for according to the acquisition method as described in Fi-
nancial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification 
(ASC) 805, Business Combinations. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
are recognized and measured at their full fair values as of the date control is ob-
tained, regardless of the percentage ownership in the acquired entity or how the 
acquisition was achieved. Acquisition related costs in connection with a business 
combination are expensed as incurred. Contingent considerations are recognized 
and measured at fair value at the acquisition date and classified as either liabili-
ties or equity based on appropriate GAAP. Prior to January 1, 2009, the purchase 
price of an acquired entity was allocated based on requirements of FASB State-
ment No.141, Business Combinations. The allocated acquisition costs in these 
business combinations included direct and indirect acquisition related costs.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP re-
quires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the report-
ed amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabili-
ties at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts 
of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when there is evidence of a sales agreement, delivery 
of goods has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and the collect-
ibility of revenue is reasonably assured. The Company records revenue from the 
sale of manufactured products upon shipment to customers and transfer of title 
and risk of loss under standard commercial terms (typically F.O.B. shipping point). 
In those limited instances where other terms are negotiated and agreed, revenue 
is recorded when title and risk of loss are transferred to the customer.
Accruals are made for retroactive price adjustments when probable and able to 
be reasonably estimated. 

Net sales exclude taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are directly 
imposed on revenue-producing transactions between the Company and its cus-
tomers.

Cost of Sales
Shipping and handling costs are included in Cost of sales in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Contracts to supply products which extend for periods in 
excess of one year are reviewed when conditions indicate that costs may exceed 
selling prices, resulting in losses. Losses on long-term supply contracts are rec-
ognized when estimable.

Research, Development and Engineering (R,D&E)
Research and development and most engineering expenses are expensed as in-
curred. These expenses are reported net of royalty income and income from con-
tracts to perform engineering design and product development services. Such in-
come is not significant in any period presented. 

Certain engineering expenses related to long-term supply arrangements are 
capitalized when the defined criteria, such as the existence of a contractual guar-
antee for reimbursement, are met. The aggregate amount of such assets is not 
significant in any period presented.

Tooling is generally agreed upon as a separate contract or a separate compo-
nent of an engineering contract, as a pre-production project. Capitalization of tool-
ing costs is made only when the specific criteria for capitalization of customer-
funded tooling are met or the criteria for capitalization as Property, Plant & 
Equipment (P,P&E) for tools owned by the Company are fulfilled. Depreciation on 
the Company’s own tooling is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of In-
come as Cost of sales.

Stock Based Compensation 
The compensation costs for all of the Company’s stock-based compensation awards 
are determined based on the fair value method as defined in ASC 718, Compen-
sation - Stock Compensation. The Company records the compensation expense 
for Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) and stock options over the vesting period. 

Income Taxes
Current tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated taxes payable 
or refundable on the tax returns for the current year. Deferred tax liabilities or as-
sets are recognized for the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary 
differences and carry-forwards that result from events that have been recognized 
in either the financial statements or the tax returns, but not both. The measure-
ment of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets is based on provisions of 
enacted tax laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced by the amount of any tax ben-
efits that are not expected to be realized. Current and non-current components 
of deferred tax balances are reported separately based on financial statement 
classification of the related asset or liability giving rise to the temporary differ-
ence. If a deferred tax asset or liability is not related to an asset or liability that 
exists for financial reporting purposes, including deferred tax assets related to 
carry forwards, the deferred tax asset or liability would be classified based on the 
expected reversal date of the temporary differences. Tax assets and liabilities are 
not offset unless attributable to the same tax jurisdiction and netting is possible 
according to law and expected to take place in the same period.

Tax benefits associated with tax positions taken in the Company’s income tax 
returns are initially recognized and measured in the financial statements when it 
is more likely than not that those tax positions will be sustained upon examina-
tion by the relevant taxing authorities. The Company’s evaluation of its tax bene-
fits is based on the probability of the tax position being upheld if challenged by the 
taxing authorities (including through negotiation, appeals, settlement and litiga-

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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tion). Whenever a tax position does not meet the initial recognition criteria, the tax 
benefit is subsequently recognized and measured if there is a substantive change 
in the facts and circumstances that cause a change in judgment concerning the 
sustainability of the tax position upon examination by the relevant taxing author-
ities. In cases where tax benefits meet the initial recognition criterion, the Com-
pany continues, in subsequent periods, to assess its ability to sustain those posi-
tions. A previously recognized tax benefit is derecognized when it is no longer more 
likely than not that the tax position would be sustained upon examination. Liabil-
ities for unrecognized tax benefits are classified as non-current unless the pay-
ment of the liability is expected to be made within the next 12 months. 

Earnings per Share
The Company calculates basic earnings per share (EPS) by dividing net income 
attributable to controlling interest by the weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period (net of treasury shares). When it would not be 
antidilutive (such as during periods of net loss), the diluted EPS also reflects the 
potential dilution that could occur if common stock were issued for awards under 
the Stock Incentive Plan and for common stock issued upon conversion of the eq-
uity units.

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investment instruments purchased with 
a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Receivables
The Company has guidelines for calculating the allowance for bad debts. In de-
termining the amount of a bad debt allowance, management uses its judgment 
to consider factors such as the age of the receivables, the Company’s prior expe-
rience with the customer, the experience of other enterprises in the same indus-
try, the customer’s ability to pay, and/or an appraisal of current economic condi-
tions. Collateral is typically not required. There can be no assurance that the 
amount ultimately realized for receivables will not be materially different than that 
assumed in the calculation of the allowance.

Financial Instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, “derivatives”, as part of its 
debt management to mitigate the market risk that occurs from its exposure to 
changes in interest and foreign exchange rates. The Company does not enter into 
derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. The use of such derivatives 
is in accordance with the strategies contained in the Company’s overall financial 
policy. The derivatives outstanding at year-end are either interest rate swaps, 
cross-currency interest rate swaps or foreign exchange swaps. All swaps princi-
pally match the terms and maturity of the underlying debt and no swaps have a 
maturity beyond 2019.

All derivatives are recognized in the consolidated financial statements at fair 
value. Certain derivatives are designated either as fair value hedges or cash flow 
hedges in line with the hedge accounting criteria. For certain other derivatives 
hedge accounting is not applied either because non hedge accounting treatment 
creates the same accounting result or that the hedge does not meet the hedge 
accounting requirements, although entered into applying the same rationale con-
cerning mitigating market risk that occurs from changes in interest and foreign 
exchange rates. 

When a hedge is classified as a fair value hedge, the change in the fair value 
of the hedge is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income along with 
the offsetting change in the fair value of the hedged item. When a hedge is clas-
sified as a cash flow hedge, any change in the fair value of the hedge is initially 
recorded in equity as a component of Other Comprehensive Income, (OCI), and 
reclassified into the Consolidated Statements of Income when the hedge trans-
action effects net earnings. There were no material reclassifications from OCI to 
the Consolidated Statements of Income in 2010 and, likewise, no material reclas-
sifications are expected in 2011. Any ineffectiveness has been immaterial. 

For further details on the Company’s financial instruments, see Note 3.

Inventories
The cost of inventories is computed according to the first-in, first-out method 
(FIFO). Cost includes the cost of materials, direct labor and the applicable share 
of manufacturing overhead. Inventories are evaluated based on individual or, in 
some cases, groups of inventory items. Reserves are established to reduce the 
value of inventories to the lower of cost or market, with the market generally de-
fined as net realizable value for finished goods and replacement cost for raw ma-
terials and work-in-process. Excess inventories are quantities of items that ex-
ceed anticipated sales or usage for a reasonable period. The Company has 
guidelines for calculating provisions for excess inventories based on the number 
of months of inventories on hand compared to anticipated sales or usage. Man-
agement uses its judgment to forecast sales or usage and to determine what con-
stitutes a reasonable period. There can be no assurance that the amount ulti-
mately realized for inventories will not be materially different than that assumed 
in the calculation of the reserves.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, Plant and Equipment are recorded at historical cost. Construction in 
progress generally involves short-term projects for which capitalized interest is 
not significant. The Company provides for depreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment computed under the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated use-
ful lives. Depreciation on capital leases is recognized in the Consolidated State-
ments of Income over the shorter of the assets’ expected life or the lease contract 
terms. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over 
the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but 
is subject to at least an annual review for impairment. Other intangible assets, 
principally related to acquired technology and contractual relationships, are am-
ortized over their useful lives which range from 3 to 25 years. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had recorded goodwill of ap-
proximately $1.6 billion of which nearly all is associated with the reporting unit 
Airbag & Seatbelt Systems. Approximately $1.2 billion is goodwill associated with 
the 1997 merger of Autoliv AB and the Automotive Safety Products Division of Mor-
ton International, Inc. The Company performs its annual impairment testing in 
the fourth quarter of each year. Impairment testing is required more often than 
annually if an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment, or decline in 
value, may have occurred. The impairment testing of goodwill is based on three 
different reporting units: 1) Airbag & Seatbelt Systems, 2) Active Safety Electron-
ics and 3) Seat Sub-Systems. 

In conducting its impairment testing, the Company compares the estimated 
fair value of each of its reporting units to the related carrying value of the report-
ing unit. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, 
goodwill is considered not to be impaired. If the carrying value of a reporting unit 
exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment loss is measured and recognized. 

The estimated fair market value of the reporting unit is determined by the dis-
counted cash flow method taking into account expected long-term operating cash-
flow performance. The Company discounts projected operating cash flows using 
its weighted average cost of capital, including a risk premium to adjust for mar-
ket risk. The estimated fair value is based on automotive industry volume projec-
tions which are based on third-party and internally developed forecasts and dis-
count rate assumptions. Significant assumptions include terminal growth rates, 
terminal operating margin rates, future capital expenditures and working capital 
requirements. 

To supplement this analysis, the Company compares the market value of its 
equity, calculated by reference to the quoted market prices of its shares includ-
ing control premium assumptions, to the book value of its equity. 

There were no impairments of goodwill in 2008 through 2010.
The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets other than 
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goodwill when indications of impairment are evident. Impairment testing is pri-
marily done by using the cash flow method based on undiscounted future cash 
flows.

Insurance Deposits
The Company has entered into liability and recall insurance contracts to mitigate 
the risk of costs associated with product recalls. These are accounted for under 
the deposit method of accounting based on the existing contractual terms.

Warranties and Recalls
The Company records liabilities for product recalls when probable claims are iden-
tified and when it is possible to reasonably estimate costs. Recall costs are costs 
incurred when the customer decides to formally recall a product due to a known 
or suspected safety concern. Product recall costs typically include the cost of the 
product being replaced as well as the customer’s cost of the recall, including la-
bor to remove and replace the defective part.

Provisions for warranty claims are estimated based on prior experience, like-
ly changes in performance of newer products and the mix and volume of products 
sold. The provisions are recorded on an accrual basis.

Restructuring provisions
The Company defines restructuring expense to include costs directly associated 
with rightsizing, exit or disposal activities. 

	Estimates of restructuring charges are based on information available at the 
time such charges are recorded. In general, management anticipates that re-
structuring activities will be completed within a timeframe such that significant 
changes to the exit plan are not likely. Due to inherent uncertainty involved in es-
timating restructuring expenses, actual amounts paid for such activities may dif-
fer from amounts initially estimated.

Pension Obligations
The Company provides for both defined contribution plans and defined benefit 
plans. A defined contribution plan generally specifies the periodic amount that 
the employer must contribute to the plan and how that amount will be allocated 
to the eligible employees who perform services during the same period. A defined 
benefit pension plan is one that contains pension benefit formulas, which gener-
ally determine the amount of pension benefit that each employee will receive for 
services performed during a specified period of employment. 

The amount recognized as a defined benefit liability is the net total of project-
ed benefit obligation (PBO) minus the fair value of plan assets (if any) (see Note 
18). The plan assets are measured at fair value. The input to the fair value meas-
urement of the plan assets is mainly quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets.

Translation of Non-U.S. Subsidiaries
The balance sheets of subsidiaries with functional currency other than U.S. dol-
lars are translated into U.S. dollars using year-end rates of exchange. 

The statement of operations of these subsidiaries is translated into U.S. dol-
lars at the average rates of exchange for the year. Translation differences are re-
flected in equity as a component of OCI.

Receivables and Liabilities in Non-Functional Currencies
Receivables and liabilities not denominated in functional currencies are convert-
ed at year-end rates of exchange. Net transaction gains/(losses), reflected in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income amounted to $(9.1) million in 2010, $(16.1) 
million in 2009 and $7.4 million in 2008, and are recorded in operating income if 
they relate to operational receivables and liabilities or recorded in other financial 
items, net if they relate to financial receivables and liabilities.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, “Fair Value Measurements 
and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measure-

ments”. ASU No. 2010-06 requires disclosure of significant transfers between Lev-
el 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy beginning on January 1, 2010. ASU No. 
2010-06 further requires entities to report, on a gross basis, activity in the Level 
3 fair value measurement reconciliation beginning on January 1, 2011. The adop-
tion of the 2010 provisions of ASU No. 2010-06 did not have a material impact on 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) No. 167, “Amendments to FASB Interpretation 46(R) (FIN 46(R)),” which 
has been codified as ASU No. 2009-17. ASU 2009-17 requires that the assessment 
of whether an entity has a controlling financial interest in a Variable Interest En-
tity (VIE) must be performed on an ongoing basis. ASU 2009-17 also requires that 
the assessment to determine if an entity has a controlling financial interest in a 
VIE must be qualitative in nature, and eliminates the quantitative assessment re-
quired in ASC 810. The adoption of ASU No. 2009-17 did not have an impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, “Accounting for Transfers of Fi-
nancial Assets - an Amendment of SFAS No. 140”, which has been codified as ASU 
No. 2009-16. ASU No. 2009-16 eliminates the concept of a qualified special-pur-
pose entity from GAAP. ASU No. 2009-16 also clarifies the language surrounding 
when a transferor of financial assets has surrendered control over the transferred 
financial assets. ASU No. 2009-16 establishes additional guidelines for the rec-
ognition of a sale related to the transfer of a portion of a financial asset, and re-
quires that all transfers be measured at fair value. The adoption of ASU No. 2009-
16 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Reclassifications
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year pre-
sentation.

2. Business Combinations
Business combinations generally take place to either gain key technology or 
strengthen Autoliv’s position in a certain geographical area or with a certain cus-
tomer. 

As of March 31, 2010, Autoliv acquired Delphi’s Occupant Protection Systems 
(OPS) operations in Korea and China. The purchase price for this acquisition was 
$73 million and this acquisition did not result in any goodwill. The assets and li-
abilities assumed from these businesses were included in the Company’s consol-
idated financial statements as of March 31, 2010. The results from the operations 
have been included in the consolidated financial statements from April 1, 2010.

In December 2009, Autoliv acquired certain assets from Delphi in North Amer-
ica and Europe for the production of airbags, steering wheels and seatbelts. The 
purchase price and goodwill in connection with these acquisitions was $34 mil-
lion and $1 million, respectively.

As of September 26, 2008, Autoliv acquired the automotive radar sensors busi-
ness of Tyco Electronics Ltd. This radar sensor business was a “carve-out” of the 
Radio Frequency and Subsystems business unit within Tyco Electronics. The pur-
chase price and goodwill in connection with this acquisition were $42 million and 
$21 million, respectively. 

There is no goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes arising 
from these acquisitions.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
The Company records derivatives at fair value. Any gains and losses on deriva-
tives recorded at fair value are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Income 
with the exception of cash flow hedges where an immaterial portion of the fair 
value is reflected in Other Comprehensive Income in the balance sheet. The de-
gree of judgment utilized in measuring the fair value of the instruments gener-
ally correlates to the level of pricing observability. Pricing observability is impact-
ed by a number of factors, including the type of asset or liability, whether the 
asset or liability has an established market and the characteristics specific to 
the transaction. Derivatives with readily active quoted prices or for which fair val-
ue can be measured from actively quoted prices generally will have a higher de-
gree of pricing observability and a lesser degree of judgment utilized in measur-
ing fair value. Conversely, assets rarely traded or not quoted will generally have 
less, or no, pricing observability and a higher degree of judgment utilized in mea-
suring fair value.

Under existing GAAP, there is a hierarchal disclosure framework associated 

with the level of pricing observability utilized in measuring assets and liabilities at 
fair value. The three broad levels defined by the hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or lia-
bilities as of the reported date.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are 
either directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date. The nature of these 
assets and liabilities include items for which quoted prices are available but trad-
ed less frequently, and items that are fair valued using other financial instruments, 
the parameters of which can be directly observed.

Level 3 - Assets and liabilities that have little to no pricing observability as of the 
reported date. These items do not have two-way markets and are measured using 
management’s best estimate of fair value, where the inputs into the determination 
of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation.

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Company’s derivatives by the above pricing observability levels:

Total carrying amount in Consolidated 
Balance Sheet December 31

           Fair value measurement at December 31, using:

           2010            2009
Description 2010 2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Derivatives $17.1 $17.3 – $17.1 – – $17.3 –
Total Assets $17.1 $17.3 – $17.1 – – $17.3 –

Liabilities
Derivatives $7.1 $13.1 – $7.1 – – $13.1 –
Total Liabilities $7.1 $13.1 – $7.1 – – $13.1 –

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, other current liabilities and short-term debt approximate their fair value be-
cause of the short term maturity of these instruments. The fair value of long-term debt is determined from quoted market prices as provided in the secondary market 
which was estimated using a discounted cash flow method based on the Company’s current borrowing rates for similar types of financing without a quoted market price. 
The discount rates for all derivative contracts are based on bank deposit or swap interest rates. Credit risk has been considered when determining the discount rates 
used for the derivative contracts which when aggregated by counterparty are in a liability position. The fair value of derivatives is estimated using a discounted cash flow 
method based on quoted market prices.

The fair value and carrying value of debt is summarized in the table below. For further details on the Company’s debt, see Note 12. 

Fair value of debt, December 31

Carrying value1) Fair value Carrying value1) Fair value
Long term debt 2010 2010 2009 2009

Commercial paper (reclassified) $0.0 $0.0 $117.6 $117.6
U.S. Private placement 409.3 442.8 406.5 413.0
Medium-term notes 88.2 96.3 124.8 131.8
Notes2) 100.2 115.7 146.4 181.5
Other long-term debt 40.0 39.7 25.4 25.5
Total $637.7 $694.5 $820.7 $869.4
Short-term debt
Overdrafts and other short-term debt $29.7 $29.7 $54.1 $54.1
Short-term portion of long-term debt 57.4 57.4 264.5 264.5
Total $87.1 $87.1 $318.6 $318.6
1) Debt as reported in balance sheet.
2) Issued as a part of the equity unit offering (for further information see Note 13).

3. Fair Value Measurements
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The tables below present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
Although the Company is party to close-out netting agreements with most derivative counterparties, the fair values in the tables below and in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets at December 31, 2010 and 2009, have been presented on a gross basis.

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2010

Description Nominal volume Derivative asset Derivative liability Balance Sheet location

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps, less than 9 years (fair value hedge) $60.0 $9.3 $– Other non-current asset
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments $60.0 $9.3 $-

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps, less than 1 year $40.3 $3.7 $– Other current assets
Foreign exchange swaps, less than 6 months 1,486.2 4.1 7.1 Other current assets/liabilities
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments $1,526.5 $7.8 $7.1
Total derivatives $1,586.5 $17.1 $7.1

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2009

Description Nominal volume Derivative asset Derivative liability Balance Sheet location

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Cross currency interest rate swaps,  
less than 1 year (cash flow hedge) $52.5 $2.3 $4.5 Other current assets/liabilities
Interest rate swaps, less than 10 years (fair value hedge) 60.0 6.5 – Other non-current asset
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments $112.5 $8.8 $4.5

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps, less than 1 year $20.3 $0.5 $– Other current assets
Cross currency interest rate swaps, less than 2 years 40.3 1.1 – Other non-current assets
Foreign exchange swaps, less than 6 months 1,379.3 6.9 8.6 Other current assets/liabilities
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments $1,439.9 $8.5 $8.6
Total derivatives $1,552.4 $17.3 $13.1

Amount gain (loss) recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income January-December 2010

Nominal 
volume

Other 
financial 

items, net
Interest 
expense Interest income

Amount of gain (loss) 
recognized in OCI on 

derivative effective 
portion

Amount of gain (loss) 
reclassified from accu-

mulated OCI into interest 
expense

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps, 
   less than 1 year (cash flow hedge) $54.01) $1.9 $– $– $– $0.2
Interest rate swaps, less than 
   9 years (fair value hedge) 60.02) – 2.8 – – –
Total derivatives designated $114.01)

   as hedging instruments

1) Cross currency interest rate swaps with a nominal value of $54 million have matured in 2010. 2) The hedged item related to the fair value hedge consists of a $60 million debt note which matures in 
2019. The fair value change related to this note of $(2.8) million has increased interest expense during 2010 and thus fully off-sets the $2.8 million fair value change related to the hedging instrument 
disclosed in the table above.



61

Amount gain (loss) recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income January-December 2009

Nominal 
volume

Other 
financial 

items, net
Interest 
expense Interest income

Amount of gain (loss) 
recognized in OCI on 

derivative effective 
portion

Amount of gain (loss) 
reclassified from accu-

mulated OCI into interest 
expense

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps, 
   less than 1 year (cash flow hedge) $52.5 $1.6 $– $– $(0.3) $–
Interest rate swaps, less than 
   10 years (fair value hedge) 60.01) – (8.9) – – –
Total derivatives designated $112.5
   as hedging instruments

1) The hedged item related to the fair value hedge consists of a $60 million debt note which matures in 2019. The fair value change related to this note of $8.9 million has decreased interest expense 
during 2009 and thus fully offsets the $(8.9) million fair value change related to the hedging instrument disclosed in the table above.

Amount gain (loss) recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income January-December

Nominal volume
Other financial  

items, net Interest expense Interest income
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps, less than 1 year $40.3 $20.3 $2.0 $1.5 $0.2 $0.1  $– $–
Cross currency interest rate swaps, less than 2 years – 40.3 – 2.9 – 0.2 – –
Foreign exchange swaps 1,486.2 1,379.3 (1.0) 20.2 (0.3) (0.2) – –
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments $1,526.5 $1,439.9

All amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income related to derivatives, not designated as hedging instruments, relate to economic hedges and thus 
have been materially offset by an opposite statements of income effect of the related financial liabilities or financial assets.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis 
During 2010 and 2009, in connection with restructuring activities in North America, Europe and Asia, the Company recorded impairment charges on certain of its long-
lived assets, mainly machinery and equipment (for further information, see Note 10 Restructuring and Other liabilities below). The impairment charges have reduced 
the carrying value of the assets to their fair value, as summarized in the table below.

Fair value measurements using

Description
Fair value  

December 31, 2010

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets 
(Level 1)

Significant other 
observable inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant unob-
servable inputs 

(Level 3) Total losses

Long-lived assets held for use /sale $0.0 $– $– $0.0 $(1.0)
Total losses $0.0 $– $– $0.0 $(1.0)

Machinery and equipment with a carrying amount of $1.0 million was written down to its fair value of $0.0 million, resulting in an impairment charge of $1.0 million, 
which was included in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2010. There will be no future identifiable cash flows related to this group 
of impaired assets.

Description
Fair value  

December 31, 2009

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets 
(Level 1)

Significant other 
observable inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant unob-
servable inputs 

(Level 3) Total losses

Long-lived assets held for use /sale $0.0 $– $– $0.0 $(5.3)
Total losses $0.0 $– $– $0.0 $(5.3)

Machinery and equipment with a carrying amount of $5.3 million was written down to its fair value of $0.0 million, resulting in an impairment charge of $5.3 million, 
which was included in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2009. There will be no future identifiable cash flows related to this group 
of impaired assets.
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income (Loss) before income taxes 2010 2009 2008

U.S. $132.8 $(30.1) $29.2
Non-U.S. 672.7 35.6 219.5
Total $805.5 $5.5 $248.7

Provision for income taxes 2010 2009 2008

Current
   U.S. federal $60.9 $6.0 $16.8
   Non-U.S. 120.0 47.8 69.7
   U.S. state and local 11.3 1.5 2.1
Deferred
   U.S. federal (8.9) 0.1 1.2
   Non-U.S. 28.2 (62.5) (13.6)
   U.S. state and local (1.5) 0.0 0.1
Total income tax expense (benefit) $210.0 $(7.1) $76.3

Effective income tax rate 2010 2009 2008

U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Net operating loss carry-forwards (0.9) (70.9) (0.8)
Non-utilized operating losses 0.1 172.7 5.2
Foreign tax rate variances (9.5) (388.3) (4.3)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 0.8 41.8 0.8
Earnings of equity investments (0.2) (21.8) (0.5)
Tax credits (3.3) (398.2) (10.7)
Changes in tax reserves (0.4) 32.7 (0.4)
Accrual to return adjustments 0.0 (29.1) 0.9
Cost of double taxation 1.9 281.8 3.4
Withholding taxes 2.7 200.0 0.8
Other, net (0.1) 15.2 1.3
Effective income tax rate 26.1% (129.1)% 30.7%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences be-
tween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting pur-
poses and the amounts used for income tax purposes. On December 31, 2010, 
the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards (NOL’s) of approximately 
$163 million, of which approximately $126 million have no expiration date. The 
remaining losses expire on various dates through 2029. The Company also has 
$2.7 million of U.S. Foreign Tax Credit carryforwards, which expire on various 
dates through 2019.

Valuation allowances have been established which partially offset the relat-
ed deferred assets. The Company provides valuation allowances against poten-
tial future tax benefits when, in the opinion of management, based on the weight 
of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred 
tax assets will not be realized. Such allowances are primarily provided against 
NOL’s of companies that have perennially incurred losses, as well as the NOL’s 
of companies that are start-up operations and have not established a pattern of 
profitability.

The Company benefits from “tax holidays” in certain of its subsidiaries, prin-
cipally in China and Korea. These tax holidays typically take the form of reduced 
rates of tax on income for a period of several years following the establishment 
of an eligible company. These tax holidays have resulted in income tax savings 
of approximately $18 million ($0.20 per share) in 2010, $12 million ($0.14 per 
share) in 2009 and $5 million ($0.07 per share) in 2008. These special holiday 

rates are expected to be available for at least two more years, but have begun 
to be phased out at some subsidiaries.

The Company has reserves for income taxes that may become payable in fu-
ture periods as a result of tax audits. These reserves represent the Company’s 
best estimate of the potential liability for tax exposures. Inherent uncertainties 
exist in estimates of tax exposures due to changes in tax law, both legislated and 
concluded through the various jurisdictions’ court systems. The Company files 
income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction, and various states 
and foreign jurisdictions. 

At any given time, the Company is undergoing tax audits in several tax juris-
dictions and covering multiple years. The Company is no longer subject to in-
come tax examination by the U.S. Federal tax authorities for years prior to 2003. 
With few exceptions, the Company is also no longer subject to income tax ex-
amination by U.S. state or local tax authorities for tax years prior to 2003. In ad-
dition, with few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax ex-
aminations by non-U.S. tax authorities for years before 2003. The Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) began an examination of the Company’s 2003-2005 U.S. 
income tax returns in the second quarter of 2006. On March 31, 2009, the IRS 
field examination team issued an examination report in which the examination 
team proposed to increase the Company’s U.S. taxable income due to alleged 
incorrect transfer pricing in transactions between a U.S. subsidiary and other 
subsidiaries during the period 2003 through 2005. The Company, after consul-
tation with its tax counsel, filed a protest to the examination report to seek re-
view of the examination report by the Appeals Office of the IRS. By letter dated 
June 1, 2010, the Appeals Office team assigned to review the examination re-
port informed the Company that it had concluded that the IRS should withdraw 
all of the adjustments that would have increased the Company’s taxable income 
due to alleged incorrect transfer pricing. Aspects of that decision are subject to 
review by the Appeals Technical Guidance Coordinator with responsibility for 
one of the principal transfer pricing issues that the examination report raised. 
In addition, the U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation will review the pro-
posed resolution in the context of its review of a tax refund the Company is claim-
ing for this same period. The Company is not able to estimate when these re-
views will be completed. In addition, the IRS began an examination of the 
Company’s 2006-2008 U.S. income tax returns in the third quarter 2009. In ad-
dition, the Company is undergoing tax audits in several non-U.S. jurisdictions 
covering multiple years. As of December 31, 2010, as a result of those tax ex-
aminations, the Company is not aware of any material proposed income tax ad-
justments. The Company expects the completion of certain tax audits in the near 
term. If completed with satisfactory outcomes, which cannot be assured, it is 
reasonably possible that the completion of those audits and the determinations 
that could be made in other current audits would decrease by up to $22 million 
the unrecognized tax benefits in some future period or periods. In addition, oth-
er audits could result in additional increases or decreases to the unrecognized 
tax benefits in some future period or periods.

The Company recognizes interest and potential penalties accrued related to 
unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense. As of January 1, 2010, the Company 
had recorded $46.7 million for unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years, 
including $9.6 million of accrued interest and penalties. During 2010, the Com-
pany recorded a net decrease of $3.9 million to income tax reserves for unrec-
ognized tax benefits based on tax positions related to the current and prior years 
and recorded a decrease of $0.5 million for interest and penalties related to un-
recognized tax benefits of prior years. The Company had $9.1 million accrued 
for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2010. Of the total 
unrecognized tax benefits of $42.3 million recorded at December 31, 2010, $25.2 
million is classified as current tax payable and $17.1 million is classified as non-
current tax payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Substantially all of these 
reserves would impact the effective tax rate if released into income. 

4. Income Taxes
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6. Inventories

December 31 2010 2009 2008

Raw material $271.8 $243.2 $272.5
Work in progress 216.7 205.3 252.1
Finished products 154.8 125.3 148.5
Inventories $643.3 $573.8 $673.1

Inventory reserve at beginning of year $(84.8) $(80.7) $(69.4) 
   Reversal of reserve 8.1 6.9 4.9
   Addition to reserve (16.1) (17.9) (25.4)
   Write-off against reserve 10.2 8.8 7.9
   Translation difference 1.0 (1.9) 1.3 
Inventory reserve at end of year (81.6) (84.8) (80.7) 
Total inventories, net of reserve $561.7 $489.0 $592.4

5. Receivables

December 31 2010 2009 2008

Receivables $1,375.1 $1,061.8 $848.4
Allowance at beginning of year (8.7) (9.9) (10.9) 
   Reversal of allowance 2.2 5.2 3.8
   Addition to allowance (2.1) (7.2) (9.5) 
   Write-off against allowance 0.9 3.5 5.5
   Translation difference 0.2 (0.3) 1.2
Allowance at end of year (7.5) (8.7) (9.9) 
Total receivables, net of allowance $1,367.6 $1,053.1 $838.5

Tabular presentation of  
tax benefits unrecognized 2010 2009 2008

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year $37.1 $34.1 $38.7
Gross amounts of increases and decreases: 
   Increases as a result of tax positions  
      taken during a prior period 0.0 0.0 1.7
   Decreases as a result of tax positions  
      taken during a prior period (0.0) (0.5) (0.5)
   Increases as a result of tax positions  
      taken during the current period 1.2 8.1 2.8
   Decreases as a result of tax positions  
      taken during the current period 0.0 0.0 0.0
   Decreases relating to settlements 
      with taxing authorities (1.0) (0.0) (0.8)
   Decreases resulting from the lapse of  
      the applicable statute of limitations (4.2) (5.6) (6.4)
   Translation Difference 0.1 1.0 (1.4)
Total unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $33.2 $37.1 $34.1

Deferred taxes 
December 31 2010 2009

Assets
Provisions $91.1 $81.2
Costs capitalized for tax 8.0 5.2
Property, plant and equipment 47.5 46.4
Retirement Plans 58.2 51.3
Tax receivables, principally NOL’s 62.4 101.9
Deferred tax assets before allowances $267.2 $286.0
Valuation allowances (30.1) (54.2)
Total $237.1 $231.8

Liabilities
Acquired intangibles $(37.6) $(41.5)
Statutory tax allowances (2.2) (2.0)
Insurance deposit (7.2) (9.1)
Distribution taxes (32.0) (9.5)
Other (0.2) (0.7)
Total $(79.2) $(62.8)
Net deferred tax asset  $157.9 $169.0

Valuation allowances against  
deferred tax assets December 31 2010 2009 2008

Allowances at beginning of year $54.2 $37.6 $30.8
Benefits reserved current year 2.9 15.3 6.6
Benefits recognized current year (33.5) (3.7) (1.2)
Write-offs and other changes 5.9 2.7 4.7
Translation difference 0.6 2.3 (3.3)
Allowances at end of year $30.1 $54.2 $37.6

U.S. federal income taxes have not been provided on $3.0 billion of undistributed 
earnings of non-U.S. operations, which are considered to be permanently rein-
vested. Most of these undistributed earnings are not subject to withholding taxes 
upon distribution to intermediate holding companies. However, when appropri-
ate, the Company provides for the cost of such distribution taxes. The Company 
has determined that it is not practicable to calculate the deferred tax liability if the 
entire $3.0 billion of earnings were to be distributed to the U.S.
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7. Investments and  
Other Non-current Assets

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had invested in four affiliated companies 
which it currently does not control, but in which it exercises significant influence 
over operations and financial position. These investments are accounted for un-
der the equity method, which means that a proportional share of the affiliated 
company’s net income increases the investment, and a proportional share of loss-
es and payment of dividends decreases it. In the Consolidated Statements of In-
come, the proportional share of the affiliated company’s net income (loss) is re-
ported as “Equity in earnings of affiliates”. The Company is applying deposit 
accounting for an insurance arrangement. For additional information on deriva-
tives see Note 3. 

In 2010, Shanghai-VOA Webbing Belt Co. Ltd., where the company owned 45%, 
was liquidated.

December 31 2010 2009

Total investments in affiliated companies $21.4 $25.3
Deferred income tax receivables 151.9 155.9
Derivative assets 9.3 7.6
Long-term interest bearing deposit 
   (insurance arrangement) 22.6 27.6
Other non-current assets 22.9 19.1
Investments and other non-current assets $228.1 $235.5

The most significant investments in affiliated companies and the respective per-
centage of ownership are:

Country Ownership % Company name

France 49% EAK SA Composants pour 
L’Industrie Automobile

France 49% EAK SNC Composants pour  
L’Industrie Automobile 

Malaysia 49% Autoliv-Hirotako Safety Sdn Bhd  
(parent and subsidiaries) 

China 30% Changchun Hongguang-Autoliv  
Vehicle Safety Systems Co. Ltd. 

9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Unamortized intangibles 2010 2009

Goodwill 
Carrying amount at beginning of year $1,614.4 $1,607.8
Acquisitions and purchase price adjustments 1.5 –
Translation differences (3.6) 6.6
Carrying amount at end of year $1,612.3 $1,614.4

Amortized intangibles 2010 2009

Gross carrying amount $379.0 $367.0
Accumulated amortization (269.3) (252.7)
Carrying value $109.7 $114.3

No significant impairments were recognized during 2010, 2009 or 2008. 
At December 31, 2010, goodwill assets include $1.2 billion associated with the 

1997 merger of Autoliv AB and the Automotive Safety Products Division of Morton 
International, Inc.

The increase in the gross carrying amount of the intangible assets is primar-
ily due to acquired patents included in the Delphi acquisition. The aggregate amor-
tization expense on intangible assets was $18.0 million in 2010, $23.1 million in 
2009, and $23.6 million in 2008. The estimated amortization expense is as follows 
(in millions): 2011: $14.5; 2012: $15.1; 2013 $13.7, 2014: $11.6 and 2015: $8.4.

8. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31 2010 2009 Estimated life

Land and land improvements $107.6 $97.9 n/a to 15
Machinery and equipment 2,751.3 2,720.6 3–8
Buildings 718.0 689.7 20–40
Construction in progress 125.3 73.1 n/a
Property, plant and equipment $3,702.2 $3,581.3
Less accumulated depreciation (2,676.4) (2,539.5)
Net of depreciation $1,025.8 $1,041.8

Depreciation included in 2010 2009 2008

Cost of sales $233.6 $252.4 $276.6
Selling, general and  
   administrative expenses 8.7 15.4 20.2
Research, development and  
   engineering expenses 21.4 23.4 26.5
Total $263.7 $291.2 $323.3

Total fixed asset impairments in 2010 were $1.0 million, of which all were asso-
ciated with restructuring activities. Total fixed asset impairments in 2009 were 
$5.3 million, of which all were associated with restructuring activities. Total im-
pairments recognized in 2008 were $12 million, of which $8 million were associ-
ated with restructuring activities.

The net book value of machinery and equipment under capital lease contracts 
recorded as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounted to $1.6 million and $1.2 
million, respectively. The net book value of buildings and land under capital lease 
contracts recorded as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounted to $3.7 and $5.1 
million, respectively.
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10. Restructuring and Other Liabilities

Restructuring
Restructuring provisions are made on a case by case basis and primarily include severance costs incurred in connection with headcount reductions and plant consolida-
tions. The Company expects to finance restructuring programs over the next several years through cash generated from its ongoing operations or through cash available 
under existing credit facilities. The Company does not expect that the execution of these programs will have an adverse impact on its liquidity position. The tables below 
summarize the change in the balance sheet position of the restructuring reserves from December 31, 2007 to December 31, 2010.

2010
In 2010, the employee-related restructuring provisions, made on a case-by-case basis, relate mainly to headcount reductions throughout Europe. Reversals in 2010 main-
ly relate to restructuring reserves in North America and Europe and were due to capacity reduction that was not as severe as originally communicated. The cash pay-
ments mainly relate to high-cost countries in Europe and in Australia. The changes in the employee-related reserves have been charged against Other income (expense), 
net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Impairment charges mainly relate to machinery and equipment impaired in connection with restructuring activities in 
Australia and Japan. The fixed asset impairments have been charged against Cost of sales in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The table below summarizes the 
change in the balance sheet position of the restructuring reserves from December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2010.

December 31
2009

Provision/
Charge

Provision/
Reversal

Cash
payments Non-cash

Translation
difference

December 31
2010

Restructuring employee-related $100.1 $30.3 $(10.2) $(66.1) $– $(5.7) $48.4
Fixed asset impairment – 1.0 – – (1.0) – –
Other 0.2 0.2 – (0.2) – – 0.2
Total reserve $100.3 $31.5 $(10.2) $(66.3) $(1.0) $(5.7) $48.6

2009
In 2009, the employee-related restructuring provisions, made on a case-by-case basis, relate mainly to headcount reductions throughout North America, South Amer-
ica, Europe, Japan and Australia. Reversals in 2009 mainly relate to 2008 restructuring reserves in North America and Europe and were due to customer program can-
cellations which were not as severe as originally communicated and final settlement of employee-related amounts were less than initial restructuring plan estimates. 
The cash payments mainly relate to high-cost countries in North America, Europe and in Japan. The changes in the employee-related reserves have been charged against 
Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Impairment charges mainly relate to machinery and equipment impaired in connection with re-
structuring activities in North America. The fixed asset impairments have been charged against Cost of sales in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The table be-
low summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of the restructuring reserves from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009.

Action Program
The action program initiated in July 2008 (the Action Program), as discussed below, was finalized as of December 31, 2008 and the remaining reserves at the end of 2008 
were substantially paid during 2009. The Company has not initiated additional restructuring activities under this comprehensive program. From January 2009 and on-
wards new provisions for restructuring activities have been made on a case by case basis.

The table above includes the cash payments and remaining reserves associated with the Action Program and such payments and remaining reserves are also sep-
arately disclosed in the table below.

December 31
2008

Provision/
Charge

Provision/
Reversal

Cash
payments Non-cash

Translation
difference

December 31
2009

Restructuring employee-related $55.3 $133.6 $(5.7) $(85.1) $– $2.0 $100.1
Fixed asset impairment – 5.3 – – (5.3) – –
Other 0.4 – – (0.2) – – 0.2
Total reserve $55.7 $138.9 $(5.7) $(85.3) $(5.3) $2.0 $100.3

December 31
2008

Provision/
Charge

Provision/
Reversal

Cash
payments Non-cash

Translation
difference

December 31
2009

Restructuring employee-related $46.4 $– $(3.8) $(35.4) $– $0.1 $7.3
Other 0.2 – – (0.2) – – –
Total reserve $46.6 $– $(3.8) $(35.6) $– $0.1 $7.3
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11. Product Related Liabilities

Autoliv is exposed to product liability and warranty claims in the event that the 
Company’s products fail to perform as expected and such failure results, or is al-
leged to result, in bodily injury, and/or property damage or other loss. The Com-
pany has reserves for product risks. Such reserves are related to product perfor-
mance issues including recall, product liability and warranty issues.

The Company records liabilities for product-related risks when probable claims 
are identified and when it is possible to reasonably estimate costs. Provisions for 
warranty claims are estimated based on prior experience, likely changes in per-
formance of newer products, and the mix and volume of the products sold. The 
provisions are recorded on an accrual basis.

The increase in reserve in 2010 mainly relates to recalls. The increase in the 
reserve in 2009 mainly relates to warranties.

Cash payments have been made mainly for warranty related issues in connec-
tion with a variety of different products and customers for both 2009 and 2010. 

The table to the right summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of 
the product-related liabilities.

December 31 2010 2009 2008

Reserve at beginning of the year $30.6 $16.7 18.8
Change in reserve 25.4 23.5 9.0
Cash payments (17.0) (10.1) (10.8)
Translation difference 0.2 0.5 (0.3)
Reserve at end of the year $39.2 $30.6 $16.7

Action Program
In July 2008, the Company announced that it was developing the Action Program to mitigate the effects of both accelerating production cuts by customers and increas-
ing costs for raw materials. The main items in the program are adjustment of manufacturing capacity, including plant closures, due to lower expected vehicle produc-
tion, accelerated move of sourcing to low-cost countries, consolidation of supplier base and standardization of products and reductions in overhead costs, including con-
solidation of technical centers. The pre-tax cost for this program was estimated to be $75 million which approximates the actual costs incurred. 

The previous table includes the activity and remaining reserves associated with the Action Program, which are also separately disclosed in the table below.

2008
In 2008, the employee-related restructuring provisions relate mainly to headcount reductions throughout North America and Europe and are primarily associated with 
the Action Program referred to below. The cash payments mainly relate to high-cost countries in North America and Europe. The changes in the employee-related re-
serves have been charged against Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Impairment charges mainly relate to machinery and equip-
ment impaired in connection with the Action Program activities in North America and Europe. The fixed asset impairments have been charged against Cost of sales 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The table below summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of the restructuring reserves from December 31, 
2007 to December 31, 2008.

December 31
2007

Provision/
Charge Acquisitions

Cash 
payments Non-cash

Translation
difference

December 31
2008

Restructuring employee-related $16.8 $71.6 $1.1 $(31.3) $– $(2.9) $55.3
Fixed asset impairment – 8.0 – – (8.0) – –
Other – 0.4 – – – – 0.4
Total reserve $16.8 $80.0 $1.1 $(31.3) $(8.0) $(2.9) $55.7

December 31
2007

Provision/
Charge

Cash 
payments Non-cash

Translation
difference

December 31
2008

Restructuring employee-related $– $65.8 $(16.9) $– $(2.5) $46.4
Fixed asset impairment – 8.0 – (8.0) – –
Other – 0.2 – – – 0.2
Total reserve $– $74.0 $(16.9) $(8.0) $(2.5) $46.6
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12. Debt and Credit Agreements

As part of its debt management, the Company enters into derivatives to achieve 
economically effective hedges and to minimize the cost of its funding. In this note, 
short-term debt and long-term debt are discussed including Debt-Related Deriv-
atives (DRD), i.e. debt including fair market value adjustments from hedges. The 
Debt Profile table also shows debt excluding DRD, i.e. reconciled to debt as re-
ported in the balance sheet.

Short-Term Debt
Short-term debt including DRD has been reduced from $322 million at year-end 
2009 to $86 million at December 31, 2010 as a result of the strong cash flow. Of 
the 2010 amount, $57 million relates to the short-term portion of long-term debt. 
This consists mainly of a floating-rate medium-term note of SEK 300 million which 
has been swapped into $40 million, carrying floating interest rates at LIBOR + 
1.2%. The remaining short-term portion of long-term loans are loans and financ-
ing at subsidiary level, primarily $8 million of loans in Japan carrying interest rates 
of 1.6% and $7 million of loans in Brazil carrying interest rates of 4.5%.

The Company’s subsidiaries also have credit agreements principally in the form 
of overdraft facilities, with a number of local banks. Total available short-term fa-
cilities, as of December 31, 2010, excluding commercial paper facilities as described 
below, amounted to $401 million, of which $29 million was utilized. The aggregate 
amount of unused short-term lines of credit at December 31, 2010, was $372 mil-
lion. The weighted average interest rate on total short-term debt outstanding at De-
cember 31, 2010 and 2009 was 2.2% and 3.4%, respectively.

Long-Term Debt Outstanding Loans
Following the sharp reduction of debt in 2009 and 2010, Autoliv did not issue any 
substantial new debt during 2010 despite the continued improvement in credit 
margins for the Company. Instead, during May and June 2010, Autoliv conducted 
a number of accelerated equity unit transactions (see Note 13 for more details) 
which reduced long-term debt by $54 million and the net carrying amount of the 
remaining equity units to $100 million at December 31, 2010. The notes related 
to the equity units were issued at a discount (in March 2009) and, after consider-
ing the repurchases made in 2010, they will have a carrying amount of $106 mil-
lion at their repricing date in the first quarter of 2012. The remaining unamortized 
discount was $6 million at December 31, 2010. In addition, an interest coupon of 
8% is paid on the notes of the equity units until the repricing. The effective inter-
est rate on these notes including cash coupon and amortization is 15% until re-
pricing. In 2010, total interest cost for the equity units was $18 million and $12 
million has been reported as a loss on debt extinguishment in conjunction with 
the accelerated equity unit exchange. 

In November 2007, Autoliv ASP Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of the Compa-
ny, issued $400 million of senior notes guaranteed by the Company in a private 
placement. The notes consist of four tranches of varying sizes, maturing 2012, 
2014, 2017 and 2019, respectively, which all carried fixed interest rates between 
5.6% and 6.2%. The Company entered into swap arrangements with respect to 
the proceeds of the notes offering, some of which were cancelled in 2008 result-
ing in a mark-to-market gain. This gain is amortized through interest expense 
over the life of the respective notes. 

As of December 31, 2010, only one interest rate swap with nominal value of 
$60 million remains outstanding. Consequently, $340 million of the notes carry 
fixed interest rates varying between 4.6% and 5.8%, when including the amorti-
zation of the cancelled swaps, while $60 million carry floating interest rates at 
three-month LIBOR + 1.0%. 

The remaining other long-term debt of $128 million, consisted primarily of a 
SEK 600 million note which is swapped into $88 million and carries a floating in-
terest rate of STIBOR + 3.9%, a $21 million equivalent loan borrowed from the 
Brazilian Development Bank by Autoliv do Brazil Ltda. (a wholly-owned subsidi-
ary) which carries an interest rate of 4.5% and matures in 2013 and $16 million 
equivalent of loans borrowed from Japanese Banks by Autoliv KK (a wholly-owned 

subsidiary) which carry interest rates of 1.6% and mature between 2012 and 2015. 
The Company is not subject to any financial covenants, i.e. performance related 
restrictions in any of its significant long-term borrowings or commitments.

Long-Term Debt Loan Facilities
While outstanding debt has decreased substantially in 2010, long-term commit-
ments and back-up facilities have been increased during the year. In June 2010, 
Autoliv AB, (a wholly-owned subsidiary) signed agreements for two new revolving 
credit facilities of SEK 2.0 billion (approx. $294 million) and €155 million (approx. 
$205 million). The SEK 2.0 billion facility is entered into with Nordea and matures 
in June 2017. The Company pays a commitment fee for this facility of 0.63%. The 
€155 million facility is entered into with Swedish Export Credit Corporation and 
SEB and matures in June 2015. The Company pays a commitment fee for this fa-
cility of 0.58%. EKN, the Swedish Export Credits Guarantee Board, has guaran-
teed each of these facilities up to 75%. In addition to these facilities, the Compa-
ny maintains a revolving credit facility of $1,100 million, which is syndicated among 
14 banks and matures in November 2012. The Company pays a commitment fee 
of 0.07% (given the rating of BBB+ from Standard & Poor’s at December 31, 2010). 
Borrowings under all of these facilities are unsecured and bear interest based on 
the relevant LIBOR or IBOR rate. None of these facilities were utilized at year-end 
2010. The commitments are available for general corporate purposes. Borrow-
ings are prepayable at any time and are due at the respective expiration date.

In 2009, Autoliv AB received an 18-month irrevocable loan commitment from 
the European Investment Bank (EIB) of €225 million (approx. $300 million) under 
which loans with an average maturity of up to 7.5 years and a final maturity up to 
10 years are available. Loans under the commitment were originally agreed to 
carry interest rates of EIB’s cost of funds plus 1.8%. In November 2010, EIB agreed 
to reduce the interest rates to EIB’s cost of funds plus 1.2%. There is no commit-
ment fee to be paid for this arrangement. No loans were outstanding under this 
commitment at December 31, 2010. The commitment will expire in June 2011 if 
loans are not drawn at that time. 

As a result of these agreements Autoliv has a total of $1.9 billion of unutilized 
long-term debt facilities or commitments available.

The Company has two commercial paper programs: one SEK 7 billion (approx. 
$1,050 million) Swedish program and one $1,000 million U.S. program. Due to the 
strong cash flow generation in 2010, both programs were unutilized at year-end. 
When notes have been outstanding under these programs, all of the notes have 
been classified as long-term debt because the Company has the ability and in-
tent to refinance these borrowings on a long-term basis either through continued 
commercial paper borrowings or utilization of the long-term credit facilities de-
scribed above.

In the Company’s financial operations, credit risk arises in connection with 
cash deposits with banks and when entering into forward exchange agreements, 
swap contracts or other financial instruments. In order to reduce this risk, depos-
its and financial instruments are only entered with a limited number of banks up 
to a calculated risk amount of $75 million per bank. The policy of the Company is 
to work with banks that have a high credit rating and that participate in the Com-
pany’s financing. In addition to this, deposits can be placed in U.S. and Swedish 
government paper as well as up to $500 million in certain AAA-rated money mar-
ket funds. At year end 2010, the Company had $417 million in money market funds 
and nil in government papers.

The table on the following page shows debt maturity as cash flow in the up-
per part which is reconciled with reported debt in the last row. For a description 
of hedging instruments used as part of debt management, see the Financial In-
struments section of Note 1 and Note 3.
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13. Shareholders’ Equity 

The number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2010 was 88,963,415. 

Dividends 2010 2009 2008

Cash dividend paid per share $0.65 $0.21 $1.60
Cash dividend declared per share $1.05 $– $1.42

Other comprehensive Income / Ending Balance1) 2010 2009 2008

Cumulative translation adjustments $81.0 $110.6 $92.6
Net gain/loss of cash flow hedge derivatives 0.0 (0.2) 0.1
Net pension liability (44.6) (36.1) (38.4)
Total (ending balance) $36.4 $74.3 $54.3
Deferred taxes on cash flow hedge derivatives $0.0 $0.0 $0.0
Deferred taxes on the pension liability $25.0 $20.8 $23.4

1) The components of Other Comprehensive Income are net of any related income tax effects.

Debt Profile 

Principal amount by expected maturity 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter
Total  

long-term Total

US private placement notes (incl. DRD1)) 
   (Weighted average interest rate 4.8%)2) $– $110.0 $– $125.0 $– $165.0 $400.0 $400.0
Overdraft/Other short-term debt 
   (Weighted average interest rate 2.2%) 28.9 – – – – – – 28.9
Notes issued as a part of Equity units
   (interest rate 15%)3) – 100.24) – – – – 100.2 100.2
Medium-term notes (incl. DRD1)) 
   (Weighted average interest rate 4.2%) 40.4 – – 88.2 – – 88.2 128.6
Other long-term loans, incl. current portion5)

   (Weighted average interest rate 3.0%) 17.1 25.3 10.9 2.5 1.3 – 40.0 57.1
Total debt as cash flow, (incl. DRD1)) $86.4 $235.5 $10.9 $215.7 $1.3 $165.0 $628.4 $714.8
DRD adjustment 0.7 – – – – 9.3 9.3 10.0
Total debt as reported $87.1 $235.5 $10.9 $215.7 $1.3 $174.3 $637.7 $724.8

1) Debt Related Derivatives (DRD), i.e. the fair market value adjustments associated with hedging instruments as adjustments to the carrying value of the underlying debt. 2) Interest rates will change as 
roll-overs occur prior to final maturity. 3) The effective interest rate on the notes including cash coupon and amortization is 15% until repricing. 4) Repricing in 2012, final maturity in 2014. 5) Primarily 
loans from Brazilian banks in BRL and loans from Japanese banks in JPY.

Equity and Equity Units Offering
On March 30, 2009, the Company sold, in an underwritten registered public offer-
ing, approximately 14.7 million common shares from treasury stock and 6.6 mil-
lion equity units (the Equity Units), listed on the NYSE as Corporate Units, for an 
aggregate stated amount and public offering price of $235 million and $165 mil-
lion, respectively. “Equity Units” is a term that describes a security that is either 
a Corporate Unit or a Treasury Unit, depending upon what type of note is used by 
the holder to secure the forward purchase contract (either a Note or a Treasury 
Security, as described below). The Equity Units initially consisted of a Corporate 
Unit which is (i) a forward purchase contract obligating the holder to purchase 
from the Company for a price in cash of $25, on the purchase contract settlement 
date of April 30, 2012, subject to early settlement in accordance with the terms of 
the Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement, a certain number (at the Settle-
ment Rate outlined in the Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement) of shares 

of Common Stock; and (ii) a 1/40, or 2.5%, undivided beneficial ownership inter-
est in a $1,000 principal amount of the Company’s 8% senior notes due 2014 (the 
Senior Notes). 

The Settlement Rate is based on the applicable market value of the Compa-
ny’s common stock on the settlement date. The minimum and maximum num-
ber of shares to be issued under the purchase contracts is 5.7 million, if the Au-
toliv share price is $19.20 or higher, and 6.8 million, if the price is $16.00 or less, 
giving effect to the dividend paid in the third and fourth quarters 2010, totalling 
$57.7 million, and the exchange of Equity Units discussed below. 

The Notes will be remarketed between January 12, 2012 and March 31, 2012 
whereby the interest rate on the Senior Notes will be reset and certain other terms 
of the Senior Notes may be modified in order to generate sufficient remarketing 
proceeds to satisfy the Equity Unit holders’ obligations under the purchase con-
tract. If the Senior Notes are not successfully remarketed, then a put right of hold-
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14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information 
The Company’s acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired were as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Acquisitions/Divestitures:
Fair value of assets acquired excluding cash $(133.9) $(47.1) $(44.4)
Fair value of non-controlling interests 4.2 – –
Liabilities assumed 52.3 10.8 1.9
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired $(77.4) $(36.3) $(42.5)

Payments for interest and income taxes were as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Interest $63 $74 $58
Income taxes $149 $31 $113

ers of the notes will be automatically exercised unless such holders (a) notify the 
Company of their intent to settle their obligations under the purchase contracts 
in cash, and (b) deliver $25 in cash per purchase contract, by the applicable dates 
specified by the purchase contracts. Following such exercise and settlement, the 
Equity Unit holders’ obligations to purchase shares of Common Stock under the 
purchase contracts will be satisfied in full, and the Company will deliver the shares 
of Common Stock to such holders.

The Company allocated proceeds received upon issuance of the Equity Units 
based on relative fair values at the time of issuance. The fair value of the purchase 
contract at issuance was $3.75 and the fair value of the note was $21.25. The dis-
count on the notes is amortized using the effective interest rate method. Accord-
ingly, the difference between the stated rate (i.e. cash payments of interest) and 
the effective interest rate is credited to the value of the notes. Thus, at the end of 
the three years, the notes will be stated on the balance sheet at their face amount. 
The Company allocated 1% of the 6% of underwriting commissions paid to the 
debt as deferred charges based on commissions paid for similar debt issuances, 
but including factors for market conditions at the time of the offering and the Com-
pany’s credit rating. The deferred charges are being amortized over the life of the 
note (until remarketing day) using the effective interest rate method. The remain-
ing underwriting commissions (5%) were allocated to the equity forward and re-
corded as a reduction to paid-in capital.

In May and early June 2010, pursuant to separately negotiated exchange agree-
ments with holders representing an aggregate of 2.3 million Equity Units, the 
Company issued an aggregate of 3.1 million shares of Autoliv’s common stock 
from the treasury and paid an aggregate of $7.4 million in cash to these holders 
in exchange for their Equity Units. While the remaining aggregate interest cou-
pons for each Equity Unit amounts to $4, the average cost in these transactions 
was $3.14 per unit, a discount of 22%. Each of the separately negotiated exchang-
es is exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) thereof. Following the exchanges, 4,250,920 
Equity Units remain outstanding.

As a result of these transactions, the Company recognized approximately $12 
million as a loss on debt extinguishment within its Consolidated Statements of 
Income for the year ended December 31, 2010. The repurchases of the equity units 
increased Total Equity by $57 million. 

Share Repurchase Program

2010 2009 2008

Shares repurchased (shares in millions) – – 3.7
Cash paid for shares n/a n/a $173.5

In total, Autoliv has repurchased 34.3 million shares since May 2000 for cash of 
$1,473.2 million, including commissions. Of the total amount of repurchased shares, 
14.7 million shares were utilized for the equity offering in 2009, 3.1 million shares 
were utilized for the repurchase of equity units in second quarter of 2010, and 2.7 
million shares were utilized by the Stock Incentive Plan whereof 0.8 million, 0.1 
million and 0.2 million were utilized during 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. At 
December 31, 2010, 13.8 million of the repurchased shares remain in treasury 
stock, of which 5.7-6.8 million shares will be used, on April 30, 2012, for the set-
tlement of the purchase contract component of the equity units.

In 2007, the Board of Directors approved an expansion of the Company’s ex-
isting Stock Repurchase Program. Under this mandate, another 3,188,045 Auto-
liv shares may be repurchased.
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Stock options Number of options
Weighted average 

exercise price

Outstanding at Dec 31, 2007 1,145,912 $41.55
Granted 262,200 51.52
Exercised (128,375) 25.26
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired (65,760) 48.44
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2008 1,213,977 $45.05
Granted 605,300 16.31
Exercised (36,085) 18.12
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired (196,574) 39.31
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2009 1,586,618 $35.41
Granted 303,960 44.80
Exercised (717,837) 30.90
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired (16,775) 53.96
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2010 1,155,966 $40.31

Options exercisable

At December 31, 2008 955,852 $43.30
At December 31, 2009 1,003,818 $46.50
At December 31, 2010 854,056 $38.73

The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding and ex-
ercisable on December 31, 2010:

Range of exercise prices
Number 

outstanding

Remaining 
contract life 

(in years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

$16.31–$19.96 275,648 6.21 $16.93
$21.36–$29.37 38,425 2.00 21.36
$31.07–$38.43 0 – –
$40.26–$49.60 547,543 6.87 45.53
$51.67–$59.01 294,350 6.72 54.97

1,155,966 6.51 $40.31

Range of exercise prices
Number 

exercisable

Remaining 
contract life 

(in years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

$16.31–$19.96 275,648 6.21 $16.93
$21.36–$29.37 38,425 2.00 21.36
$31.07–$38.43 0 – –
$40.26–$49.60 249,633 4.16 46.53
$51.67–$59.01 290,350 6.69 55.01

854,056 5.58 $38.73

The total aggregate intrinsic value, which is the difference between the exercise 
price and $78.94 (closing price per share at December 31, 2010), for all “in the 
money” stock options outstanding and exercisable was $44.7 million and $34.3 
million, respectively.

Under the amended and restated Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan) 
adopted by the Shareholders, awards have been made to selected executive of-
ficers of the Company and other key employees in the form of stock options and 
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs). All stock options are granted for 10-year terms, 
have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the share at the date of 
grant, and become exercisable after one year of continued employment follow-
ing the grant date. Each RSU represents a promise to transfer one of the Com-
pany’s shares to the employee after three years of service following the date of 
grant or upon retirement, whichever is earlier. The source of the shares issued 
upon share option exercise or lapse of RSU service period is generally from trea-
sury shares. The Plan provides for the issuance of up to 9,585,055 common shares 
for awards. At December 31, 2010, 4,919,225 of these shares have been issued 
for awards. For stock options and RSUs outstanding and options exercisable at 
year end, see below.

The fair value of the RSUs is calculated as the fair value of the shares at the 
RSU grant date. The grant date fair value for RSUs granted in 2007, 2006 and 2005 
(vested in 2010, 2009 and 2008) was $5.8 million, $4.8 million and $4.7 million, re-
spectively. The aggregate intrinsic value for RSU’s outstanding at December 31, 
2010 was $28.5 million.

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during 2010, 2009 
and 2008 was estimated at $13.67, $3.93 and $9.65 per share, respectively, using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the following assumptions:

2010 2009 2008

Risk-free interest rate 2.5% 2.0% 3.0%
Dividend yield 2.2% 2.3% 2.8%
Expected life in years 4.1 4.1 5.5
Expected volatility 42.0% 34.0% 23.0%

The Company uses historical exercise data for determining the expected life as-
sumption. Prior to 2009, the Company used the simplified method for determin-
ing the expected life assumption. This change in estimate did not have a materi-
al effect on the weighted average fair value of the stock options granted during 
2010 and 2009. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility.

The total stock (RSUs and stock options) compensation cost recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $6.9 million, $6.2 
million and $6.5 million, respectively. 

The total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized 
is $4.4 million for RSUs and the weighted average period over which this cost is 
expected to be recognized is approximately two years. There is no significant com-
pensation cost not yet recognized for stock options.

Information on the number of RSUs and stock options related to the Plan during 
the period 2008 to 2010 is as follows:

RSUs 2010 2009 2008

Outstanding at beginning of year 351,659 234,259 245,533
Granted 102,120 201,766 87,416
Shares issued (83,243)  (70,364) (79,062)
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired (9,608) (14,002) (19,628)
Outstanding at end of year 360,928 351,659 234,259

15. Stock Incentive Plan
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16. Contingent Liabilities

Legal Proceedings
Various claims, lawsuits and proceedings are pending or threatened against the 
Company or its subsidiaries, covering a range of matters that arise in the ordi-
nary course of its business activities with respect to commercial, product liabili-
ty and other matters. For pending tax issues refer to Note 4.

Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of any litigation 
cannot be assured. After discussions with counsel, it is the opinion of manage-
ment that the various lawsuits to which the Company currently is a party will not 
have a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial position of Autoliv, 
but the Company cannot guarantee that it will not experience having a material 
adverse effect litigation.

In 1997, Autoliv AB (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv, Inc.) acquired Mar-
ling Industries plc (“Marling”). At that time, Marling was involved in a litigation re-
lating to the sale in 1992 of a French subsidiary. The plaintiff sought damages of 
€40 million (approximately $53 million) claiming that Marling and another entity 
then part of the Marling group, had failed to disclose certain facts in connection 
with the 1992 sale and that such failure was the proximate cause of losses in the 
amount of the damages sought. In May 2006, a French court ruled that Marling 
(now named Autoliv Holding Limited) and the other entity had failed to disclose 
certain facts in connection with the 1992 sale and appointed an expert to assess 
the losses. Autoliv appealed the May 2006 decision.During the fourth quarter of 
2010, settlement discussions resulted in Autoliv agreeing to pay an immaterial 
amount in exchange for a release from all liability in this matter. 

In August 2010, Takata-Petri AG (“Takata-Petri”) filed a complaint against Au-
toliv, ASP (“ASP”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv, alleging that ASP supplied 
defective inflators to Takata-Petri and sought damages in the amount of €18.5 mil-
lion (approximately $24 million). Takata-Petri had used the inflators in a driver air-
bag module designed and sold by Takata-Petri to a vehicle manufacturer (“OEM”). 
The OEM installed Takata-Petri’s airbag module in a vehicle that the OEM subse-
quently recalled due to the vehicle’s failure to meet all relevant specifications. ASP 
rejected the claim. During the fourth quarter of 2010, Takata withdrew its claim. 

In 2009, Autoliv initiated a “voluntary closure due to economical reasons” of its 
Normandy Precision Components (NPC) plant located in France. Employment con-
tracts of fourteen “protected employees” (i.e., union representatives) may under 
French law be terminated only with the approval of the authorities. Such approval 
has been refused for six of the fourteen protected employees, and those six em-
ployees are seeking continued employment and other benefits for (at least) the du-
ration of their tenure as union representatives, which may be several years. In par-
allel, most of the other former NPC-employees filed a claim in a French court in 
September 2010, alleging damages for “unfair dismissal” in an aggregate amount 
of €11 million (approximately $15 million). While we intend to vigorously defend 
against these actions, the outcome of this legal dispute is difficult to predict and 
any reserves may not be sufficient to cover any associated expense, since French 
labor law is complex and grants significant discretionary authority to French courts. 

On April 19, 2010, SEVA Technologies SA (“SEVA”) initiated actions against sev-
eral employees and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Autoliv, Inc. In the actions, SEVA 
alleges that following preliminary discussions with SEVA starting in 2006, Autoliv’s 
subsidiaries misappropriated SEVA’s confidential information disclosed to such 
subsidiaries under a non-disclosure agreement and used such information to ob-
tain a patent. SEVA is principally seeking to have SEVA declared the owner of the 
patent and certain former SEVA employees declared the inventors of the patent. 
SEVA has also indicated that it may seek damages of €22 million (approximately 
$29 million). Autoliv rejected the claims, intends to vigorously defend itself against 
the same and has made no provisions for any expenses relating thereto.

On February 8, 2011, Autoliv ASP Inc., a Company subsidiary, received a grand 
jury subpoena from the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Jus-

tice (“DOJ”) requesting documents and information as part of a long-running in-
vestigation whether and to what extent employees of auto parts suppliers, includ-
ing Autoliv, have entered into unlawful agreements or understandings related to 
sales to automobile manufacturers. The Company intends to cooperate with the 
DOJ and is investigating the matter. The Company does not believe that the cost of 
its investigation will be material but it cannot estimate the impact, if any, that the 
resolution of the government’s investigation could have on the Company’s finan-
cial position, operating results or cash flows.

Product Warranty, Recalls and Intellectual Property
Autoliv is exposed to various claims for damages and compensation if products 
fail to perform as expected. Such claims can be made, and result in costs and oth-
er losses to the Company, even where the product is eventually found to have func-
tioned properly. Where a product (actually or allegedly) fails to perform as expect-
ed the Company faces warranty and recall claims. Where such (actual or alleged) 
failure results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or property damage, the 
Company may also face product-liability claims. There can be no assurance that 
the Company will not experience material warranty, recall or product (or other) 
liability claims or losses in the future, or that the Company will not incur signifi-
cant costs to defend against such claims. The Company may be required to par-
ticipate in a recall involving its products. Each vehicle manufacturer has its own 
practices regarding product recalls and other product liability actions relating to 
its suppliers. As suppliers become more integrally involved in the vehicle design 
process and assume more of the vehicle assembly functions, vehicle manufac-
turers are increasingly looking to their suppliers for contribution when faced with 
recalls and product liability claims. A warranty, recall or product-liability claim 
brought against the Company in excess of its insurance may have a material ad-
verse effect on the Company’s business. Vehicle manufacturers are also increas-
ingly requiring their outside suppliers to guarantee or warrant their products and 
bear the costs of repair and replacement of such products under new vehicle war-
ranties. A vehicle manufacturer may attempt to hold the Company responsible for 
some, or all, of the repair or replacement costs of defective products under new 
vehicle warranties, when the product supplied did not perform as represented. 
Accordingly, the future costs of warranty claims by the customers may be mate-
rial. However, the Company believes its established reserves are adequate to cov-
er potential warranty settlements. Autoliv’s warranty reserves are based upon the 
Company’s best estimates of amounts necessary to settle future and existing 
claims. The Company regularly evaluates the appropriateness of these reserves, 
and adjusts them when appropriate. However, the final amounts determined to 
be due related to these matters could differ materially from the Company’s re-
corded estimates.

The Company believes that it is currently reasonably insured against signifi-
cant warranty, recall and product liability risks, at levels sufficient to cover poten-
tial claims that are reasonably likely to arise in our businesses. Autoliv cannot be 
assured that the level of coverage will be sufficient to cover every possible claim 
that can arise in our businesses, now or in the future, or that such coverage al-
ways will be available on our current market terms should we, now or in the fu-
ture, wish to extend or increase insurance.

In its products, the Company utilizes technologies which may be subject to in-
tellectual property rights of third parties. While the Company does seek to iden-
tify the intellectual property rights of relevance to its products, and to procure the 
necessary rights to utilize such intellectual property rights, we may fail to do so. 
Where the Company so fail, the Company may be exposed to material claims from 
the owners of such rights. Where the Company has sold products which infringe 
upon such rights, our customers may be entitled to be indemnified by us for the 
claims they suffer as a result thereof. Also such claims could be material.
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17. Lease Commitments 

Operating Lease
The Company leases certain offices, manufacturing and research buildings, ma-
chinery, automobiles, data processing and other equipment under operating lease 
contracts. The operating leases, some of which are non-cancelable and include 
renewals, expire at various dates through 2045. The Company pays most mainte-
nance, insurance and tax expenses relating to leased assets. Rental expense for 
operating leases was $29.4 million for 2010, $28.3 million for 2009 and $30.8 mil-
lion for 2008.

At December 31, 2010, future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable 
operating leases total $114.7 million and are payable as follows (in millions): 2011: 
$27.3; 2012: $23.3; 2013: $18.9; 2014: $14.2; 2015: $7.5; 2016 and thereafter: $23.5.

Capital Lease
The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment under capital lease 
contracts. The capital leases expire at various dates through 2015. At December 
31, 2010, future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable capital leases to-
tal $4.2 million and are payable as follows (in millions): 2011: $1.5; 2012: $1.1; 
2013: $0.9; 2014: $0.4; 2015: $0.3; 2016 and thereafter: $0.0.

18. Retirement Plans 
Defined Contribution Plans
Many of the Company’s employees are covered by government sponsored pen-
sion and welfare programs. Under the terms of these programs, the Company 
makes periodic payments to various government agencies. In addition, in some 
countries the Company sponsors or participates in certain non-governmental de-
fined contribution plans. Contributions to multi-employer plans for the year end-
ed December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $2.1 million, $2.2 million and $1.9 
million respectively. Contributions to defined contribution plans for the years end-
ed December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $13.2 million, $13.5 million and $15.3 
million, respectively.

Defined Benefit Plans
The Company has a number of defined benefit pension plans, both contributory 
and non-contributory, in the U.S., Canada, Germany, France, Japan, Mexico, Swe-
den, South Korea, India, Turkey, Philippines and the United Kingdom. There are 
funded as well as unfunded plan arrangements which provide retirement bene-
fits to both U.S. and non-U.S. participants. The main plan is the U.S. plan for which 
the benefits are based on an average of the employee’s earnings in the years pre-
ceding retirement and on credited service. The Company has closed participation 
in the Autoliv ASP, Inc. Pension Plan to exclude those employees hired after De-
cember 31, 2003. Within the U.S. there is also a non-qualified restoration plan that 
provides benefits to employees whose benefits in the primary U.S. plan are re-
stricted by limitations on the compensation that can be considered in calculating 
their benefits. For the Company’s non-U.S. defined benefit plans the most signif-
icant plans exist in Japan, while the most significant individual plan resides in the 
U.K. The Company has closed participation in the U.K. defined benefit plan to ex-
clude all employees hired after April 30, 2003. The U.K. benefits are based on an 
average of the employee’s earnings in the last three years preceding retirement 
and on credited service. Members in the U.K. plan contribute to the plan at the 
rate of 9% of pensionable salaries. 

Changes in benefit obligations and plan  
assets for the periods ended December 31 

          U.S.               Non-U.S.
2010 2009 2010 2009

Benefit obligation at  
   beginning of year $171.9 $157.4 $133.5 $120.3
Service cost 5.1 5.9 10.0 8.5
Interest cost 9.1 10.0 6.5 5.6
Actuarial (gain) loss due to:
   Change in discount rate 20.1 0.6 9.4 2.1
   Experience (9.9) 9.0 3.5 (0.2)
   Other assumption changes (1.8) – 2.6 3.2
Plan participants’ contributions – – 0.2 0.2
Plan amendments – – 0.5 0.2
Benefits paid (4.1) (11.0) (8.0) (6.7)
Settlements and curtailments – – (2.1) (7.8)
Special termination benefits – – 0.2 1.3
Acquisitions – – 10.0 2.0
Other – – (0.2) (0.1)
Translation difference – – 4.1 4.9
Benefit obligation  
   at end of year

$190.4 $171.9 $170.2 $133.5

Fair value of plan assets at  
  beginning of year $120.4 $102.9 $75.8 $63.8
Actual return on plan assets 15.1 21.3 3.6 4.0
Company contributions 5.5 7.2 10.1 15.0
Plan participants’ contributions – – 0.2 0.2
Benefits paid (4.1) (11.0) (8.0) (6.7)
Settlements – – (1.9) (4.3)
Acquisitions – – 6.5 –
Divestitures – – – (0.4)
Other – – (0.1) (0.2)
Translation difference – – 1.5 4.4
Fair value of plan assets  
   at year end

$136.9 $120.4 $87.7 $75.8

Funded status recognized in 
   the balance sheet

$(53.5) $(51.5) $(82.5) $(57.7)
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Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income before tax for 
the periods ended December 31

          U.S.          Non-U.S.
2010 2009 2010 2009

Total retirement benefit  
   recognized in accumulated  
   other comprehensive income 
   at beginning of year $47.0 $57.3 $12.3 $8.1
Net actuarial loss (gain) 1.9 (4.7) 14.6 4.4
Prior service cost (credit) – – – 0.3
Amortization of prior service costs 1.0 1.0 (0.2) -
Amortization of actuarial loss (3.4) (6.6) (0.5) (0.9)
Translation difference – – 1.1 0.4
Total retirement benefit  
   recognized in accumulated  
   other comprehensive income  
   at end of year

$46.5 $47.0 $27.3 $12.3

The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S. non-contributory defined benefit 
pension plans was $163.6 and $138.7 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, re-
spectively. The accumulated benefit obligation for the non-U.S. defined benefit 
pension plans was $142.3 and $118.3 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, re-
spectively.

Pension plans for which the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) is notably 
in excess of the plan assets reside in the following countries: France, Germany, 
Japan, Sweden and the U.S. 

 

Pension plans for which ABO exceeds  
the fair value of plan assets as of December 31  

U.S. Non-U.S.
2010 2010

Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) $190.4 $104.2
Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) $163.6 $77.7
Fair value of plan assets $136.9 $17.8

The Company, in consultation with its actuarial advisors, determines certain key 
assumptions to be used in calculating the projected benefit obligation and annu-
al net periodic benefit cost.
 
Assumptions used to determine the  
benefit obligations as of December 31

          U.S.                Non-U.S.
% weighted average 2010 2009 2010 2009

Discount rate 5.05 5.80 1.25–10.00 1.75–12.00
Rate of increases  
   in compensation level 3.80 4.00 2.25–6.50 2.25–5.40

Assumptions used to determine the net  
periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31

         U.S.
% weighted average 2010 2009 2008

Discount rate 5.80 6.40 6.40
Rate of increases in  
   compensation level 4.00 4.00 4.00
Expected long-term rate of  
   return on assets 7.50 7.50 7.50

The U.S. plan provides that benefits may be paid in the form of a lump sum if so 
elected by the participant. In order to more accurately reflect a market-derived 
pension obligation, Autoliv adjusts the assumed lump sum interest rate to reflect 
market conditions as of each December 31. This methodology is consistent with 
the approach required under the Pension Protection Act of 2006, which provides 
the rules for determining minimum funding requirements in the U.S.

The short-term portion of the pension liability is not significant.

Components of net periodic benefit cost associated with  
the defined benefit retirement plans

           U.S.
2010 2009 2008

Service cost $5.1 $5.9 $5.5
Interest cost 9.1 10.0 8.8
Expected return on plan assets (8.5) (7.0) (9.5)
Amortization of prior service credit (1.0) (1.0) (1.0)
Amortization of actuarial loss 3.4 6.5 0.1
Net periodic benefit cost $8.1 $14.4 $3.9

           Non-U.S.
2010 2009 2008

Service cost $10.0 $8.5 $9.5
Interest cost 6.5 5.6 6.0
Expected return on plan assets (4.2) (3.4) (3.6)
Amortization of prior service costs 0.2 0.1 0.1
Amortization of actuarial loss 0.5 0.4 0.4
Settlement and curtailment loss (gain) 0.8 (1.7) (1.6)
Special termination benefits 0.2 1.3 0.3
Net periodic benefit cost $14.0 $10.8 $11.1

The estimated prior service credit for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans that 
will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit cost over 
the next fiscal year is $1.0 million. Amortization of net losses is expected to be 
$3.9 million. Net periodic benefit cost associated with these U.S. plans was $8.1 
million in 2010 and is expected to be around $7.7 million in 2011. The estimat-
ed prior service cost and net loss for the non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans 
that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit cost 
over the next fiscal year are $0.1 and $1.0 million respectively. Net periodic ben-
efit cost associated with these non-U.S. plans was $14.0 million in 2010 and is 
expected to be around $16.6 million in 2011. The amortization of the net actu-
arial loss is made over the estimated remaining service lives of the plan partic-
ipants, 9 years for U.S. and 3-23 years for non-U.S. participants, varying between 
the different countries depending on the age of the work force.

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income Before tax 
as of December 31  

          U.S.          Non-U.S.
2010 2009 2010 2009

Net actuarial loss (gain) $52.5 $54.0 $26.4 $11.7
Prior service cost (credit) (6.0) (7.0) 0.9 0.6
Total accumulated other 
   comprehensive income 
   recognized in the balance sheet

$46.5 $47.0 $27.3 $12.3
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Description

        Non-U.S.
% weighted average 2010 2009 2008

Discount rate 1.75–12.00 2.00–11.00 2.00–11.00
Rate of increases in  
   compensation level 2.25–12.00 2.25–5.00 2.25–8.00
Expected long-term rate of  
   return on assets 2.00–8.00 1.80–7.00 2.00–8.00

The discount rate for the U.S. plans has been set based on the rates of return on 
high-quality fixed-income investments currently available at the measurement 
date and expected to be available during the period the benefits will be paid. The 
expected timing of cash flows from the plan has also been considered in select-
ing the discount rate. In particular, the yields on bonds rated AA or better on the 
measurement date have been used to set the discount rate. The discount rate for 
the U.K. plan has been set based on the weighted average yields on long-term 
high-grade corporate bonds and is determined by reference to financial markets 
on the measurement date. 

The expected rate of increase in compensation levels and long-term rate of 
return on plan assets are determined based on a number of factors and must take 
into account long-term expectations and reflect the financial environment in the 
respective local market. 

The level of equity exposure is currently targeted at approximately 65% for the 
primary U.S. plan and approximately 50% for all plans combined The investment 
objective is to provide an attractive risk-adjusted return that will ensure the pay-
ment of benefits while protecting against the risk of substantial investment loss-
es. Correlations among the asset classes are used to identify an asset mix that 
Autoliv believes will provide the most attractive returns. Long-term return fore-
casts for each asset class using historical data and other qualitative considera-
tions to adjust for projected economic forecasts are used to set the expected rate 
of return for the entire portfolio. The Company assumes a long-term rate of re-
turn on the U.S. plan assets of 7.5% for calculating the 2010 expense.

The Company has assumed a long-term rate of return on the non-U.S. plan 
assets in a range of 2.0-8.0% for 2010. The closed U.K. plan which has a target-
ed and actual allocation of almost 100% debt instruments accounts for approxi-
mately 43% of the total non-U.S. plan assets. 

Autoliv made contributions to the U.S. plan during 2010 and 2009 amounting 
to $5.5 million and $7.2 million, respectively. Contributions to the U.K. plan dur-
ing 2010 and 2009 amounted to $0.4 million and $5.1 million, respectively. The 
Company expects to contribute $6 million to its U.S. pension plan in 2011 and is 
currently projecting a yearly funding at the same level in the years thereafter. For 
the UK plan, which is the most significant non-U.S. pension plan, the Company 
expects to contribute $0.4 million in 2011 and in the years thereafter.

Fair value of total plan assets for years ended December 31

Assets category in %, 
weighted average

U.S.        U.S. Non-U.S.
Target 

allocation 2010 2009 2010 2009

Equity securities 65 66 64 11 13
Debt instruments 35 34 36 48 57
Other assets – – – 41 30
Total 100 100 100 100 100

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Company’s plan assets by 
the pricing observability levels:

Total carrying amount in  
statement of financial position  

December 31, 2010 

Fair value measurement at 
December 31, 2010 using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
US Equity
   Large Cap $57.5 $57.5 $– $–
   Mid Cap 7.7 7.7 – –
   Small Cap 7.9 7.9 – –
Non-US Equity 30.2 26.2 4.0 –
US Bonds
   Government 19.4 19.4 – –
   Corporate 8.8 8.8 – –
   Aggregate 16.9 16.9 – –
Non-US Bonds
   Government 8.0 5.0 3.0 –
   Corporate 39.3 39.3 – –
   Aggregate – – – –
Insurance Contracts 20.9 – 20.9 –
Managed Investment Fund – – – –
Cash or Cash Equivalents 8.0 8.0 – –
Total $224.6 $196.7 $27.9 $–

Total carrying amount in  
statement of financial position  

December 31, 2009 

Fair value measurement at 
December 31, 2009 using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
US Equity
   Large Cap $49.4 $49.4 $– $–
   Mid Cap 6.1 6.1 – –
   Small Cap 6.2 6.2 – –
Non-US Equity 25.7 25.7 – –
US Bonds
   Government 15.8 15.8 – –
   Corporate 8.1 8.1 – –
   Aggregate 17.3 17.3 – –
Non-US Bonds
   Government 6.4 6.4 – –
   Corporate 37.6 37.6 – –
   Aggregate 0.4 0.4 – –
Insurance Contracts 18.8 - 18.8 –
Managed Investment Fund 1.5 –  1.5 –
Cash or Cash Equivalents 2.9 2.9 – –
Total $196.2 $175.9 $20.3 $–

The input to the fair value measurement of the plan assets is mainly quoted pric-
es in active market for identical assets (Level 1). There have been no changes to 
the valuation techniques of input during the year.

Other Non-U.S. assets mainly consist of insurance contracts accounted for as 
investments and measured at their cash surrender value.

The estimated future benefit payments for the pension benefits reflect expect-
ed future service, as appropriate. The amount of benefit payments in a given year 
may vary from the projected amount, especially for the U.S. plan since this plan 
pays the majority of benefits as a lump sum, where the lump sum amounts vary 
with market interest rates.

Description
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Pension benefits expected payments U.S. Non-U.S.

2011 $11.7 $6.4
2012 $11.3 $7.5
2013 $12.4 $7.0
2014 $12.9 $8.3
2015 $14.0 $8.8
Years 2016–2020 $81.2 $52.9

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions
The Company currently provides postretirement health care and life insurance 
benefits to most of its U.S. retirees. Such benefits in other countries are includ-
ed in the tables below, but are not significant.

In general, the terms of the plans provide that U.S. employees who retire after 
attaining age 55, with five years of service (15 years after December 31, 2006), are 
eligible for continued health care and life insurance coverage. Dependent health 
care and life insurance coverage is also available. Most retirees contribute toward 
the cost of health care coverage with the contributions generally varying based on 
service. The plan was amended in 2003 to restrict participation to existing retirees 
who were eligible retirees as of December 31, 2003 and active employees who were 
eligible to participate in the Autoliv ASP, Inc. Pension Plan as of December 31, 2003. 
The plan provides a company paid subsidy based on service for all current and fu-
ture retirees that qualify for retirement based on the restrictions stated above. Em-
ployees hiring on or after January 1, 2004 are not eligible to participate in the plan. 
The amount of the company paid subsidy is frozen and will not change in the fu-
ture. Generally, employees will need 15 years of service to qualify for a benefit from 
the plan in the future. 

At present, there is no pre-funding of the postretirement benefits recognized. 
The Company has reviewed the impact of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improve-
ment and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medicare Part D) on its financial statements. 
Although the Plan may currently qualify for a subsidy from Medicare, the amount 
of the subsidy is so small that the expenses incurred to file for the subsidy may ex-
ceed the subsidy itself. Therefore the impact of any subsidy is ignored in the cal-
culations as Autoliv will not be filing for any reimbursement from Medicare. 

Components of net periodic benefit cost associated with the postre-
tirement benefit plans other than pensions

Period ended December 31 2010 2009 2008

Service cost $1.2 $1.1 $1.1
Interest cost 1.4 1.6 1.5
Amortization of prior service cost (0.1) (0.1) –
Amortization of actuarial loss (0.3) – –
Net periodic benefit cost $2.2 $2.6 $2.6

Changes in benefit obligations and plan assets as of December 31

2010 2009 2008

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $28.1 $24.8 $24.9
Service cost 1.2 1.1 1.1
Interest cost 1.4 1.6 1.5
Actuarial (gain) loss due to:
   Change in discount rate 1.7 1.9 (0.6)
   Experience (3.7) 0.1 (0.9)
   Other assumption changes – (0.6) (0.4)
Benefits paid (0.8) (0.8) (0.8)
Employee contributions – – –
Benefit obligation at end of year $27.9 $28.1 $24.8

Fair value of plan assets at 
   beginning of year $– $– $–
Company contributions 0.8 0.8 0.8
Benefits paid (0.8) (0.8) (0.8)
Fair value of plan assets  
   at end of year 

$– $– $–

Accrued postretirement benefit cost 
   recognized in the balance sheet

$(27.9) $(28.1) $(24.8)

The liability for postretirement benefits other than pensions is classified as oth-
er non-current liabilities in the balance sheet. The short-term portion of the lia-
bility for postretirement benefits other than pensions is not significant. 

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income  
before tax as of December 31

     U.S.              Non-U.S.
2010 2009 2010 2009

Net actuarial loss (gain) $(2.5) $– $(1.3) $(2.1)
Prior service cost (credit) (0.4) (0.5) – –
Total accumulated other 
   comprehensive income 
   recognized in the balance sheet

$(2.9) $(0.5) $(1.3) $(2.1)

For measuring end-of-year obligations at December 31, 2010, health care trends 
are not needed due to the fixed-cost nature of the benefits provided in 2010 and 
beyond. After 2006, all retirees receive a fixed dollar subsidy toward the cost of 
their health benefits. The subsidy will not increase in future years.

The weighted average discount rate used to determine the U.S. postretirement 
benefit obligation was 5.40% in 2010 and 5.80% in 2009. The average discount rate 
used in determining the postretirement benefit cost was 5.80% in 2010, 6.40% in 
2009 and 6.40% in 2008.

A one percentage point increase or decrease in the annual health care cost 
trend rates would have had no significant impact on the Company’s net benefit 
cost for the current period or on the accumulated postretirement benefit obliga-
tion at December 31, 2010. This is due to the fixed-dollar nature of the benefits 
provided under the plan.

The estimated net gain and prior service credit for the postretirement benefit 
plans that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit 
cost over the next fiscal year are approximately $0.2 million combined.

The estimated future benefit payments for the postretirement benefits reflect 
expected future service as appropriate.

Postretirement benefits                                                              Expected payments

2011 $1.0
2012 $1.1
2013 $1.3
2014 $1.5
2015 $1.7
Years 2016–2020 $11.4
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21. Subsequent Events 
There were no reportable events subsequent to December 31, 2010.

19. Segment Information 
The Company’s primary safety products (mainly various airbag and seatbelt prod-
ucts and components) are integrated complete systems that function together 
with common electronic and sensing systems. The Company has concluded that 
its operating segments meet the criteria for combination for reporting purposes 
into a single reportable segment.

The Company’s customers consist of all major European, U.S. and Asian au-
tomobile manufacturers. Sales to individual customers representing 10% or more 
of net sales were: 

In 2010: GM 14% (incl. Opel, etc.) and Renault 13% (incl. Nissan).
In 2009: Renault 14% (incl. Nissan); Ford 13% (incl. Volvo Cars with 4%); Volk-

swagen 12% and GM 12% (incl. Opel, etc.).
In 2008: Renault 13% (incl. Nissan); Ford 12% (incl. Volvo Cars with 4%); Volk-

swagen 11% and GM 10% (incl. Opel, etc.).

net sales 2010 2009 2008

North America $2,054 $1,191 $1,510 
Europe 2,741 2,534 3,438 
Japan 791 499 740 
Rest of the World 1,585 897 785
Total $7,171 $5,121 $6,473 

The Company has attributed net sales to the geographic area based on the loca-
tion of the entity selling the final product.

The Company’s operations are located primarily in Europe and the United States. 
External sales in the U.S. amounted to $1,651 million, $918 million and $1,179 
million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Of the external sales, exports from 
the U.S. to other regions amounted to approximately $431 million, $222 million 
and $253 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

sales by product 2010 2009 2008

Airbags and associated products1) $4,807 $3,299 $4,130
Seatbelts and associated products2) 2,364 1,822 2,343
Total $7,171 $5,121 $6,473 

1) Includes sales of steering wheels, passive safety electronics, active safety electronics, inflators 
and initiators.
2) Includes sales of seat components.

long-lived assets 2010 2009

North America $1,926 $1,931 
Europe 561 643 
Japan 153 139
Rest of the World 336 293 
Total $2,976 $3,006

Long-lived assets in the U.S. amounted to $1,719 million and $1,737 million for 
2010 and 2009, respectively. For 2010, $1,515 million (2009, $1,525 million) of the 
long-lived assets in the U.S. refers to intangible assets, principally from acquisi-
tion goodwill. 

20. Earnings Per Share  
The weighted average shares used in calculating earnings per share were:

2010 2009 2008

Weighted average shares basic 87.3 81.5 71.8
Effect of dilutive securities:
   stock options/share awards 0.6 0.4 0.3
   equity units 4.5 2.6 –
Weighted average shares diluted 92.4 84.5 72.1

For 2010 and 2009, 4.5 million and 2.6 million shares, respectively, were included 
in the dilutive weighted average share amount related to the equity units. The po-
tential number of shares which will be converted in the future related to the eq-
uity units varies between 5.7–6.8 million, for further information see Note 13.

Approximately 0.1 million, 0.9 million and 0.9 million common shares related 
to the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan, which were antidilutive during the respec-
tive year, but that could potentially dilute basic EPS in the future, are not included 
in the computation of the diluted EPS for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
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22. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

2010 Q11) Q2 Q3 Q41)

Net sales $1,720.8 $1,801.5 $1,740.9 $1,907.4
Gross profit 383.5 412.0 373.8 422.8
Income before taxes 179.2 205.9 189.6 230.8
Net income attributable to controlling interests 126.5 146.5 140.1 177.5
Earnings per share
– basic $1.48 $1.69 $1.58 $2.01
– diluted $1.39 $1.60 $1.51 $1.89
Dividends paid $– $– $0.30 $0.35

2009 Q11) Q2 Q3 Q41)

Net sales $926.7 $1,193.4 $1,325.9 $1,674.7
Gross profit 80.3 186.4 238.8 342.4
(Loss)/income before taxes (103.5) (27.9) 39.2 97.7
Net (loss)/income attributable to controlling interests (63.4) (20.7) 32.8 61.3
(Loss)/earnings per share
– basic $(0.90) $(0.24) $0.39 $0.72
– diluted $(0.90)2) $(0.24)2) $0.37 $0.68
Dividends paid $0.21 $– $– $–

1) There were three more production days in Q1 2010 than in Q1 2009. This positive impact in Q1 2010 reversed and had a negative impact on Q4 2010. 2) No dilution in Q1 and Q2 2009.

Exchange Rates for Key Currencies vs. U.S. dollar 

2010 2010 2009 2009 2008 2008 2007 2007 2006 2006
Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end

EUR 1.321 1.323 1.387 1.435 1.459 1.411 1.368 1.465 1.255 1.317
CNY 0.148 0.151 0.146 0.147 0.144 0.146 0.131 0.138 0.125 0.128
JPY/1000 11.411 12.268 10.692 10.877 9.738 11.093 8.491 8.844 8.606 8.410
KRW/1000 0.864 0.883 0.783 0.859 0.911 0.795 1.074 1.068 1.045 1.076
MXN 0.079 0.081 0.074 0.076 0.090 0.074 0.092 0.091 0.092 0.092
SEK 0.139 0.147 0.131 0.139 0.152 0.129 0.148 0.155 0.136 0.146
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Autoliv, Inc.,

We have audited Autoliv, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread-
way Commission (the COSO criteria). Autoliv, Inc.’s management is responsible 
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its as-
sessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting includ-
ed in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether ef-
fective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material re-
spects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fi-
nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over fi-
nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasona-
ble assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 

of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; 
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Autoliv, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective in-
ternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the COSO 
criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Compa-
ny Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets 
of Autoliv, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2010 of Autoliv, Inc. and our report dat-
ed February 23, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Stockholm, Sweden		
February 23, 2011	 Ernst & Young AB

Report of Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Autoliv, Inc.,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Autoliv, Inc. 
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of in-
come, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the pe-
riod ended December 31, 2010.  These financial statements are the responsibili-
ty of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exam-
ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of Autoliv, Inc. at December 
31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows 

for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010, in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Compa-
ny Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Autoliv, Inc.’s internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in In-
ternal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Or-
ganizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2010 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Stockholm, Sweden	
February 23, 2011	 Ernst & Young AB
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Glossary and Definitions
BRIC Countries
Brazil, Russia, India and China combined.

Capital Employed
Total equity and net debt.

Capital Expenditures
Investments in property, plant and equipment.

Capital Turn-over Rate
Annual sales in relation to average capital employed.

CPV
Content Per Vehicle. Average value of the safety products in a vehicle. 

Days Inventory Outstanding
Outstanding inventory relative to average daily sales.

Days Receivables Outstanding
Outstanding receivables relative to average daily sales.

Earnings per Share
Net income attributable to controlling interest relative to weighted average 
number of shares (net of treasury shares) assuming dilution and basic, 
respectively.

EBIT
Earning before interest and taxes.

Free Cash Flow, Net
Cash flows from operating activities less capital expenditures, net.

Total Equity Ratio
Total equity relative to total assets.

Gross Margin
Gross profit relative to sales.

HCC
High-cost country (see pages 22-23 for specification of our high-cost coun-
tries).

Headcount
Employees plus temporary, hourly personnel.

Interest-coverage Ratio
Operating income relative to interest expense, see page 49 for reconciliation 
of this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

LCC
Low-cost country (see pages 22-23 for specification of our low-cost coun-
tries). 

Leverage Ratio
Net interest bearing debt in relation to EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization), see page 49 for reconciliation of this 
non-U.S. GAAP measure.

Light Vehicle Production (LVP)
Production of light motor vehicles with a gross weight of up to 3.5 metric tons.

LMPU
Labor minutes per produced unit.

Net Debt
Short and long-term debt including debt-related derivatives less cash and 
cash equivalents, see page 38 for reconciliation of this non-U.S. GAAP mea-
sure.

Net Debt to Capitalization
Net debt in relation to total equity (including non-controlling interest) and 
net debt.

Number of Employees
Employees with a continuous employment agreement, recalculated to full 
time equivalent heads.

Operating Margin
Operating income relative to sales.

Operating Working Capital
Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents less current liabilities 
excluding short-term debt. Any current derivatives reported in current assets 
and current liabilities related to net debt are excluded from operating work-
ing capital. See page 38 for reconciliation of this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

Pretax Margin
Income before taxes relative to sales.

PPM
Rejected parts per million parts supplied.

Rest of the World (RoW)
All countries outside the Triad, e.g. primarily the BRIC countries, South 
Korea and Thailand.

Return on Capital Employed
Operating income and equity in earnings of affiliates, relative to average 
capital employed.

Return on Total Equity
Net income relative to average total equity.

Triad 
Europe, North America and Japan combined.

Glossary and Definitions / autoliv 2010
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Corporate Governance
This section should be read in conjunction with the proxy statement, which will be available at  
www.autoliv.com beginning the last week of March 2011. Please also refer to pages 46–49 about  
Risk Management and page 51 about Internal Control in this Annual Report.

Autoliv is a Delaware corporation with its principal 
executive office in Stockholm, Sweden, and, as a 
U.S. corporation, is not subject to the Swedish cor-
porate governance code but rather the corporate 
governance requirements of the New York Stock 
Exchange and the SEC.

In addition to federal or state law and regula-
tions , Autoliv is governed primarily by the following 
documents. 

•	 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 
Autoliv, Inc.

•	 Restated By-laws of Autoliv, Inc.

•	 Corporate Governance Guidelines

•	 Charters of the Standing Committees of  
the Board

•	 Standards of Business Conduct and Ethics

•	 Related Person Transactions Policy

•	 Code of Conduct and Ethics for Directors

•	 Code of Conduct and Ethics for Senior Officers

These documents serve to assist the Board in the 
exercise of its responsibilities and creation of a 
culture of integrity, and reflect the Board’s com-
mitment to monitor the effectiveness of policy and 
decision making both at the Board and manage-
ment level. The Board views corporate governance 
as an integral part of the basic operations of the 
Company, with a view to supporting long-term 
sustainable growth in stockholder value. Recently, 
the Board of Directors adopted amendments to 
certain of these documents, effective January 1, 
2011, which we announced at that time. In the fu-
ture, any amendments or waivers to our Standards 
of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code of Conduct 
and Ethics for Directors, and our Code of Conduct 
and Ethics for Senior Officers, will be made avail-
able on Autoliv’s corporate website www.autoliv.
com under Investors/Governance. 

Shareholders’ Meeting
Members of the Board of Directors are elected at 
the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

At the Shareholders’ Meeting each shareholder 
is entitled to one vote for each share of common 
stock. Shareholders can vote on the Internet, tele-
phone or by proxy cards. 

Only such business shall be conducted at a 
Shareholders’ Meeting that has been properly 
brought before the meeting. Shareholder propos-
als must be received by us under the Exchange 
Act on or before November 28, 2011 and under 
our By-Laws no earlier than the close of business 
on February 9, 2012 and no later than the close of 
business on March 11, 2012.

The Board
The Board is entrusted with, and responsible for, 
overseeing the assets and business affairs of the 
Company. 

To assist the Board in the exercise of its re-
sponsibilities, it has adopted Corporate Gover-
nance Guidelines which reflect its commitment 
to monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision 
making both at the Board and management level. 
In order to ensure that the Company’s governing 
principles remain up to date and responsive to high 
levels of corporate governance, the Board reviewed 
the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines 
and amended them effective January 1, 2011 to 
include a majority voting policy (described below) 
for the election of directors. The purpose of the 
Corporate Governance Guidelines is to enhance 
long-term shareholder value and to assure the 
vitality of Autoliv for its customers, employees and 
other individuals and organizations that depend 
on the Company. 

To achieve this purpose, the Board monitors the 
performance of the Company in relation to its goals, 
strategy, competitors, etc., and the performance of 
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and provides con-
structive advice and feedback. While the Company 
currently has, and strongly prefers, an independent 
chairman, the Board is free under our corporate 
governance guidelines to choose its chairman in a 
way that it deems best for the Company. 

The Board has full access to management and 
to Autoliv’s outside advisors. The work of the Board 
is reported annually in the proxy statement (see 
www.autoliv.com/investor/governance). 

According to the Certificate of Incorporation, the 
number of directors may be fixed from time to time 
exclusively by the Board. Pursuant to our By-laws 
the directors are divided into three classes for 
terms of three years. The Board believes that it 
should generally have no fewer than nine and no 
more than twelve directors. 

According to the By-Laws, directors are elected 
by a plurality of the votes of the shares present at 
a shareholder meeting in person or by proxy and 
entitled to vote thereon. However, pursuant to the 
Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, if a 
director nominee in an uncontested election fails to 
receive the approval of a majority of the votes cast 
on his or her election by the Company sharehold-
ers, the nominee shall promptly offer his or her 
resignation to the Board. A committee consisting 
of the Board’s independent directors (which will 
specifically exclude any director who is required 
to offer his or her own resignation) shall consider 
all relevant factors and decide on behalf of the 
Board the action to be taken with respect to such 
offered resignation and will determine whether to 
accept the resignation or take other action. The 
Company will publicly disclose the Board’s deci-
sion with regard to any resignation offered under 
these circumstances with an explanation of how 
the decision was reached, including, if applicable, 
the reasons for rejecting the offered resignation.

Directors
Directors are expected to spend the time and effort 
necessary to properly discharge their responsibili-
ties, and accordingly, regularly attend meetings of 
the Board and committees on which directors sit. 
Directors are also expected to attend the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders. 

The Board is responsible for nominating mem-
bers for election to the Board and for filling vacan-
cies on the Board that may occur between annual 
meetings of shareholders.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee is responsible for identifying, screen-
ing and recommending candidates to the Board. 
The Committee will consider director candidates 
nominated by shareholders.

Nominees for director are selected on the basis 
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of many factors, for example, an attained position 
of leadership in the candidate’s area of exper-
tise, business and financial experience relevant 
to the Company, possession of demonstrated 
sound business judgment, expertise relevant to 
the Company’s lines of business, independence 
from management, the ability to serve on standing 
committees and the ability to serve the interests of 
all stockholders. The Nominating and Governance 
Committee routinely considers board candidates 
with a broad range of educational and professional 
experience from a variety of countries. 

The Board must be comprised of a majority 
of directors who qualify as independent under 
the listing standards of the New York Stock Ex-
change. Currently, all board members, except for 
the CEO, are independent. The Board of Directors 
determined Mr. Westerberg, our Chairman and 
former CEO, independent in May 2010. Normally, 
no more than one management executive may 
serve on the Board. 

On an annual basis, the Board reviews the re-
lations that each director has with the Company 
to assess independence. Directors who are also 
employees of the Company are generally expected 
to resign from the Board when their employment 
with the Company ends. New directors are pro-
vided information about Autoliv’s business and 
operations, strategic plans, significant financial, 
accounting and risk management issues, compli-
ance programs and various codes and guidelines.

Board Compensation
A director who is also an officer of the Company 
does not receive additional compensation for ser-
vice as a director. 

Board compensation is disclosed in Autoliv’s 
Proxy Statement together with the compensation 
of the five most highly compensated senior execu-
tives. Directors’ fees are the only compensation 
that the members of the Audit Committee can 
receive from Autoliv.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee sponsors an annual self-assessment 
of the Board’s performance as well as the per-
formance of each committee of the Board. The 
results of such assessments are discussed with 
the full Board and each committee.

Board Meetings
There shall be five regularly scheduled meetings 
of the Board each year, and at least one regularly 
scheduled meeting of the Board must be held 
quarterly.

The meetings of the Board generally follow a 
master agenda which is discussed and agreed 
early each year, but any director is free to raise 

any other subjects.
The independent directors normally meet 

in executive sessions in conjunction with each 
meeting of the Board and shall meet at least four 
times a year. Following the Board’s determination 
of his independence in May, our Chairman, Mr. 
Westerberg, now chairs the executive sessions 
of the independent directors. Prior to that time, 
S. Jay Stewart, as the Lead Director, chaired the 
executive sessions of the independent directors. 

Committee Matters
All members of the standing board committees 
are determined by the Board to qualify as inde-
pendent directors. The committees operate under 
written charters and issue yearly reports that are 
disclosed in the proxy statement. 

There are three standing committees of the 
Board: Audit Committee, Compensation Commit-
tee and Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee appoints, at its sole dis-
cretion (subject to shareholder ratification), the 
firm of independent auditors that audit the annual 
financial statements. 

The committee is also responsible for the com-
pensation, retention and oversight of the work of 
the external auditors as well as for any special 
assignments given to the auditors. 

The committee also reviews; 
•	 the annual audit and its scope, including the 

independent auditors’ letter of comments and 
management’s responses thereto;

•	 the policy with regard to risk oversight and risk 
management as part of its obligations under 
the NYSE’s listing standards; 

•	 possible violations of Autoliv’s business ethics 
and conflicts of interest policies; any major ac-
counting changes made or contemplated; ap-
proves any Related Person Transaction; and 

•	 reviews the effectiveness and efficiency of Au-
toliv’s internal audit staff. In addition, the com-
mittee confirms that no restrictions have been 
imposed by Company personnel in terms of 
the scope of the independent auditors’ exam-
inations. 

Each of the Audit Committee members possesses 
financial literacy and accounting or related finan-
cial management expertise.

Currently, two members are determined to 
qualify as audit committee financial experts.

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee advises the Board 
with respect to the compensation to be paid to the 
directors and senior executives and approves and 
advises the Board with respect to the terms of con-
tracts to be entered into with the senior executives. 

The committee also administers Autoliv’s in-
centive plans as well as perquisites and other 
benefits to the executive officers.

Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Com-
mittee assists the Board in identifying potential 
candidates to the Board, reviewing the composi-
tion of the Board and its committees, monitor-
ing a process to assess Board effectiveness and 
developing and implementing Autoliv’s Corporate 
Governance Guidelines. 

The committee will consider stockholder nomi-
nees for election to the Board if timely advance 
written notice of such nominees is received by the 
secretary of the Company. 

Leadership Development
The Board is responsible for identifying potential 
candidates for, as well as selecting, the CEO. The 
Board is also responsible for an annual perfor-
mance review of the CEO, and a summary report 
is discussed amongst independent directors in 
executive sessions and thereafter with the CEO.

The CEO shall prepare and distribute to the 
Board an annual report on succession planning 
for senior officers.

The Board must determine that satisfactory sys-
tems are in effect for education, development and 
succession of senior and mid-level management.

Ethical Codes
To maintain the highest legal and ethical stan-
dards, the Board has adopted a Standards of 
Business Conduct and Ethics, which applies to 
all directors, officers and employees. Additionally, 
the Board has adopted a Code of Conduct and Eth-
ics for Directors and Senior Officers. In addition, 
the Company also has a separate stand-alone 
related person transaction policy that applies to 
all directors, officers and employees.

Employees are encouraged to report any viola-
tions of law or the Autoliv codes and policies, and 
no individual will suffer retaliation for reporting in 
good faith violations of law or the codes.

Reports can be made to Autoliv’s Compliance 
Counsel (for contact information see page 84) or 
by calling the Corporate Compliance “Hotline” – 
a toll free number in each country – and leave a 
message anonymously on the voice mail.
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Board of Directors
Lars Westerberg
Born 1948. Chairman since 
2007. Director since 1999. 
Elected until 2012. Former 
CEO. Chairman of Husqvar-
na AB and Vattenfall AB. Di-
rector of Sandvik AB, SSAB 
and Volvo AB. M.Sc. and 
BBA.

Kazuhiko Sakamoto
Born 1945. Director since 2007. 
Elected until 2012. Former 
President of Marubeni Con-
struction Material Lease Co. 
Ltd, an affiliate of Marubeni 
Corporation, for which he 
serves a senior corporate advi-
sor. Graduate of Keio Universi-
ty and participant of the Harvard 
University Research Institute for 
International Affairs.

Sune Carlsson
Born 1941. Director since 
2003. Elected until 2011. 
Former President and CEO 
of SKF AB. Former Execu-
tive Vice President of ASEA 
AB and ABB Ltd. Chairman 
of Atlas Copco AB. Director 
of Investor AB and Stena 
AB. M.Sc.

S. Jay Stewart1)

Lead Independent Director. 
Born 1938. Director since 
1989. Elected until 2011. 
Former Chairman of Autoliv 
Inc., Former Chairman and 
CEO of Morton Internation-
al, Inc. Director of KapStone 
Paper and Packaging Corp. 
B.Sc. and MBA.

Robert W. Alspaugh
Born 1947. Director since 
2006. Elected until 2012. For-
mer CEO of KPMG Interna-
tional. Former Deputy Chair-
man and COO of KPMG’s U.S. 
practice. Director of DSGI 
Technologies Inc., Ball Inc., 
Verifone Systems. BBA.

James M. Ringler
Born 1946. Director since 2002. 
Elected until 2012. Former Vice 
Chairman of Illinois Tool Works 
Inc. Former Chairman, Presi-
dent and CEO of Premark In-
ternational, Inc. Chairman of 
Teradata Corp. Director of Dow 
Chemical Company, FMC 
Technologies Inc., JBT Corpo-
ration, and Corn Products Cor-
poration. B.Sc. and MBA.

Walter Kunerth
Born 1940. Director since 1998. 
Elected until 2012. Industry con-
sultant. Former member of Sie-
mens’ Corporate Executive 
Board and President of Sie-
mens’ Automotive Systems 
Group. Director of the Supervi-
sory Board of Gildemeister AG. 
Dr. Sc. Honorary Professor.

Wolfgang Ziebart
Born 1950. Director since 
2008. Elected until 2012. For-
mer President & CEO of In-
fineon Technologies AG. For-
mer member of the executive 
boards of BMW AG and of 
Continental AG. Dr. Sc.

Jan Carlson
Born 1960. President and CEO. 
Director since 2007. Elected 
until 2011. Former Vice Presi-
dent Engineering of Autoliv. 
Former President of Autoliv 
Europe, Autoliv Electronics, 
and of SAAB Combitech. Di-
rector of Borg Warner Inc. 
M.Sc.

Lars Nyberg
Born 1951. Director since 
2004. Elected until 2012. 
President and CEO of Telia 
Sonera AB. Chairman of Da-
taCard Corp. Former Chair-
man and CEO of NCR Corp. 
BBA.

George A. Lorch
Born 1941. Director since 
2003. Elected until 2012. 
Former Chairman, Presi-
dent and CEO of Armstrong 
World Industries. Chairman 
of Pfizer, Inc. Director of 
HSBC North America Hold-
ings Company and HSBC Fi-
nance Co. B.Sc.

Meetings and Committees 20102)

Independent3) Board Audit Compensation
Nominating &  

Corp. Gov. Nationality

Lars Westerberg Yes 5/5 8/8 – – SWE
Robert W. Alspaugh4) Yes 5/5 8/8 – 3/3 US
Jan Carlson No 5/5 8/8 – – SWE
Sune Carlsson Yes 5/5 8/8 – – SWE
Walter Kunerth Yes 5/5 – – 3/3 GER
George A. Lorch Yes 5/5 – 4/4 – US
Lars Nyberg4) Yes 5/5 8/8 4/4 – SWE
James M. Ringler Yes 5/5 – 4/4 – US
Kazuhiko Sakamoto Yes 5/5 – – 3/3 JPN
S. Jay Stewart Yes 5/5 7/8 – 3/3 US
Wolfgang Ziebart Yes 5/5 8/8 4/4 – GER

1) “Director Since” includes time as director of Autoliv AB and Morton International, Inc. 2) Attended meetings in relation to total possible meetings for each member. 3) Under the rules of the New York 
Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the SEC. 4) Qualifies/qualified as audit committee financial expert.
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Executive Management Team

Jan Carlson
President & CEO
Born 1960. Employed 1999

Svante Mogefors
Vice President Quality and 
Manufacturing 
Born 1955. Employed 1996

Steven Fredin
Vice President Engineering
Born 1962. Employed 1988

Mats Adamson
Vice President Human 
Resources
Born 1959. Employed 2010

Lars Sjöbring
Vice President Legal Affairs, 
General Counsel and Secretary
Born 1967. Employed 2007

Halvar Jonzon
Vice President Purchasing
Born 1950. Employed 2001

Günter Brenner
President Autoliv Europe
Born 1963. Employed 2009

Mike Ward
President Autoliv Americas
Born 1957. Employed 1985

Jan Olsson
Vice President Research
Born 1954. Employed 1987

Gunnar Dahlén
President Autoliv Asia
Born 1946. Employed 1989

Mats Ödman
Vice President Corporate  
Communications
Born 1950. Employed 1994

Mats Wallin
Vice President, Chief 
Financial Officer
Born 1964. Employed 2002

NAME SHARES1) RSU’S1) OPTIONS1) TOTAL1) SHARES1) RSU’S1) OPTIONS1) TOTAL1)

Board of Directors Executive Management Team
Lars Westerberg2) 92,000 – – 92,000 Jan Carlson 27,101 32,760 154,030 213,891
Jan Carlson 27,101 32,760 154,030 213,891 Mats Adamson 0 2,702 8,106 10,808
Robert W. Alspaugh 3,100 – – 3 100 Günter Brenner 0 9,225 17,675 26,900
Sune Carlsson 5,303 – – 5 303 Gunnar Dahlén 4,583 8,892 20,925 34,400
Walter Kunerth 0 – – 0 Steven Fredin 2,333 8,669 23,506 34,508
George A. Lorch 303 – – 303 Halvar Jonzon 9,834 7,642 65,136 82,612
Lars Nyberg 3,000 – – 3,000 Svante Mogefors 3,834 8,669 42,956 55,459
James M. Ringler 964 – – 964 Mats Ödman 12,836 8,669 80,141 101,646
Kazuhiko Sakamoto 0 – – 0 Jan Olsson 14,133 8,669 40,506 63,308
S. Jay Stewart 78,459 – – 78,459 Lars Sjöbring 2,000 8,669 20,006 30 675
Wolfgang Ziebart 0 – – 0 Mats Wallin 1,258 6,195 22,359 29,812
 Mike Ward 2,750 8,892 21,425 33,067
SUBTOTAL 210,230 32,760 154,030 397,020 SUBTOTAL 80,662 119,653 516,771 717,086

GROSS TOTAL3) 263,791 119,653 516,771 900,215

1) Number of shares, RSUs and stock options as of February 22, 2011. For any changes thereafter please refer to Autoliv’s corporate website or each director’s or manager’s filings with the SEC. Insider 
filings are also made with Finansinspektionen in Sweden.2) Mr. Westerberg indirectly owns 5,000 shares, which are held by a company controlled by Mr. Westerberg. 3) Gross total for all listed directors and 
executives. For presentations of Executive Management Team, please refer to the 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), www.sec.gov, or www.autoliv.com.

Executive Management Team / autoliv 2010
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Contact Information & Calendar

Autoliv Inc.
Visiting address: World Trade Center,  
Klarabergsviadukten 70, Section E

Mail: P.O. Box 70381, SE-107 24 Stockholm, Sweden

Tel: +46 (0)8 587 20 600, Fax: +46 (0)8 24 44 93 (nt)

info@autoliv.com, www.autoliv.com

Contact Information Board and  
Corporate Compliance Counsel
c/o Vice President Legal Affairs Autoliv, Inc. / Box 70381, SE-107 
24 Stockholm, Sweden, Tel +46 (0)8 58 72 06 00, Fax +46 (0)8 58 
72 06 33, legalaffairs@autoliv.com

The Board, the independent directors, as well as the commit-
tees of the Board can be contacted using the address above. 
Contact can be made anonymously and communication with the 
independent directors is not screened. The relevant chairman 
receives all such communication after it has been determined 
that the content represents a message to such chairman.

Stock Transfer Agent & Registrar
Internet: www.computershare.com

Investor Requests North America
Autoliv, Inc., c/o Autoliv Electronics America, 26545 American 
Drive, Southfield, MI 48034. Tel +1 (248) 475-0427, Fax +1 (801) 
625-6672, ray.pekar@autoliv.com

Investor Requests Rest of the World
Autoliv, Inc., Box 70381, SE-107 24, Stockholm, Sweden. Tel +46 
(0)8 58 72 06 23, Fax +46 (0)8 24 44 93, mats.odman@autoliv.com

Media Contact
Autoliv, Inc., Box 70381, SE-107 24, Stockholm, Sweden. Tel +46 
(0)8 58 72 06 23, Fax +46 (0)8 24 44 93, mediacontact@autoliv.com
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Preliminary Dividend Plan 2011

Period Record date Ex-date
Planned  

payment date

1st quarter February 3 February 1 March 3

2nd quarter May 5 May 3 June 2

3rd quarter1) August 4 August 2 September 1

4th quarter1) November 3 November 1 December 1

1) If declared by the Board.

2011 Financial Calendar

date Event

April 20, 2011 Q1 Report

May 10, 2011 Shareholder AGM

July 21, 2011 Q2 Report

October 25, 2011 Q3 Report



85

Selected Financial Data

Multi-year Summary / autoliv 2010

(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 20101) 20091) 20081) 20071,2) 20061,3)

Sales and Income
Net sales $7,171 $5,121 $6,473 $6,769 $6,188
Operating income 869 69 306 502 520
Income before income taxes 806 6 249 446 481
Net income attributable to controlling interest 591 10 165 288 402

Financial Position
Current assets excluding cash 2,101 1,707 1,598 1,941 1,930
Property, plant and equipment 1,026 1,042 1,158 1,260 1,160
Intangible assets (primarily goodwill) 1,722 1,729 1,745 1,760 1,676
Non-interest bearing liabilities 2,001 1,610 1,361 1,552 1,441
Capital employed4) 3,066 3,098 3,369 3,583 3,498
Net debt 127 662 1,195 1,182 1,010
Total equity4) 2,939 2,436 2,174 2,401 2,488
Total assets 5,665 5,186 5,206 5,305 5,111
Long-term debt 638 821 1,401 1,040 888

Share data
Earnings per share (US$) – basic 6.77 0.12 2.29 3.70 4.90
Earnings per share (US$) – assuming dilution 6.39 0.12 2.28 3.68 4.88
Total parent shareholders’ equity per share (US$)4) 32.89 28.06 30.11 31.83 30.00
Cash dividends paid per share (US$) 0.65 0.21 1.60 1.54 1.36
Cash dividends declared per share (US$) 1.05 – 1.42 1.56 1.41
Share repurchases – – 174 380 221
Number of shares outstanding (million)5) 89.0 85.1 70.3 73.8 80.1

Ratios
Gross margin (%) 22.2 16.6 17.4 19.7 20.4
Operating margin (%) 12.1 1.3 4.7 7.4 8.4
Pretax margin (%) 11.2 0.1 3.8 6.6 7.8
Return on capital employed (%)4) 28 2 9 14 16
Return on total equity (%)4) 22 1 7 12 17
Total equity ratio (%)4) 52 47 42 45 49
Net debt to capitalization (%) 4 21 36 33 29
Days receivables outstanding 69 75 49 64 70
Days inventory outstanding 32 40 39 33 34

Other data
Airbag sales6) 4,807 3,299 4,130 4,377 4,085
Seatbelt sales7) 2,363 1,822 2,343 2,392 2,103
Net cash provided by operating activities 924 493 614 781 560
Capital expenditures 236 140 293 324 328
Net cash used in investing activities (297) (157) (321) (345) (285)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (529) (376) 98 (461) (441)
Number of employees, December 31 34,600 30,200 34,000 35,300 35,700

1) In 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006 severance and restructuring costs reduced operating income by $21, $133, $80, $24 and $13 and net income by $16, $96, $55, $16 and $9. This corresponds to 0.3%, 
2.6%, 1.3%, 0.4% and 0.2% on operating margins and 0.2%, 1.9%, 0.8%, 0.2% and 0.1% on net margins. The impact on EPS was $0.17, $1.14, $0.76, $0.21 and $0.11 while return on total equity was reduced 
by 0.1%, 4.1%, 2.3%, 0.6% and 0.4% for the same five year period. 2) In 2007, a court ruling reduced operating income by $30 million, net income by $20 million, operating margin by 0.5%, net margin by 0.3%, 
EPS by $0.26 and return on equity by 0.8%. 3) In 2006, a release of tax reserves and other discrete tax items boosted net income by $95 million, net margin by 1.5%, EPS by $1.15 and return on equity by 3.9%. 
4) Adjusted in accordance with FASB ASC 810-10-45, adopted on January 1, 2009. 5) At year end, net of treasury shares. 6) Incl. electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators. 7) Incl. seat components. 
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